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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
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(Mark One)

Xl ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
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OR
[0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
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Virginia 13-187231¢
(State or other jurisdiction of
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:
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Title of each class on which registered
Common Stock New York Stock Exchang
par value $1 per sha Chicago Stock Exchang

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a we&lbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edB#turities Act. Yes No O
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Sectk® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4l88ring the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to file such reports) and (2) has bedrestito such filing requirements for the past 89« Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitiers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K ig contained herein, and will not be containedh bbest of registrant’s knowledge,
in definitive proxy or information statements inporated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 1@Kany amendment to this Form 10-KIX]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer. See definition of “acceleddfiler and large accelerated filer” in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. Large Acceleratiéet X1  Accelerated Filerd Non-accelerated Filer O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the ErgeaAct. Yes O No

As of June 30, 2006, the aggregate market valuegi$trant’'s common stock, par value $1 per shwelel by non-affiliates of registrant was approxiehat$1,296,497,600 based on the
closing sale price as reported on the New YorkIS®ahange.

As of January 31, 2007, 73,487,596 shares of thistrant's common stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the following document are incorporatedoy reference in this Form 10-K
as indicated herein:

Document Part of 1C-K into which incorporated

Proxy Statement relating to Olin’s 2007 Part II, Part Il
Annual Meeting of Shareholders
to be held on April 26, 20C
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PART I
Item 1. BUSINESS

GENERAL

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892, having its principal executive a#idn Clayton, MO. We are a
manufacturer concentrated in three business segntehlor Alkali Products, Metals and WinchesteChlor Alkali Products manufactures &
sells chlorine and caustic soda, sodium hydrosulfiydrochloric acid, hydrogen, bleach products potdssium hydroxide, which represent
21% of 2006 sales. Metals products, which repre§é# of 2006 sales, include copper and copper ah@gt, strip, foil, rod, welded tube,
fabricated parts and stainless steel and alumintim 8Vinchester products, which represent 12%Qff&@sales, include sporting ammunition,
canister powder, reloading components, small califibtary ammunition and components, and industiéatridges. See our discussion of our
segment disclosures contained in Item 7—"Managem&nscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiordd&Results of Operations.”

GOVERNANCE

We maintain an Internet websitewww.olin.com. Our reports on Form -K, Form 1(-Q, and Form -K, as well as amendments to th
reports, are available free of charge on our wepai soon as reasonably practicable after wéhBleeports with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). Additionally, a copy of our SEIW§s can be obtained at the SEC’s Public Refezddaom at 450 Fifth Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20549 or by calling the SEC aD0-8EC-0330. Also, a copy of our electronicallgdilmaterials can be obtained at
www.sec.gov. Our Principles of Corporate Governance, Commi@tharters and Code of Business Conduct are availalthe Corporate
Governance section of the Investor section of celsite at www.olin.conor from the Company by writing to: George Pain,&/Rresident,
General Counsel and Secretary, Olin Corporatiofl,@8rondelet Plaza, Suite 1530, Clayton, MO 63105.

In May 2006, our Chief Executive Officer executhd ainnual Section 303A.12(a) CEO Certification negliby the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), certifying that he was not awdrany violation of the NYSE's corporate governatiséng standards by Olin.
Additionally, our Chief Executive Officer and ChiEinancial Officer executed the required SarbaneleyDAct of 2002 (SOX) Sections 302
and 906 certifications relating to this Annual Regm Form 10-K, which are filed with the SEC aibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND STRATEGIES

Chlor Alkali Products

Products and Services

We have been involved in the U.S. chlor alkali isttiy for more than 100 years and are a major paint in the U.S. chlor alkali market.
Chlorine and caustic soda are co-produced comnilgrpiamarily by the electrolysis of salt. These-pmducts are produced simultaneously,
and in a fixed ratio of 1.0 ton of chlorine to 1chs of caustic soda. The industry refers to thiarmElectrochemical Unit or ECU. With a
demonstrated capacity as of the end of 2006 of milbn ECUs per year, including 50% of the protion from our partnership with PolyOne
Corporation, which we refer to as our SunBelt jei@hture, we are the fourth largest chlor alkadidarcer in the United States, according to
from Chemical Market Associates, Inc. (CMAI). CM&la global petrochemical, plastics and fibers atimg) firm established in 1979.
According to CMAI data, we are the largest produneasured by production volume of chlorine and iagsda in the eastern United States,
with facilities located in MclIntosh, AL, CharlestofN, Augusta, GA, and Niagara Falls, NY. Sinceggortation costs can be a significant
of the final cost of the product to the customerr, dose proximity to our caustic customers is dvaatage. Approximately 60% of our caustic
soda production is high purity membrane and rayae, which, according to CMAI data, normally conmaig a premium selling price in the
market.
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Our manufacturing facilities in Augusta, McInto€harleston, and a portion of our facility in Niagdfalls are ISO 9001:2000 certified.
ISO 9000 (which includes ISO 9001 and 1SO 9002) &t 14000 (which includes ISO 14001) are setelated international standards on
quality assurance and environmental managementagecby the International Organization for Staddzation to help companies effectively
document the quality and environmental managemetés elements to be implemented to maintain effecjuality and environmental
management systems. All four of these manufactuenijties have also achieved Star status in tbiktary Protection Program (VPP) of the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (O3HBSHA's VPP is a program in which companies veduity participate that recognizes
facilities for their exemplary safety and healtbgmams. In 2006, Chlor Alkali successfully comptketee effort to obtain accreditation under
the RC 14001 Responsible Cé&rstandard. All of our Chlor Alkali manufacturingesstand the division headquarters are certifietlito t
comprehensive integrated management system. Sepdoytthe chemical industry and recognized by gaowent and regulatory agencies,
RC14001 establishes requirements for the managesheafety, health, environmental, security, tramgtion, product stewardship, and
stakeholder engagement activities for the business.

Chlorine is used as a raw material in the prodaatibthousands of products, but a significant portof U.S. chlorine production is
consumed in the manufacture of ethylene dichlomddé;DC, a precursor for polyvinyl chloride, or PVEVC is a plastic used in applications
such as vinyl siding, plumbing and automotive padiher U.S. end-uses for chlorine include chldedantermediates, isocyanates and water
treatment. While much of the chlorine producechia ).S. is consumed by the producing company tcendakvnstream products, we sell most
of the chlorine we produce to third parties in therchant market.

Caustic soda has a wide variety of end-use apgitatthe largest of which is in the pulp and papédustry. Caustic soda is also used in
the production of detergents and soaps, aluminaaratiety of other inorganic and organic chemicals

The chlor alkali industry is cyclical, both as aul of changes in demand for each of the co-prtsdaied as a result of the large
increments in which new capacity is added. Becah&®ine and caustic are produced in a fixed rdkie,supply of one product can be
constrained both by the physical capacity of trapction facilities and/or by the ability to seiktco-product. Prices for both products respond
rapidly to changes in supply and demand. Our EQbauks (defined as gross selling price less fredglot discounts) averaged approximately
$575 per ECU in the first half of 2006 and thenrdased, with fourth quarter 2006 netbacks averagmpgoximately $520 per ECU.

Electricity and salt are the major purchased raweneds for our Chlor Alkali Products segment. Ranaterials represent approximately
50% of the total cost of producing an ECU. Eledtyits the single largest raw material componerthim production of chlor alkali products.
During the past three years, we experienced aeaserin the cost of electricity from our suppligue primarily to energy cost increases and
regulatory requirements. We are supplied by w#itihat primarily utilize coal, hydroelectric anactear power and have relatively minor
exposure to natural gas. The majority of the ssdduin our Chlor Alkali Products segment is prodlitem internal resources but we do
purchase salt in the merchant market. The commodityre of this industry places an added emphas@st management and we believe that
we have managed our manufacturing costs in a mahaemakes us one of the low cost producers inntthestry. In addition, if market
demand grows in the future, we believe the desfgheoSunBelt joint venture plant will enable usetgand capacity cost-effectively.

We also manufacture and sell other chlor alkakterl products and we recently invested in capacityproduct upgrades in some of
these areas. These products include hydrochloid; sedium hypochlorite, and potassium hydroxide &s0 sell sodium hydrosulfite to paj
textile and clay bleaching customers.
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The following table lists products of our Chlor AlkProducts business, with principal productstontiasis of annual sales highlighted in
bold face.

Major Raw Materials
& Components for

Products & Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Products/Services
Chlorine/caustic soda Pulp & paper processing, chemical manufacturingewa Augusta, GA salt, electricity
purification, manufacture of vinyl chloride, bleach Charleston, TN
swimming pool chemicals & urethane chemicals Mcintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
Sodium hydrosulfite Paper, textile & clay bleaching Augusta, GA caustic soda, sulfur
Charleston, TN dioxide
Sodium hypochlorite Household cleaners, laundry bleaching, swimmingd Augusta, GA chlorine, caustic soc
sanitizers, semiconductors, water treatment, gstjpulp & Charleston, TN
paper and food processing Mclintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
Hydrochloric acic Steel, oil & gas, plastics, organic chemical sysihiewater Augusta, GA chlorine, hydrogel
and wastewater treatment, brine treatment, adifici Charleston, TN

sweeteners, pharmaceuticals, food processing andmat  Niagara Falls, NY
mineral processin

Potassium hydroxide Fertilizer manufacturing, soaps, detergents anaineles, Charleston, TN potassium chloride,
battery manufacturing, food processing chemicats an electricity
deicers
Strategies

Continued Role as a Preferred Supplier to Merchdatket Customers. Based on our market research, we believe olor@tkali
Products business is viewed as a preferred suppltieur merchant market customers. We will contitufocus on providing quality customer
service support and developing relationships withwalued customers.

Pursue Incremental Expansion OpportunitiesWe have invested in capacity and product wpggan our chemically processed salt,
hydrochloric acid, sodium hypochlorite, potassiupdioxide and hydrogen businesses. These exparigioresse our captive use of chlorine
while increasing the sales of these co-productes&miche businesses provide opportunities to dpgrhlorine and caustic to higher value-
added applications. We also have the opportunifigmbusiness conditions permit, to pursue increah@xpansion through our SunBelt joint
venture.

Metals
Products and Services

We have been in the Metals business for 90 yease®on Copper Development Association Inc. (CD#adwe are a leading
manufacturer of copper and copper alloy sheep,gttate, foil and brass rod in the United Sta@BA acts as the central authoritative sourc
data and information pertaining to the U.S. coppet brass industry. While primarily processing @pgnd copper alloys, we also reroll and
form other metals, such as aluminum and staintesd. 8Ve believe we hold leading positions for pitempriced, high performance alloys in
the United States. We also supply high performaticgs to non-U.S. customers through exports, teldgy licensing, joint ventures and local
distribution. Participants in the copper and copgkay sheet and strip industry include integratatils, reroll mills and distributors, with many
participants engaging in multiple roles. We beliévat we are the largest U.S. participant in eddhese categories. We believe that our status
as the largest U.S. participant affords us a fablerandustry position. We also believe we are ofithe lowest cost producers, a quality and
service leader and a specialty product innovator.

All of our copper and copper alloy sheet and strills are 1ISO 9001:2000 certified covering the dasand manufacture of copper-based
alloys in strip form. Our brass rod mill is ISO 902000 certified.

We maintain advantages over our competition throughpatent-protected technologies. We believehaglt performance alloys provide
superior strength, conductivity and formabilitydestomers in the automotive, electrical, electr@md telecommunications industries. We
currently hold 37 U.S. patents associated with Ipigtiormance alloys and 40 other U.S. patentsa@ltt various proprietary processing and
technical capabilities, many of which are also stagied in foreign
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jurisdictions. To further our global presence, wtablished a joint venture with Yamaha Corporatiodapan to produce high performai
alloys, formed a technical alliance with WielandR&eA.G. of Germany under which we jointly develogw high performance alloys and
participate in an alloy licensing arrangement asrdned a joint venture with Luoyang Copper (Groufs).lin China to operate a metals service
center to supply the growing Chinese demand. Tredagonships provide us with greater global react enable us to provide high
performance alloys in Asia and Europe.

In addition, through sales of our clad metal, pratlby a proprietary cladding process, we belieeeawe a major supplier of coinage
metal to the U.S. Mint. We also supply coinage mietather world governments. Our Metals segmeatipces ammunition cartridge cups for
use captively in the manufacture of our Winchesparting ammunition, which constitutes a small jporof our total Metals segment output.
We also sell cartridge brass to other ammunitiokera This relationship with Winchester, along witlr fabrication business, provides us
with a captive customer base.

Brass and other copper alloys are manufacturedddiinmg copper together with various combinationgiot, lead or other metals. The
resulting product goes through a series of prosgsseluding casting, hot rolling, milling, coldlliog, annealing, cleaning and slitting to
produce sheet and strip. A similar process is fadid for the production of rod. The principal eneési$or sheet and strip products include:
automotive (connectors and radiators); electrofiezd frames, connectors, wiring and telecommuitginatapplications); ammunition; coinage;
and other applications such as builder’'s hardwaltembing supplies and welded tube for utility conslers and industrial heat exchangers.
Brass rod is used to produce a variety of prodsetsh as faucets, plumbing fittings, heating and@nditioning components, industrial valves,
automotive parts and numerous hardware components.

The major raw materials used in our metals busiaes$®rass scrap, copper, zinc, and other nondemeetals, purchased from
merchants, dealers, and customers at market prices.

Historically, demand for copper and copper allogettand strip and rod has exhibited growth consistéh the growth in the U.S. gross
domestic product. In the late 1990’'s and in 20@0nand expanded at a rapid pace principally dukeestrength in the electronics segment and
the introduction of the state quarter program kyWhS. Mint. From 1997 to 2000, sheet and stripatedrgrew at an annualized growth rate of
8%. Since 2001, strip and rod demand has been ngeHaat levels approximately 10% and 20%, respalgtibelow that of the late 1990’s.

5
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The following table lists products and servicesoif Metals business, with principal products highted in bold face.

Major Raw Materials &

Components for
Products and Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities* Products/Services
Copper & copper alloy sheet & Electronic connectors, lead frames, elect Bryan, OH copper, zinc &
strip (standard & high components, communications, automotive, East Alton, IL other nonferrous metals
performance) builders’ hardware, coinage, ammunition Seymour, CT**
Waterbury, CT***
Iwata, Japan
(Yamaha-Olin
Metal Corporation
Network of metals servic Electronic connectors, electrical Allentown, PA copper & copper alloy
centers components, communications, automotive, Alliance, OH sheet, strip, rod, tube &
builders’ hardware, household products Caguas, PR steel & aluminum strip
Carol Stream, IL
Suwanee, GA
Warwick, RI
Watertown, CT
Yorba Linda, CA
Guangzhou, China
Queretaro, Mexict
Posit-bon® clad metal Coinage strip & blanks East Alton, IL cupronickel, copper &
aluminum
Rolled copper foil, Copperbond Printed circuit boards, electrical & Waterbury, CT copper & copper
®foil, stainless steel strip electronic, automotive alloy sheet, strip
and foil and

stainless steel stri

Copper alloy welded tube Utility condensers, industrial heat Cuba, MO copper alloy strip
exchangers, refrigeration & air conditioni
builder¢ hardware, automotiv

Fabricated produc! Builders' hardware, plumbing, automoti East Alton, IL copper and copper allc
and ammunition componer and stainless steel stt
Shaped brass roc Plumbing, consumer durable goods, Montpelier, OH brass scrap
industrial machinery and equipment, and Los Angeles, CA
electrical and electronic pal (distribution center

* If site is not operated by Olin or a majo-owned, direct or indirect subsidiary, name of joianture, affiliate or operator is indicatt

**  In November 2006, we announced our decision tcedlos New Haven Copper facility in Seymour, CT, atthive expect to be completed
in the second quarter of 2007. In conjunction whitis action, we will consolidate these product\atiéis into our other location

***  |n June 2006, we substantially completed the csfithe Waterbury Rolling Mills facility in Wateuby, CT.

Strategies

Continue Profitable Growth Globally. Our goal is to be a leading worldwide supptiespecialty copper-based products and related
engineered materials. We intend to achieve this lggauilding our high performance alloys busineasa global basis. In 2004 and continuing
through 2006, we took a number of steps to contiougrow our global presence including the starbfipur joint venture service center in
Guangzhou, China, the development of new businggsartunities in Europe and the acquisition andgragon of the aluminum strip
distribution assets of Metal Foils LLC in the UnitStates.

Maintain Premier Specialty Product Innovator Paziti  We believe that we manufacture more high perforce alloys than any other
competitor, and we continue to allocate resouraesaximize this product line. Our specialty produatclude proprietary high performance
alloys and materials that meet strength, gaugedbility, and conductivity requirements for apptioas in our customers’ industries.

6
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Increase Cost Efficiencies. We plan to continue to focus on achieving ecoies of scale, improved manufacturing processes, an
innovation in pursuit of cost reductions. We strdwgeprofit improvements primarily through yield provements, increased equipment
utilization and capacity enhancements.

Continue Our Quality Leadership. We maintain ISO 9000, QS 9000, and ISO 140¢tfications. For example, our East Alton, IL mill
carries the distinctive certifications of ISO 90@die to its extensive design work, and ISO 140Q&paninent environmental standard. We
believe that these certifications demonstrate édityuedvantage not possessed by our key U.S. cdatopetWe also continue to maintain
preferred supplier positions with some of the latge most respected companies in segments whafiygs essential, such as automotive and
electronics.

Leverage Our Service and Distribution LeadershipGoowth. We believe that we are a service and distrougader in the copper-
based metals industry. Our A.J. Oster distributigstem extends throughout the United States andratkides facilities in Puerto Rico and
Mexico. We sell directly from the mill to large wohe customers, and to small and medium size cussotim®ugh A.J. Oster and other licen
distributors. We intend to leverage our servicelézahip and our distribution network to improve fust-in-time delivery services and our
customized order capabilities.

Winchester
Products and Services

Winchester is in its 140year of operation and its ?8/ear as part of Olin. Winchester is a premier depet and manufacturer of small
caliber ammunition for sale to domestic and intéamal retailers, law enforcement agencies and dsimand international militaries. We
believe we are a leading U.S. producer of ammumiiio recreational shooters, hunters, law enforggragencies and the U.S. Armed Forces.
Our legendary Winchester product line includesredjor gauges and calibers of shotgun shells, raéird centerfire ammunition for pistols
and rifles, canister powder, reloading componentkiadustrial cartridges. We believe we are theilegaU.S. supplier of small caliber
commercial ammunition. As part of our continuoupiovement initiatives, our manufacturing facilitiesated in East Alton, IL achieved 1SO
9001:2000 certification in 2006.

Winchester has strong relationships throughous#ies and distribution chain and strong ties Witinal dealers and distributors.
Winchester has built its business with key highumod mass merchants and specialty sporting gooaiterst We have consistently developed
industry-leading ammunition. In 2006, Winchest&igpreme Elité" XP3 ™ cartridge and Supreme Elite Xtended Rahg-Density waterfow
loads were awarded “2006 Best of the Best” awamis fField and Streanmagazine. In addition, Winchester’'s WinLftéow recoil shotgun
target and hunting loads won “Best in Show” at2006 Shot Show.

Winchester purchases raw materials such as leat\femdors at market prices as posted on exchangésas the Commodity Exchange,
or COMEX, and London Metals Exchange, or LME. Wiester also purchases copper-based strip and aupsoiir Metals segment.
Winchester’s other main raw material is propellavitich is purchased predominantly from one of thntédl States’ largest propellant
suppliers.

The following table lists products and servicesof Winchester business, with principal productstenbasis of annual sales highlighted
in bold face.

Major Raw Materials &
Components for Products/

Products & Services Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Services
Winchester © sporting Hunters & recreational shooters, law enforcement East Alton, IL brass, lead, steel, plastic,
ammunition (shot-shells, agencies Oxford, MS propellant, explosives

small caliber centerfire & Geelong, Australia
rimfire ammunition)

Small caliber military Infantry and mounted weapo East Alton, IL brass, lead, propellar
ammunition explosives

Industrial products (8 gau¢ Maintenance applications in power & concr East Alton, IL brass, lead, plasti
loads & powder-actuated industries, powder-actuated tools in construction  Oxford, MS propellant, explosives
tool loads) industry Geelong, Australii
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Strategies

Leverage Existing Strengtt  Winchester plans to focus on seeking new oppdiés to leverage the legendary Winchester braarde
and will continue to offer a full line of ammunitigroducts to the markets we serve, with speadfiti$ on investments that lower our costs and
that make Winchester ammunition the retail brandhafice.

Focus on Product Line Growth. With a long record of pioneering new produdedhgs, Winchester has built a strong reputati®m
industry innovator. This includes the introductimfireduced-lead and non-lead products, which aseigig in popularity for use in indoor
shooting ranges and for outdoor hunting.

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

We have sales offices and subsidiaries in variousiies which support the worldwide export of prots from the United States as w
as overseas production facilities.

Yamaha-Olin Metal Corporation, of which we are &b0wner, manufactures high-performance copper sifloyJapan for sale to the
electronics industry throughout the Far East. @ibsiliary, Olin Australia Limited, loads and padfrting and industrial ammunition in
Australia. We entered into an agreement with Lugy@opper (Group) Ltd. to jointly construct and agiera metals service center in
Guangzhou, China, which became operational initeeduarter of 2004. See the Note “Segment Infaiona of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8, for geographic sagrdata. We are incorporating our segment infdondtom that Note into this section of
our Form 10-K.

CUSTOMERS AND DISTRIBUTION

During 2006, no single customer accounted for niloa@ 4% of consolidated sales. Sales to all U.8egonent agencies and sales under
U.S. government contracting activities in total@oated for approximately 9% of consolidated sabe®d06. Products we sell to industrial or
commercial users or distributors for use in thedpation of other products constitute a major p&dwo total sales. We sell some of our
products, such as caustic soda, sporting ammunéaioch metals products, to a large number of ugedsstributors, while we sell others, suck
chlorine, in substantial quantities to a relativetyall number of industrial users. We discuss trgtamers for each of our three businesses in
more detail above under “Products and Services.”

We market most of our products and services prigndriough our sales force and sell directly toieas industrial customers,
wholesalers, other distributors, and the U.S. Gawvent and its prime contractors.

Because we engage in some government contractiivities and make sales to the U.S. Governmentargesubject to extensive and
complex U.S. Government procurement laws and réiga& These laws and regulations provide for omggovernment audits and reviews of
contract procurement, performance and administrakailure to comply, even inadvertently, with #ésws and regulations and with laws
governing the export of munitions and other comgbproducts and commodities could subject us erarmore of our businesses to civil and
criminal penalties, and under certain circumstansespension and debarment from future governnaaritacts and the exporting of products
for a specified period of time.

COMPETITION

We are in active competition with businesses praodyuthe same or similar products, as well as, medstances, with businesses
producing different products designed for the sas®s. We are among the largest manufacturerstoibdisrs in the United States of
ammunition, copper based strip, rod, and certalorcikali products based on data provided by therthg Arms and Ammunition
Manufacturers’ Institute (SAAMI), CDA and CMAI, rpsctively. Founded in 1926, SAAMI is an associatiéthe nation’s leading
manufacturers of sporting firearms, ammunition eachponents. Many factors influence our ability éonpete successfully, including price,
delivery, service, performance, product innovatoil product recognition and quality, dependinghengroduct involved.

8
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EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 6@@ployees, with 5,900 working in the United Stated 100 working in foreig
countries. Various labor unions represent a mgjafitour hourly-paid employees for collective bargag purposes.

Our labor contract with 203 employees at our Mefatdity in Montpelier, OH is scheduled to expireJune of 2007.

While we believe our relations with our employeed ¢heir various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude these labor contracts or any other lagreements without work stoppages and cannoteizat any work stoppages will not
have a material adverse effect on our businesandial condition or results of operations.

RESEARCH ACTIVITIES; PATENTS

Our research activities are conducted on a pr-group basis at a number of facilities. Comg-sponsored research expenditures v
$4.5 million in 2006, $4.2 million in 2005, and $3nillion in 2004.

We own or license a number of patents, patent egpdins and trade secrets covering our productpesabsses, particularly for use in
our Metals segment. We believe that, in the agdgegglae rights under our patents and licensesngperitant to our operations, but we do not
consider any individual patent or license or grofipatents and licenses related to a specific goe product to be of material importance to
our total business.

RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY

We purchase the major portion of our raw mategguirements. The principal basic raw materialofarproduction of chlor alka
products are salt, electricity, sulfur dioxide, drydirogen. The majority of the salt used in ourd€Zilkali Products segment is produced from
internal resources. Copper, zinc, various otheferonus metals and brass scrap are required fdvitttals business. Lead, brass, and prope
are the principal raw materials used in the Wintdrasusiness. We typically purchase our electrigsft, sulfur dioxide, and propellants
pursuant to multi-year contracts. In the manufactframmunition, we use a substantial percentageiodwn output of cartridge brass. We
provide additional information with respect to sifiecaw materials in the tables above under “Pidwand Services.”

Electricity is the predominant energy source for manufacturing facilities. Most of our facilitiese served by utilities which generate
electricity principally from coal, hydroelectric dmuclear power.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROLS

The establishment and implementation of federatesand local standards to regulate air, watelamal quality have affected and will
continue to affect substantially all of our manufaing locations. Federal legislation providing fegulation of the manufacture, transportat
use and disposal of hazardous and toxic substdraseisnposed additional regulatory requirementadnstry, particularly the chemicals
industry. In addition, implementation of environnedriaws, such as the Resource Conservation anovegcAct and the Clean Air Act, has
required and will continue to require new capitgpenditures and will increase operating costs. Yipley waste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sitesvea@re a party to various governmental and prigatéronmental actions associated with
waste disposal sites and manufacturing facilit@sarges or credits to income for investigatory eerdedial efforts were material to operating
results in the past three years and may be materiadt income in future years.

See our discussion of our environmental mattetgem 3, “Legal Proceedings” below, the Note “Envingental” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Beand Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Arialgs Financial Condition and Results
of Operations.”
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this For®-K, the following factors should be considered imlerating Olin and our business.
of our forwardlooking statements should be considered in liglhe§e factors. Additional risks and uncertaintied we are unaware of or tl
we currently deem immaterial also may become ingpdriactors that affect us.

Sensitivity to Global Economic Conditions and Cychality —Our operating results could be negatively affectedng economic
downturns.

The business of most of our customers, particulaulyvinyl, urethanes, pulp and paper, automote@age, electrical connectors,
telecommunications and housing customers, arearging degrees, cyclical and have historically eigreed periodic downturns. These
economic and industry downturns have been chaiaeteby diminished product demand, excess manufagteapacity and, in some cases,
lower average selling prices. Therefore, any sigaift downturn in our customers’ businesses otaba economic conditions could result in a
reduction in demand for our products and could esblg affect our results of operations or financiahdition. As a result of the depressed
economic conditions beginning in the fourth quaaie?000 and continuing through the first half 802, our vinyls, urethanes and pulp and
paper customers had lower demand for our chlodiglkaducts. During the period 2000-2003, demanddblor Alkali Products was low
enough to lead to plant shutdowns within the ingustich resulted in about 12% of capacity beingoged from North American production.
When demand improved in early 2004, the operatitgsrincreased to the mid to high 90% range, ieguh a tight supply/demand balance
which resulted in increasing pricing. Lower demamdur Metals segment has adversely affected osinkess and results of operations since
2001. The rod industry has been negatively affebfedustomers’ migration to lower-cost, offshoredtions and by continued reductions in
capital spending in the industrial machinery segnaed reduced demand for building and householdymts as a result of declines in
commercial construction. In 2006, Metals U.S. dednaas up approximately 3% from 2005. Metals deniarttle automotive and building
products segments was down in 2006, while ammumitioinage, and electronics segment shipmentxjpdireenced increases over 2005.

Although we do not generally sell a large perceataijour products directly to customers abroadygd part of our financial performar
is dependent upon a healthy economy beyond thetlSitates. Our customers sell their products abad result, our business is affectec
general economic conditions and other factors irstdfa Europe and most of East Asia, particularlin€land Japan, including fluctuations in
interest rates, customer demand, labor costs dred factors beyond our control. The demand foraustomers’ products, and therefore, our
products, is directly affected by such fluctuatiomsaddition, our customers could decide to mawae or all of their production to lower cost,
offshore locations, and this could reduce demarttériJnited States for our products. We cannotrasgou that events having an adverse
effect on the industries in which we operate wilt occur or continue, such as a further downtuthéWestern European, Asian or world
economies, increases in interest rates, unfavoratstency fluctuations or a prolonged slowdownhie toinage, electronic or
telecommunications industries.

Cyclical Pricing Pressure—Our profitability could be reduced by declinesaverage selling prices of our products, particylddclines
in the ECU netback for chlorine and caustic.

Our historical operating results reflect the cyaliand sometimes volatile nature of the chemicatats and ammunition industries. We
experience cycles of fluctuating supply and demarehch of our business segments, particularlytiloiCAlkali Products, which results in
changes in selling prices. Periods of high dem#ght supply and increasing operating margins tenasult in increases in capacity and
production until supply exceeds demand, generallpWed by periods of oversupply and declining psicThe industry build cycle, and its
impact on industry pricing, has been most pronodrieeur Chlor Alkali Products segment. For exampiel995 and 1996, the chlor alkali
industry was profitable due to a tight supply/dechbalance, which resulted in both higher operatatgs and higher ECU prices. Higher
profits led to reinvestment to expand capacity sTHeéw capacity became operational in 1998 and 1838|ting in industry over-capacity. This
imbalance was exacerbated by falling demand asudt ref the Asian financial crisis. The supply/demdambalance resulted in both lower
operating rates and lower ECU prices, and in 188y chlor alkali producers had operating lossés. Supply/demand balance improved due
to improved economic conditions in 2000 comparetia®9, and ECU prices increased in 2000 comparé838. As the U.S.
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and world economies deteriorated in 2001 and thrdhg first half of 2002, the chlor alkali industigain experienced a period of oversupply
because of lower industry demand for both chloané caustic. During the 2000-2003 timeframe ab@ét df North American production
capacity was shut down which caused operating tat@sprove without much improvement in demandalie 2003 and early 2004, chlorine
demand began to strengthen and operating ratemaised to the mid to high 90% range. Caustic derbagdn to strengthen by mid year 2004
and supplies of both products remained in balamaigh 2005; however, during the fourth quarter3280d first quarter 2006, supply and
demand were impacted by Hurricane Katrina. Addéltyn no new significant capacity became availahleng 2005/2006, and this, along w
improved economic conditions, resulted in priceé@ase initiatives. In October 2006, Dow closedrist Saskatchewan Chlor Alkali facility in
Western Canada. It is believed the closure ofptdat will have limited impact on Olin, and custam@ this area will be served mainly from
offshore, particularly Asia. Overall, this will s&ras a logical destination for the excess capaoitying on-stream in Asia. New capacity is
expected to come on line in the U.S. during thetfoquarter 2007, and it is expected this will hawsegative effect on pricing for the North
American Chlor Alkali industry. Another factor intncing demand for chlorine and caustic soda iptive of natural gas. Higher natural gas
prices increase our customers’ manufacturing casis,depending on the ratio of crude oil to gasgsi could make them less than competitive
in world markets; and therefore, may result in tldemand for our products. Continued expansifshoife, particularly in Asia, will
continue to have an impact on the ECU values asiiteg caustic soda replaces some capacity in te U.

Price in the chlor alkali industry is a major suppkelection criterion. We have little or no alyilio influence prices in this large
commodity market. Decreases in the average sedliings of our products could have a material advefect on our profitability. For
example, assuming all other costs remain constahtrdernal consumption remains approximately tiraes a $10 per ECU selling price
change equates to an approximate $11.0 million @rchange in our revenues and pretax profit whemmgeperating at full capacity. While
we strive to maintain or increase our profitability reducing costs through improving productionocghcy, emphasizing higher margin
products, and by controlling transportation, seflliand administration expenses, we cannot assuréhab these efforts will be sufficient to
offset fully the effect of changes in pricing oneoating results.

Because of the cyclical nature of our businesses;amnot assure you that pricing or profitabilitytie future will be comparable to any
particular historical period, including the mosteat period shown in our operating results. We otiaasure you that the chlor alkali industry
will not experience adverse trends in the futurehat our operating results and/or financial ctindiwill not be adversely affected by them.

Our Metals and Winchester segments are also sujetianges in operating results as a result dical@ricing pressures, but to a lesser
extent than the Chlor Alkali Products segment. Weagally pass changes in prices for copper and atbtals along to our customers as pa
the negotiated price of the finished product in rdour Metals segment product lines. However, Metals segment experiences pricing
pressure with respect to its conversion chargebsywancannot assure you that adverse trends imgramd margins will not affect operating
results in the future. Changes in global supply/dedifor copper and copper alloys may affect ouitglto obtain raw materials under
reasonable terms and conditions which may matgréaVersely affect our operating results. Similaskglling prices of ammunition are affec
by changes in raw material costs and availabilitg austomer demand, and declines in average seltings of our Winchester segment could
adversely affect our profitability.

Imbalance in Demand for Our Chlor Alkali Products —A loss of a substantial customer for our chlomne&austic soda could cause an
imbalance in demand for these products, which chalge an adverse effect on our results of operstion

Chlorine and caustic soda are produced simultamgauns in a fixed ratio of 1.0 ton of chlorine tdltons of caustic soda. The loss of a
substantial chlorine or caustic soda customer coalse an imbalance in demand for our chlorinecandtic soda products. An imbalance in
demand may require us to reduce production of bblibrine and caustic soda or take other stepsreciothe imbalance. Since we cannot s
chlorine, we may not be able to respond to an iarix in demand for these products as quickly aciefitly as some of our competitors. If a
substantial imbalance occurred, we would needdaae prices or take other actions that could havegative impact on our results of
operations and financial condition.
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Pension Plans—The impact of declines in global equity marketsagset values and any declines in interest ratss tasvalue the
liabilities in our pension plan may result in higlpension costs and the need to fund the pensamiplfuture years in material amounts.

In September 2006, we made a voluntary pensionggatribution of $80.0 million. In accordance witatement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 87, “Employers’ éasting for Pensions,” we recorded an after-taxlicref $54.5 million ($89.2 million
pretax) to Shareholders’ Equity as a result of@elese in the accumulated pension benefit obligatitiich primarily resulted from a 25-basis
point increase in the plan discount rate, combinigk an increase in the value of the plan assets fiavorable plan performance and the
contribution. In September 2005, we made a volyrpansion plan contribution of $6.1 million in orde maintain a 90% funded level under
the Employee Retirement Income and Security Acti @R criteria used to determine funding levels2005, a 25-basis point decline in
interest rates and the cost impact of contracteatjpn plan changes more than offset the increeseivalue of the plan assets. Therefore, we
recorded in December 2005 an after-tax charge @23aiillion ($47.8 million pretax) as a result of mcrease in the accumulated pension
benefit obligation. In 2006, we adopted SFAS N&B,1Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pemisiand Other Postretirement Plans,”
which requires us to record a net liability or ag¢eeeport the funded status of our defined bémefnsions and postretirement plans on our
balance sheet. As a result, we recorded an aftezhiarge of $39.7 million and $33.6 million, respealy ($65.0 million and $55.0 million
pretax, respectively). The non-cash charges toeBlodders’ Equity does not affect our ability to tmaw under our revolving credit agreement.

The determinations of pension expense and pensiatirfg are based on a variety of rules and regulatiChanges in these rules and
regulations could impact the calculation of pengitan liabilities and the valuation of pension ptasets. They may also result in higher
pension costs, additional financial statement dmale, and accelerate and increase the needyddali the pension plan. During the third
quarter of 2006, the “Pension Protection Act of @0ecame law. Among the stated objectives of #wedre the protection of both pension
beneficiaries and the financial health of the Rem&enefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC). To accosipthese objectives, the new law
requires sponsors to fund defined benefit pensianspearlier than previous requirements and toiperngased PBGC premiums. The impact of
the law cannot be fully assessed until all the enggntation rules are published, but the law doggire defined benefit plans to be fully func
in 2011. This will accelerate and potentially irese our pension plan funding requirements.

In addition, the impact of declines in global eguhd bond markets on asset values may resulghehipension costs and may increase
and accelerate the need to fund the pension indfytears. For example, holding all other assumpt@mstant, a 100-basis point decrease or
increase in the assumed rate of return on plansas®eild have increased or decreased, respectihey2006 qualified pension plan cost by
approximately $12.4 million.

Holding all other assumptions constant, a 50-ljaist decrease in the discount rate used to ca&pknsion costs for 2006 and the
projected benefit obligation as of December 31,6280uld have increased pension costs by $5.0 millied the projected benefit obligation
$86.4 million. A 50-basis point increase in thecdisnt rate used to calculate pension costs for 20@6he projected benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2006 would have decreased pensios lmp$5.9 million and the projected benefit obligatby $87.3 million.

Environmental Costs—We have ongoing environmental costs, which coaldeha material adverse effect on our financialtgmsor
results of operations.

The nature of our operations and products, inclydie raw materials we handle, exposes us to skeofiliabilities or claims with respe
to environmental matters. We have incurred, aneetxp incur, significant costs and capital expamds in complying with environmental
laws and regulations.

The ultimate costs and timing of environmentalilitibs are difficult to predict. Liability undermeironmental laws relating to
contaminated sites can be imposed retroactivelyoana joint and several basis. One liable partydcba held responsible for all costs at a site,
regardless of fault, percentage of contributiothsite or the legality of the original dispodafe could incur significant costs, including
cleanup costs, natural resources damages, cigiiroinal fines and sanctions and third-party lawssalaiming, for example, personal injury
and/or property damage, as a result of past ordutinlations of, or liabilities under, environmeahor other laws.
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In addition, future events, such as changes toaremrigorous enforcement of environmental laws Jdoequire us to make additional
expenditures, modify or curtail our operations andstall pollution control equipment.

Accordingly, it is possible that some of the matterwhich we are involved or may become involveayrhe resolved unfavorably to us,
which could materially adversely affect our finaalgdosition or results of operations. See “Managaméiscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations-Environmentatters.”

Cost Control —Our profitability could be reduced if we experierttigher-than-expected raw material, utility, ty@orsation or logistics
costs, or if we fail to achieve our targeted cesluctions.

Our operating results and profitability are deperidgon our continued ability to control, and imeocases further reduce, our costs. If
we are unable to do so, or if costs outside ofcaumtrol, particularly our costs of raw materialslities, transportation and similar costs,
increase beyond anticipated levels, our profitabiliill decline.

Litigation and Claims —We are subject to litigation and other claims, ethtould cause us to incur significant expenses.

We are a defendant in a number of pending legalgadings relating to our present and former opmratiThese include proceedings
alleging injurious exposure of plaintiffs to varbahemicals and other substances (including pracgedased on alleged exposures to
asbestos). Frequently, such proceedings invohimslemade by numerous plaintiffs against many dedatsl However, because of the inherent
uncertainties of litigation, we are unable to pcttlhe outcome of these proceedings and thereforeat determine whether the financial
impact, if any, will be material to our financiabgition or results of operations.

Production Hazards—Our facilities are subject to operating hazardsictv may disrupt our business.

We are dependent upon the continued safe operattionr production facilities. Our production fatiis are subject to hazards associated
with the manufacture, handling, storage and trartapon of chemical materials and products and amnitimn, including leaks and ruptures,
explosions, fires, inclement weather and natursdstiers, unexpected utility disruptions or outagescheduled downtime and environmental
hazards. From time to time in the past, we haveilgdents that have temporarily shut down or othiee disrupted our manufacturing, caus
production delays and resulting in liability for vkplace injuries and fatalities. Some of our prdduovolve the manufacture and/or handlin
a variety of explosive and flammable materials. bfthese products by our customers could alsdtrigsliability if an explosion, fire, spill or
other accident were to occur. We cannot assurehatuve will not experience these types of incidéntthe future or that these incidents will
not result in production delays or otherwise haveaterial adverse effect on our business, finargaHition or results of operations.

Security and Chemicals Transportation—New regulations on the transportation of hazardiesnicals and/or the security of chemical
manufacturing facilities and public policy changekted to transportation safety could result gngicantly higher operating costs.

The chemical industry, including the chlor alkalilustry, has proactively responded to the issuaserkto national security and
environmental concerns by starting new initiativgating to the security of chemicals industry fitiels and the transportation of hazardous
chemicals in the United States. Government atdbal] state, and federal levels also has begurategy processes which could lead to new
regulations that would impact the security of cheahplant locations and the transportation of hdaas chemicals. Our Chlor Alkali business
could be adversely impacted by the cost of compglyiith any new regulations. Our business also cbelddversely affected because of an
incident at one of our facilities or while transgiog product. The extent of the impact would dependhe requirements of future regulations
and the nature of an incident, which are unknowthiattime.

Indebtedness—Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firdrmondition and limit our ability to grow and cqete, which could
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations underrandebtedness.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $253.9 millionnafeibtedness outstanding, including $3.6 milliorr@éspnting the fair value related to
$101.6 million of interest rate swaps in effecbDacember 31, 2006 and excluding our guarantee ©0%6illion of indebtedness of our
SunBelt joint venture. This does not include our
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$160.0 million senior credit facility on which wadh $120.2 million available on that date becaus&adtissued $39.8 million of letters of
credit. As of December 31, 2006, our indebtednegeesented 32% of our total capitalization.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firlrmndition and limit our ability to grow and coetp, which in turn could prevent us
from fulfilling our obligations under our indebteelss. Despite our level of indebtedness, the tefrosrosenior credit facility and our existing
indentures permit us to borrow additional moneyvéfborrow more money, the risks related to oueitddness could increase significantly.

Debt Service—We may not be able to generate sufficient casteteice our debt, which may require us to refinamaeindebtedness or
default on our scheduled debt payments.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow fromevations to make scheduled payments on our deleinde on a range of economic,
competitive and business factors, many of whichoatside our control. We cannot assure you thabasiness will generate sufficient cash
flow from operations. If we are unable to meet exppenses and debt obligations, we may need tcarefall or a portion of our indebtedness
on or before maturity, sell assets or raise eqliitg.cannot assure you that we would be able toarfie any of our indebtedness, sell assets or
raise equity on commercially reasonable terms ailatvhich could cause us to default on our olilgyes and impair our liquidity. Our inabilit
to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy ourtd@digations, or to refinance our obligations @menercially reasonable terms, would have an
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiod results of operations, as well as on ourtghidi satisfy our debt obligations. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations.”

At December 31, 2006, we had interest rate swaf$d @1.6 million, which convert a portion of ourdit rate debt to a variable rate. As a
result, 42% of our indebtedness bears interestridbie rates that are linked to shtatm interest rates. If interest rates rise, ostseelative t
those obligations would also rise. See Item 7A—"@itative and Qualitative Disclosures about MarRetk” and “Liquidity and Other
Financing Arrangements.”

Labor Matters —We cannot assure you that we can conclude futlrer Ilcontracts or any other labor agreements witivouk
stoppages.

Various labor unions represent a majority of ourhepaid employees for collective bargaining puses. Our labor contract with 203
employees at our Metals facility in Montpelier, @scheduled to expire in June of 2007.

While we believe our relations with our employeed ¢heir various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude future labor contracts or any otheolagreements without work stoppages and cansatashat any work stoppages will not
have a material adverse effect on our businessndial condition or results of operations.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

We have manufacturing sites at 20 separate loGiioh2 states and Puerto Rico, and two manufagfgites and two metal servi
centers in four foreign countries, including themya&ha©lin Metal Corporation joint venture facility. Theetals service center in China becs
operational in the first quarter of 2004. Most mi@eturing sites are owned although a number of lssitak are leased. We listed the locations
at or from which our products and services are rfeantured, distributed, or marketed in the tablédargh under the caption “Products and
Services.”

We lease warehouses, terminals and distributidnesffand space for executive and branch saleesféind service departments
throughout the world.
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have completed all work in connection with refagdn of mercury contamination at the site of @armer mercury cell chlor alka
plant in Saltville, VA required to date. In mid-Z8)@he Trustees for natural resources in the Neottk Holston River, the Main Stem Holston
River, and associated floodplains, located in Snaytth Washington Counties in Virginia and in Sultivend Hawkins Counties in Tennessee
notified us of, and invited our participation im assessment of alleged injuries to natural resswesulting from the release of mercury. The
Trustees also notified us that they have made larprary determination that we are potentially lfor natural resource damages in said
rivers and floodplains. We have agreed to partieipathe assessment. In light of the early stagd,inherent uncertainties, of the assessment,
we cannot at this time determine whether the firdnmpact, if any, of this matter will be matertal our financial position or results of
operations. See “Environmental Matters” contaimettém 7—“Management’s Discussion and Analysis iofRcial Condition and Results of
Operations.”

As part of the continuing environmental investigatby federal, state and local governments of waisfgosal sites, we have entered into
a number of settlement agreements requiring uaificgpate in the investigation and cleanup of embar of sites. Under the terms of such
settlements and related agreements, we may beaeddoi manage or perform one or more elementssgéaleanup, or to manage the entire
remediation activity for a number of parties, anbsequently seek recovery of some or all of suatsdoom other Potentially Responsible
Parties (PRPs). In many cases, we do not knowltimeate costs of our settlement obligations atttime of entering into particular settlement
agreements, and our liability accruals for our gdtions under those agreements are often subjegndicant management judgment on an
ongoing basis. Those cost accruals are provideihfaccordance with generally accepted accountimgiples and our accounting policies set
forth in the environmental matters section in ltém“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finah€Ciandition and Results of
Operations.”

We and our subsidiaries are defendants in varither ¢egal actions (including proceedings basedlmyed exposures to asbestos)
incidental to our past and current business ams/itWhile we believe that none of these legabastiwill materially impact our financial
position, in light of the inherent uncertaintiestio€ litigation concerning alleged exposures, wenoaat this time determine whether the
financial impact, if any, of these matters will tn@terial to our results of operations.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

We did not submit any matter to a vote of securitiders during the three months ended Decembe2(®5.

Executive Officers of the Registrant as of February 27, 2007

Served as an

Olin Officer
Name and Age Office Since
Joseph D. Rupp (5t Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off 199¢
Stephen C. Curley (5! Vice President and Treasul 200t
John E. Fischer (5: Vice President and Chief Financial Offic 2004
G. Bruce Greer, Jr. (4 Vice President, Strategic Planni 200t
Jeffrey J. Haferkamp (5: Vice President and President, Olin Br 200t
Richard M. Hammett (6C Vice President and President, Winchester Divit 200t
Dennis R. McGough (5¢ Vice President, Human Resour 200t
John L. MclIntosh (52 Vice President and President, Chlor Alkali ProduRitsision 199¢
George H. Pain (5¢ Vice President, General Counsel and Secre 200z
Todd A. Slater (43 Vice President and Controll 200t

No family relationship exists between any of thexabnamed executive officers or between any of taethany of our directors. Such
officers were elected to serve, subject to thed®ysl|, until their respective successors are chosen.

J. D. Rupp, J. L. McIntosh, and G. H. Pain haveeztias executive officers for not less than the fdes years.

Stephen C. Curley re-joined Olin on August 18, 288 hief Tax Counsel. He was elected Vice Presiath Treasurer effective
January 1, 2005. From 1997-2001, he served asRfiesident and Treasurer of Primex Technologies, énmanufacturer and provider of
ordnance and aerospace products and services, whikBpun off from Olin in 1996.
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John E. Fischer re-joined Olin on January 2, 20)¥iae President, Finance. On June 24, 2004, heelgated Vice President, Finance
and Controller, and effective May 27, 2005, he elasted Vice President and Chief Financial Offifeom 1997-2001, he served as Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Primex fiealogies, Inc. During 2002 and 2003, Mr. Fischdriddependent consulting for several
companies including Olin.

G. Bruce Greer, Jr. joined Olin on May 2, 2005 &eWPresident, Strategic Planning. Prior to join®ig and since 1997, Mr. Greer was
employed by Solutia, Inc., an applied chemicals gany. From 2003 to April 2005, he served as PrasidePharma Services, a Division of
Solutia and Chairman of Flexsys, an internationbber chemicals company which was a joint ventargiadly owned by Solutia and Akzo
Nobel. Prior to that, Mr. Greer served as a VicesRient of Corporate Development, Technology, afiafination Technology for Soluti.

Jeffrey J. Haferkamp was elected Vice Presidentrardident, Olin Brass effective January 1, 200®rRo that time and since October
2002, he served as President, Rolled Products. Amih2001 to September 2002, he served as ViesiBent, International for the Brass
Division (currently part of the Metals Group). Rrto April 2001, he served as Vice President, BesinPlanning for the Brass Division.

Richard M. Hammett was elected Vice President aegdifent, Winchester Division effective Januard05. Prior to that time and since
September 2002, he served as President, Winchegisision. From November 1998 until September 20@2served as Vice President,
Marketing and Sales for the Winchester Division.

Dennis R. McGough was elected Vice President, HuResources effective January 1, 2005. Prior totthegt and since 1999, he served
as Corporate Vice President, Human Resources.

Todd A. Slater was elected Vice President and ©tetr effective May 27, 2005. From April 2004 uritlay 2005, he served as
Operations Controller. From January 2003 until ApBiO4, he served as Vice President and Finandfae® for Olin’s Metals Group. Prior to
2003, Mr. Slater served as Vice President, Chie&fcial Officer and Secretary for Chase Industries (which was merged into Olin on
September 27, 2002).

PART II
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
As of January 31, 2007, we had 5,673 record holoeesir common stocl

Our common stock is traded on the New York StockHaxge and Chicago Stock Exchange.

The high and low sales prices of our common stagind each quarterly period in 2006 and 2005 ated below. A dividend of $0.20
per common share was paid during each of the foartgrs in 2006 and 2005.

First Second Third Fourth
2006 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactic
High $22.0C 22.65 18.3: 17.7(
Low 19.47 16.3¢ 14.2: 15.2(

2005

Market price of common stock per New York Stock Eaacge composite transactic
High $25.3t  23.7¢ 20.0C 20.1¢
Low 20.2: 17.0¢ 17.51 16.6%
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
(or Units) Purchased as Shares (or Units) that
Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid per Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period (or Units) Purchased Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
October -31, 200€ — N/A —
November -30, 200€ — N/A —
December -31, 200€ — N/A —
Total 154,07(®
(1) On April 30, 1998, we announced a share repurcpiesgram approved by our board of directors forghechase of up to 5 million shal

of common stock. Through December 31, 2006, 4,@bshares had been repurchased, and 154,076 sbana@s available for purchase
under that program, which has no termination ¢

Equity Compensation Plan Information

@ (b) ©
! Number of securities
Number of securitiesto Waghtgd-avgrage remaining available for
be issued upon exercise price future issuance under
exercise of outstanding of outstanding equity compensation
options, warrants and options, warrants and plans (excluding securities
Plan Category rights (@ rights reflected in column (a) @
Equity compensation plans approved by secu
holders® 3,016,900 $ 19.1€® 3,725,54i
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holder$) N/A® N/A® N/A®
Total 3,016,901 $ 19.1€34 3,725,54:
(1) Number of shares is subject to adjustment for ceaiig capitalization for stock splits and stockidinds and similar event
(2) Consists of the 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan,20@3 Long Term Incentive Plan, the 2006 Long Temgehtive Plan and the 1997
Stock Plan for Noremployee Directors. Does not include informationwttihe equity compensation plans listed in théetaklow, whict
have expired. No additional awards may be grantetbuthose expired plans. As of December 31, 2
Number of Securities
Expiration I ssuable Under Weighted Average Weighted Average
Plan Name Date Outstanding Options Exercise Price Remaining Term
1988 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olin
Corporation and Subsidiari 4/30/9¢ 18,40( $ 27.15 1.1 year
Olin 1991 Long Term Incentive Pl 4/30/01 689,49( $ 18.97 2.0 year
1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olin
Corporation and Subsidiari 1/25/0¢ 2,378,52 $ 21.0¢ 2.5 year
(3) Includes:

(4)

» 2,471,696 shares issuable upon exercise of optiithsa weighted average exercise price of $19.08,aaweighted average remaining
term of 7.4 years, (which include 854,000 sharégesti to performance accelerated vesting optidrat,test on the earlier of
December 27, 2009, or the tenth day in any 30 daleday period upon which the average of the highlaw per share sales prices of
Olin’s common stock as reported on the consolidateddcdion system for New York Stock Exchange isssied or above $28.0C

e 77,100 shares issuable under restricted stoclguanitts, with a weighted average remaining term.®fygars

» 301,903 shares issuable in connection with outstgnuerformance share awards, with a weighted aeeterm of 1.2 years remaining
in the performance measurement period,

» 150,268 shares under the 1997 Stock Plan for Ngniesme Directors which represent stock grantsétainers, other board and
committee fees, and dividends on deferred stoclewutiae plan

Does not include information about equity compeinsgblans assumed in connection with the acquisitibChase Industries Inc.
September 2002 by merger. No additional awards Imeagranted under those assumed plans. As of Dece&8hb2006, options for a tot
of 166,201 shares, with a weighted average exepeise of $21.91 per share, and a weighted avaragaining term of 1.7 years, were
outstanding under the various plans assumed inembiom with that acquisitior

Does not include a total of 339,422 shares issugida the exercise of outstanding options undeAtice Chemicals, Inc. 1999 Lor



Term Incentive Plan, with a weighted average egerprice of $26.09, and a weighted average rentateim of 0.7 years. No additional
options or other awards may be issued under tiat
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
ELEVEN-YEAR SUMMARY
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

($ and shares in millions, except per share ¢

Operations
Sales $3,15:. $2,357 $1,997 $1,557 $1,27: $1,23: $1,49¢ $1,39¢ $1,50¢ $ 1,57 $ 1,817
Cost of Goods Sol 2,797  1,99¢ 1,76¢ 1,382 1,158 1,091  1,24( 1,21¢  1,23¢ 1,27¢ 1,45¢
Selling and Administratiol 177 17¢€ 141 127 112 111 121 122 122 132 15&
Research and Developme 4 4 4 5 5 5 5 7 10 8 20
Gain (Loss) on Sales and Restructuring of Busireeasd Spi-off costs (18) — (10) (31) — (39) — — (63) — 17¢
Other Operating Incom 7 9 6 — — 6 — — — — 7
Earnings (Loss) of Nc-consolidated Affiliate: 46 38 1C 8 (@) (8) 2 (11) — 1 2
Interest Expens 20 20 2C 2C 26 17 1€ 1€ 17 24 27
Interest and Other Incon 13 20 6 4 6 17 5 3 7 14 4
Income (Loss) before Taxes from Continuing Operet 20z 228 79 4 27) (16) 121 27 59 147 352
Income Tax Provision (Benefi 52 86 28 4 4 (5) 46 1C 21 5C 12t
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operatic 15C 13¢ 51 — (31) (11) 75 17 38 97 227
Discontinued Operations, N — — 4 1 — 2 6 4 40 56 53
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, I — (6) — (25) — — — — — — —
Net Income (Loss $ 15C $ 132 ¢$ 55 $ (29 $ 3) $ (9 $ 8 $ 21 $ 78 $ 158 $ 28C
Financial Position
Cash and Cash Equivalents and S-Term Investment $ 27€¢ $ 304 $ 147 $ 19C $ 13€ $ 202 $ 82 $ 4 $ 75 $ 18 $ 60F
Working Capital, excluding Cash and Cash Equivalemd Short-Term
Investmentt 23t 202 244 174 24C 68 161 20€ 15C 88 (220)
Property, Plant and Equipment, I 487 482 47¢ 49t 54E 46¢ 47t 46€ 47E 517 40C
Total Asset: 1,63 1,79 1,61¢ 1,432 1,41: 1,207 1,10% 1,06 1,58¢ 1,707 2,11¢
Capitalization:
Shor-Term Debi 2 1 52 27 2 102 1 1 1 8 137
Long-Term Debt 252 257 261 314 34¢ 33C 22¢ 22¢ 23C 262 271
Shareholde’ Equity 542 7 35¢€ 17€ 231 271 32¢ 30¢ 79C 87¢ 94€
Total Capitalizatior $ 797 $ 68t $ 666 $ 517 $ 57¢ $ 702 $ 556 $ 53¢ $1,021 $1,14¢ $ 1,35¢
Per Share Data
Net Income (Loss
Basic:
Continuing Operation&") $206 $19€ $074 $0.01 $(0.65 $0.26¢) $166 $03€ $07¢ $ 191 $ 4.3C
Discontinued Operations, N — — 0.0€ 0.01 — 0.04 0.14 0.0¢ 0.8t 1.11 1.04
Accounting Change, Nt — (0.09) — (0.49) — — — — — — —
Net Income (Loss 2.0¢€ 1.87 0.8C (0.42) (0.69 (0.29) 1.8C 0.4¢ 1.64 3.02 5.34
Diluted:
Continuing Operation§” 2.0€ 1.9¢ 0.74 0.01 (0.6 (0.26)  1.6€ 0.3€ 0.7¢ 1.9C 4.2¢
Discontinued Operations, N — — 0.0¢€ 0.01 — 0.04 0.14 0.0¢ 0.84 1.1C 1.01
Accounting Change, N« — (0.09) — (0.49) — — — — — — —
Net Income (Loss 2.0¢€ 1.8¢ 0.8C (0.42) (0.69 (0.29) 1.8C 0.4¢ 1.62 3.0C 5.27
Cash Dividend:
Common (historical 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.9¢ 1.2C 1.2C 1.2C
Common (continuing operation 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C
ESOP Preferred (annual ra — — — — — — — — — — 5.97
Market Price of Common Stoc
High 22,68 253t 229¢ 205 22.6( 22.7F  23.1¢ 19.8¢  49.31 51.3¢ 48.0C
Low 142z 16.68 15.2( 1497 13.88 12.0f 14.1¢ 9.5C  23.8¢ 35.3¢ 34.8¢
Year End 16.52  19.6¢ 22.02 20.0¢ 15.5¢ 16.1¢  22.1: 19.81  28.31 46.8¢ 37.6:
Other
Capital Expenditure $ 8 $ 81 $ 55 $ 54 $ 41 $ 64 $ 93 $ 73 $ 78 $ 76 $ 74
Depreciatior 72 72 72 8C 85 84 78 78 76 7€ 84
Common Dividends Pai 58 57 5€ 47 39 35 3€ 41 58 61 60
Purchases of Common Sta — — — — 3 14 2C 11 112 162 —
Current Ratic 2.2 24 2.2 2.2 2.E 1.8 1.¢ 2.C 1.8 1.8 1.6
Total Debt to Total Capitalizatiof) 31.8% 37.% 46.8% 65.% 60.0% 61.5% 41.1% 42.1% 22.% 23.5% 30.1%
Effective Tax Ratt 25.% 38.1% 35.% 76.5% WE 30.9% 38.1% 37.% 35.6% 34.(% 35.5%
Average Common Shares Outstanc 72.¢ 71.€ 68.4 58.c 49.4 43.€ 45.C 45.4 47.¢ 50.t 50.C
Shareholder 570C 6,10C 6,40C 6,80 7,20 7,50C 8,00 860C 920 10,60(  11,30(
Employeed®) 6,00 590C 580 5500 590C 560 6,30C 6,70C 6,40( 6,60( 6,20(C

Our Selected Financial Data reflects the followlnginesses as discontinued operations: Olin Aeg2904, the spin off of Arch Chemicals, Inc. (opesialty chemicals business) in
1999 and Primex Technologies, Inc. (our OrdnanckAerospace businesses) in 1996.
(1) Includes gain of $2.20 on sale of the isocyanatrsiness in 199¢



(2) Excluding reduction to equity for the Employee &t@wnership Plan in 199
(3) Employee data exclude employees who worked at gaven-owned/contract-operated facilities

18



Table of Contents

Item 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

BUSINESS BACKGROUND

Our manufacturing operations are concentratedrgetbusiness segments: Chlor Alkali Products, Metald Winchester. All three are
capital intensive manufacturing businesses withratp®y rates closely tied to the general econonaghEsegment has a commodity element to
it, and therefore, our ability to influence pricirggquite limited on the portion of the segmentsiness that is strictly commaodity. Our Chlor
Alkali Products business is a commodity businessrevtall supplier products are similar and pricénésmajor supplier selection criterion. We
have little or no ability to influence prices ingHarge, global commodity market. Cyclical prisgirsgs, driven by changes in supply/demand,
can be abrupt and significant and, given capanityur Chlor Alkali Products business, can leaddrysignificant changes in our overall
profitability. While a majority of Metals sales aséa commodity nature, this business has a sianifi volume of specialty engineered products
targeted for specific end-uses. In these applinafitechnical capability and performance differetithe product and play a role in product
selection and thus price is not the only seleatidterion. Winchester also has a commodity eleneiits business, but a majority of Winche:
ammunition is sold as a branded consumer produetevtihere are opportunities to differentiate cartdierings through innovative new
product development and enhanced product perforendfibile competitive pricing versus other brandedraunition products is important, it
not the only factor in product selection.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS

2006 Year

On February 1, 2006, we announced that, in cormeetith the ongoing cost reduction efforts of ouetlls business, we decided to cl
our Waterbury Rolling Mills brass manufacturingifiag in Waterbury, CT (“Waterbury facility”) andansolidate those production activities
into our East Alton, IL mill. In addition, on Marct¥, 2006, we decided to reduce the utilizationrd of our Metals service center facilities by
consolidating certain activities into another seevienter facility, and make overhead reductiorthénMetals business affecting approximately
20 employees. We based our decision on our evaluafithe size, location, and capability of ourilides and staffing in light of anticipated
business needs. We substantially completed theistias by June 30, 2006. As a result of thesd peduction efforts, we recorded a pretax
restructuring charge of $15.7 million in the ficgtarter. In the fourth quarter, primarily as a testirealizing more proceeds from equipment
sales than expected, we reduced our previouslplestiad restructuring reserve related to the Waitgrkacility by $1.6 million. The net
restructuring charge of $14.1 million primarily lnded lease and other contract termination co&®(®illion), write-off of equipment and
facility costs ($2.8 million), and employee severa@and related benefit costs ($3.3 million). Weestjto incur cash expenditures of $10.3
million related to this restructuring charge. Thas#@ons are expected to generate $9.0 milliorLl@Gmillion of annual pretax savings, and
implementation of these actions was cash neutr2006. The impact of this restructuring charge su#tsstantially offset by a last-in, first-out
(LIFO) inventory liquidation gain of $13.5 milliorealized related to the closure of our Waterbugjlits.

On November 27, 2006, we announced that, in coforeatith the ongoing cost reduction efforts of ddetals business, we decided to
close our New Haven Copper Company facility in SeymCT (“Seymour facility”) and consolidate sonfetwse production activities into
other Olin locations. We currently expect to conplihe closing of the Seymour facility during tleeend quarter of 2007. We based our
decision on our evaluation of the size, locatiord eapability of our facilities and staffing in kigof anticipated business needs. We recorded a
one-time pretax restructuring charge of $3.5 millio the fourth quarter. This restructuring chairgguded facility costs and equipment write-
offs ($2.4 million), employee severance and reldtedefit costs ($0.9 million), and other contr&etination costs ($0.2 million). We expec
incur cash expenditures of $1.6 million relatedhis restructuring. These actions are expecte@&t@ate $2.0 million of annual pretax savir
The impact of this restructuring charge was moam thffset by a LIFO inventory liquidation gain dfG4 million realized related to the closi
of our Seymour facility.

Our total restructuring charge for 2006 was $17ilan. It is expected that an additional restruatg charge of approximately $2.0
million will be recorded in 2007 associated witleske Metals restructuring actions.
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In April 2006, we reached an agreement in princgnd expected a settlement with the Internal Rex&uwrvice (IRS) on certain
outstanding federal tax exposures. On July 10, 20@6settlement was finalized. This settlemenictvincludes the periods 1996 to 2002,
relates primarily to the tax treatment of capitedes generated in 1997. We made payments of 8dfich and expect to make additional
payments of approximately $2.0 million in 2007 lte iRS and various state and local jurisdictiortsictv was less than the amount previously
reserved. As a result, income tax expense in 2G@6reduced by $21.6 million associated with thdeseent and other tax matters.

On June 26, 2006, we commenced an offer to exchamgev series of notes due in 2016 and cash fto §£25.0 million of the $200.0
million 9.125% senior notes due in 2011 (2011 Npt@&s July 11, 2006, we announced that approxim&®60.0 million aggregate principal
amount of the 2011 Notes had been validly tendfredxchange. Since more than $125.0 million of2B&1 Notes had been tendered, the
notes were issued on a pro rata basis in accordeaitit¢ghe terms of the exchange offer. On JulyZB)6, we issued $125.0 million of 6.75%
senior notes due in 2016 (2016 Notes) and paié®ipm of $18.8 million to the existing note holdergexchange for $125.0 million of 2011
Notes. We expensed $1.2 million of third party fassociated with the exchan

During the fourth quarter of 2006, we recorded ®$6illion insurance recovery for Hurricane Katrimasiness interruption experienced
in our Chlor Alkali Products operations in 2005 aatly 2006. In the second quarter of 2006, werdmba $2.3 million gain from the
settlement of an insurance claim related to thetZd@ that occurred in the electrical control roafrthe hot mill located in East Alton, IL.

2005 Year

During 2005, we received a total of $9.4 millioorfr real estate dispositions, including interest@f million. The first disposition i
March represented the settlement of a condemnati@nd relating to land associated with a formeralvausing facility. The other two
transactions represented the disposition of lasdaated with former manufacturing plants.

During 2005, we recovered environmental costs iezliand expensed in prior periods and relatedastaf $49.9 million from third
parties, which relate primarily to remedial anddatigatory activities associated with former wastes and past operations. The first recovery
in April was for $1.5 million. The second occuriiedSeptember and was for $18.0 million. The lastoezd in November and was for $30.4
million, which included $11.4 million in interest.

During the third quarter of 2005, both supply aedh@nd in the Chlor Alkali industry were interruptadthree hurricanes, which caused
customer outages and disruptions to the transpamtaystem. Although none of our facilities werendaed, these factors reduced our oper.
rate during the third and fourth quarters of 2005.

On December 31, 2005, we recorded an détereharge of $6.4 million ($10.5 million pretax)d¢onnection with the adoption of Finant
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation Al “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retiremétiligations” (FIN No. 47), an
interpretation of SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for AsfRetirement Obligations” (SFAS No. 143). FIN Md. clarifies when sufficient
information is available to estimate an assetagtent obligation. In conjunction with this adopti@6.4 million was recorded as a cumulative
effect of an accounting change. This charge iscipally related to asset retirement obligationsgayduction technology and building
materials.

2004 Year

On January 29, 2004, we announced that our boadtexftors approved plans to relocate our corpartiiees for organizational,
strategic and economic reasons. By the end of 2084ad completed the relocation of a portion afaarporate services personnel from
Norwalk, CT to our Main Office Building in East Alt, IL. We also established our new corporate headers in Clayton, which is in £
Louis County, MO, for logistical and other reasohise relocation of the corporate offices was accamgd by a downsized corporate structure
more appropriate for us in today’s competitive bass environment. The headquarters relocation ampleted by the end of 2004. The
majority of the corporate personnel have been catkd with the Brass and Winchester businesselingsin
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corporate headcount being reduced by approximé&tety percent, generating total projected annueinggs of approximately $6.0 million in
2006. As a result of the relocation, we incurrests@f $10.1 million in 2004 and incurred an addiéil $0.3 million of costs in 2005. This
restructuring charge included primarily employeeesance and related benefit costs, relocation esgagrension curtailment expense and the
incurred cost for outplacement services for aketitd employees. The sale of the Indianapolisifiagil November 2004 resulted in a reduct

of a previously established reserve related tdmdianapolis restructuring of $0.5 million, whichduced the total 2004 restructuring charge to
$9.6 million.

On February 3, 2004, we issued and sold 10 millimeres of our common stock at a public offeringgpof $18.00 per share. Net
proceeds from the sale were $177.8 million and weesl to make a voluntary contribution of $125.0iom to our pension plan. In March
2004, we used $17.5 million from the proceeds efdfock offering to repay the lllinois IndustrialRition Control Revenue Bond, which
became due in March of 2004. The remaining balé$88.3 million) of the proceeds was used in Ap@i02 to pay a portion of federal income
taxes related to prior periods.

In 2003, we were accepted to participate in the $BHement initiative pertaining to tax issuesitedl to our benefits liability managem
company. In addition, we settled with the IRS iigkato our Company Owned Life Insurance (COLI) piog. In the third quarter of 2004, a
final settlement agreement was reached with thedR&iese and certain other outstanding issuetedela tax audits covering the 1992 thro
2000 tax years. In connection with these settlemeet made payments in the second quarter of 2084@8 million. These payments resol
all open issues regarding our benefits liabilitynmgement company and our COLI program. These saegshad been recorded as a liability
prior to 2002. In the third quarter of 2004, theame tax provision included a $2.3 million reduntio income tax expense associated with the
finalization, in the third quarter of 2004, of thettlement of certain issues related to incometatits for the years 1992 through 2000.

On April 29, 2004, a fire occurred in the electticantrol room for the hot mill located in East @éit, IL. The hot mill was returned to full
operation in mid-May. The full-year costs relatteethe fire were incurred by the Metals segmenh@asecond quarter and were $4.7 million
pretax.

In June 2004, we sold our Olin Aegis business t@CH@ustries Inc. Olin Aegis, headquartered in Nedford, MA, is a manufacturer
of high performance, high reliability, hermetic rmlgpackages for the microelectronics industry. @lagis employed 250 people. The sale of
our Olin Aegis business resulted in a pretax gai$508 million and generated proceeds of $17.liomllFor Olin Aegis, the financial data is
classified in our financial statements as discarg@thoperations for the periods presented priofb2

On July 30, 2004, we entered into a $160.0 milfiwa-year senior revolving credit facility that dleped the $140.0 million senior
revolving credit facility. This credit facility exyes on July 30, 2009. Borrowing options, restvietcovenants and the letter of credit subfacility
are similar to or better than those of the previgersior revolving credit facility.

In September 2004, we were impacted by equipmetti@ms and a hurricane at our Mcintosh, AL chl@ahlfacility. We invoked the
force majeure clause in the chlorine contracts withcustomers due to equipment problems and irvthe force majeure clause in the
chlorine, caustic soda, hydrogen, salt and sodiypothlorite contracts with our customers due todfiects of the hurricane. The negative
impact of these issues was several million dolf@h& plant returned to full operation in late Septer.

In September 2004, Winchester announced that itdu@locate its East Alton rimfire manufacturingeogtion to Oxford, MS to allow
Winchester the ability to reduce costs, improvécedhicies, better utilize existing technology amtiiave improved profitability in the product
line. This move was completed in the second qua@eb. This relocation impacted approximately 1&@sed and hourly employees, but did
not impact the shotshell, centerfire rifle, andgisnanufacturing operations, which are locate&ast Alton, IL.

In November 2004, we purchased certain businesgsasEMetal Foils LLC for $3.2 million. Metal FsiLLC is a distributor of
aluminum, stainless steel, and copper productsddda Willoughby, OH. We relocated the purchasgskts to our A.J. Oster facility in
Alliance, OH in the fourth quarter of 2004.
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PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Under SFAS No. 87, we recorded a $220.0 milliorr-tax charge ($360.0 million pretax) to Sharehol’ Equity as of December 3
2002, reflecting an accumulated pension benefiggabbn in excess of the year-end market valueseéts of our pension plan. In 2003, the
decline in interest rates more than offset a sigguift rebound in the value of the plan’s assetschvhecessitated the recording of an additional
aftertax charge of $19.5 million ($32.2 million preta®n February 6, 2004, we made a voluntary contidbudf $125.0 million to the pensic
plan with the proceeds from the issuance of comstock. In September 2004, we made a second vojuotetribution of $43.0 million to the
pension plan. These 2004 voluntary contributiongroxied the funded status of the pension plan. ttitiath, the 2004 contributions eliminated
a PBGC variable rate premium of $3.0 million thatuld have otherwise become payable from the pemdamassets in 2004. In 2004, the
decline in interest rates resulted in a 25-basistmtiscount rate reduction that more than offhetihcreases in the value of the plan’s assets.
Therefore, we recorded in December 2004 an additiafter-tax charge of $23.7 million ($38.8 millipretax) as a result of an increase in the
accumulated pension benefit obligation. In Septergb85, we made a voluntary pension plan contrilbutif $6.1 million in order to maintain
a 90% funded level under the Employee Retiremertrire and Security Act (ERISA) criteria used to deiae funding levels. In 2005, an
additional 25-basis point decline in interest rated the cost impact of contractual pension planghks more than offset the increase in the
value of the plan assets. Therefore, we record&ktember 2005 an additional after-tax charge 8fZillion ($47.8 million pretax) as a
result of an increase in the accumulated pensiaoefiiebligation.

In September 2006, we made a voluntary pensiongaatribution of $80.0 million. In 2006, we recoddan after-tax credit of $54.5
million ($89.2 million pretax) to Shareholders’ Eyuas a result of a decrease in the accumulatedipe benefit obligation, which primarily
resulted from a 25-basis point increase in the glacount rate, combined with an increase in theevaf the plan assets from favorable plan
performance and the contribution. In 2006 we adbfEAS No. 158, which required us to record aiaéility to report the funded status of
our defined benefit pension and other postretirdrpkams on our balance sheet. As a result, we decoafter-tax charges to Shareholders’
Equity of $39.7 million and $33.6 million for thepsion and other postretirement plans, respectiy®8b.0 million and $55.0 million pretax,
respectively). The non-cash charges to ShareholHgtsty do not affect our ability to borrow undeur revolving credit agreement.

Based on revised assumptions and estimates, wa/be&lo mandatory contributions will be requiredil2209. We may elect to make
selective voluntary contributions, when appropri&tering the third quarter of 2006, the “PensiontBction Act of 2006” became law. Among
the stated objectives of the law are the protedidmoth pension beneficiaries and the financialltieof the PBGC. To accomplish these
objectives, the new law requires sponsors to fuafthdd benefit pension plans earlier than previeggiirements and to pay increased PBGC
premiums. The impact of the law cannot be fullyeased until all the implementation rules are phikelisbut the law does require defined
benefit plans to be fully funded in 2011. This vaiticelerate and potentially increase our pensian fuinding requirements.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2006 2005 2004

($in millions, except per share amounts)

Sales $3,151.¢ $2,357.} $1,996.¢
Cost of Goods Sold (exclusive of the LIFO inventbaguidation gains shown belov 2,823.( 1,999.° 1,765.:
LIFO Inventory Liquidation Gain 25.¢ 0.¢ 0.2
Gross Margir 354.7 358.¢ 231.¢
Selling and Administratio 176.¢ 176.: 141.(
Research and Developme 4.5 4.2 3.6
Restructuring Charge 17.€ 0.2 9.€
Other Operating Incom 6.7 9.1 5.4

Operating Incomu 162.4 187.2 82.¢
Earnings of No-consolidated Affiliate: 46.C 38.t 10.1
Interest Expens 20.c 19.¢ 20.2
Interest Income 11.€ 18.c 1.6
Other Income 15 i1z 455
Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes @uachulative Effect of Accountin

Change 201.¢ 225.¢ 79.2

Income Tax Provisio 51.7 85.¢ 28.t
Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulaifiect of Accounting Chang 149.7 139.7 50.7
Discontinued Operation

Income from Discontinued Operations, ! — — 0.€

Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — — 3.t
Income before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Cha 149.7 139.7 54.¢
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, I — (6.9 —
Net Income $ 149.7 $ 133: $ 54¢

Basic Income per Common Sha

Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulai¥fect of Accounting Chang $ 2.0€ $ 1.9¢ $ 0.7¢
Income from Discontinued Operations, I — — 0.01
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — — 0.0t
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, I — (0.09) —
Net Income $ 2.0¢€ $ 18i $ 0.8C

Diluted Income per Common Sha

Income from Continuing Operations before Cumula@¥fect of Accounting Chang $ 2.0€ $ 1.9t $ 0.7¢
Income from Discontinued Operations, ! — — 0.01
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — — 0.0t
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, I — (0.09) —
Net Income $ 2.0€ $ 1.8¢ $ 0.8C

2006 Compared to 2005

For 2006, total company sales were $3,151.8 miliompared with $2,357.7 million last year, an imse of $794.1 million, or 349
Chlor Alkali Products sales increased by $55.9iamillor 9%, from last year due to higher ECU priaelsich increased approximately 8%.
Chlor Alkali Products shipment volumes decreasigh#y from the prior year. In the Metals segmesatles increased by $709.4 million, or
51%, over 2005. The increase in Metals segmens s@ds primarily the result of increased metal wideverage copper and zinc prices
increased 84% and 137%, respectively, during 2@fchester sales increased by $28.8 million, or 8&6n 2005 primarily due to increased
selling prices and shipments to commercial custsmer

Gross margin decreased $4.2 million, or 1%, fro@32@rimarily as a result of higher pension cosis kigher environmental costs off:
by higher ECU selling prices for Chlor Alkali Praxta and $25.9 million of LIFO inventory liquidatigrains primarily associated with the
closure of the Waterbury and Seymour facilitiepag of
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the 2006 Metals restructuring program. Gross mangis also impacted by recoveries from third paifesnvironmental costs incurred and
expensed in prior periods of $1.2 million in 20@8rpared to $38.5 million in 2005. Gross margin ae@entage of sales decreased to 11% in
2006 from 15% in 2005. This margin percentage desmreeflects higher Metals sales resulting fromeiased metal values, higher pension
costs, which includes a $5.4 million pension climiant charge resulting from the transition of atjpor of the Metals and Winchester hourly
workforce from a defined benefit pension plan efined contribution pension plan, higher environtaécosts, offset in part by the higher
ECU selling prices, and the LIFO inventory liquidat gains.

Selling and administration expenses as a percenfegges were 6% in 2006 and 7% in 2005. Sellimgd) @dministration expenses in 2
were higher by $0.6 million than 2005 primarily doencreased pension expenses ($5.1 million),drigkock option compensation expense as
a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R, which now reepishare-based compensation to be expensed ($o@)nincreased salary costs ($3.0
million) primarily resulting from normal escalatipthird party fees associated with the July 2006 éxchange ($1.2 million), higher
consulting fees ($2.8 million), and increased itiencompensation ($0.8 million). These increasesavsubstantially offset by a lower level of
legal and legal-related settlement expenses ($hillién), which were higher in the prior year dwedosts associated with legacy
environmental issues, lower bad debt expense (#illién), decreased rent charges ($1.2 millionyatily due to the relocation of our
corporate office in Connecticut, and reduced insceacosts ($1.1 million).

Restructuring charges of $17.6 million for 2006tet to the closure of the Waterbury and Seymatilitfas in the Metals segment, and
primarily included lease and other contract termidmacosts, facility costs and equipment wiits, and employee severance and related bi
costs. Restructuring charges of $0.3 million foB2@vere for the corporate office relocation, anzluded primarily employee severance and
related benefit costs.

Other operating income for 2006 included a $6.0ionlinsurance recovery for Hurricane Katrina besis interruption experienced in
2005 and early 2006 in our Chlor Alkali Product&i@ions and a gain of $0.7 million on the disposiof a former manufacturing plant. Otl
operating income for 2005 included the gains ondibposition of three real estate properties. Titst disposition represented the settlement of
a contested condemnation award relating to landcésted with a former warehousing facility. Theethwo transactions represented the
disposition of land associated with former manufdog plants.

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates weré.@4million for 2006, an increase of $7.5 milliawiin 2005, primarily due to higher
ECU selling prices and increased volumes at théB8lijoint venture.

Interest expense increased by $0.4 million, or 222006, due to the effect of higher short-terneiast rates, offset in part by a lower
level of outstanding debt.

Interest income for 2006 decreased by $6.5 miliompared to 2005. The 2005 interest income incluntdest of $11.4 million
associated with the recoveries from third partiesnyvironmental costs incurred and expensed irr péoiods and $0.3 million of interest
received from the disposition of real estate. Thisas were partially offset in 2006 by increasetgiest income for investments on short-term
marketable securities which improved returns, higiert-term interest rates, and higher average lbaknces.

The effective tax rate for 2006 included a $21.8iom reduction in income tax expense associatat thie settlement of certain audit
issues related to the audits for the years 192082, principally the tax treatment of capital ksgenerated in 1997 and other tax matters. The
effective tax rate for 2006 of 36.4%, which wasseffby the $21.6 million reduction, is higher tlihe 35% U.S. federal statutory rate prima
due to state income taxes offset in part by theedtim manufacturing deduction and utilization oftaim state tax credits. The effective tax rate
of 38.1% for 2005 included a $1.2 million reductiarincome tax expense (0.6% reduction in effectiverate) resulting from the refunds of
interest paid in connection with the 2004 settletoércertain tax issues related to prior years. d@tfiective tax rate for 2005 was higher thar
35% U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due tesincome taxes and the accrual of interest agstashich may become payable in the future.

2005 Compared to 2004

For 2005, total company sales were $2,357.7 miliompared with $1,996.8 million in 2004, an inceea$360.9 million, or 18%.
Chlor Alkali Products sales increased from 2004b§2.0 million due to higher ECU
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selling prices, which increased by 52% from 2004 amere offset in part by 6% lower volumes. In thethds segment, sales increased $172.6
million, or 14%, over 2004. The increase in the detegment sales was the result of higher matagpoffset in part by lower shipment
volumes. Average copper prices increased 30% d200%. Winchester sales increased by $26.3 milbo8%, from 2004 due to increased
demand from the U.S. military and law enforcemerstomers and a slight increase in domestic comalesales due to higher selling prices.

Gross margin increased $127.0 million, or 55%, &394 primarily as a result of higher ECU sellingces for chlor alkali products.
Gross margin as a percentage of sales increasé¥ian 2005 from 12% in 2004. The gross marginataticrease of $127.0 million reflected
the higher ECU prices. The resulting margin pe@gatincrease also reflects the higher ECU selliiggp and was offset in part by higher
metals sales resulting from increased metal vadnesby lower gross margins in the Metals and Wistdresegments. Gross margin and gross
margin as a percentage of sales were also pogiiivgacted by recoveries from third parties of $3®illion of environmental costs incurred
and expensed in prior periods.

Selling and administration expenses as a percewnfaggdes were 7% in 2005 and 2004. Selling andiridtration expenses in 2005 were
$35.3 million higher than in 2004 primarily dueadigher level of legal expenses primarily assedatith legacy environmental matters,
including recovery actions for environmental cqstsviously incurred and expensed ($16.5 milliord #rird-party legal-related settlement
costs ($7.8 million), pension expense ($7.8 miljand bad debt expense ($2.3 million). These guste than offset cost savings of $3.5
million generated from the corporate office reldmat

Restructuring charges for 2005 of $0.3 million camgul to $9.6 million for 2004. These restructurthgrges were for the corporate
office relocation and included primarily employeerance and related benefit costs, relocationresgygrension curtailment expense and the
incurred cost for outplacement services.

Other operating income of $9.1 million for 2005lirded the gains on the disposition of three retdtegproperties. The first disposition
represented the settlement of a contested condemraatard relating to land associated with a formarehousing facility. The other two
transactions represented the disposition of landaated with former manufacturing plants. Othegraging income for 2004 included a non-
recurring gain of $5.5 million related to a settethof a contract matter with an outside third yart

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates wer8.$3nillion for 2005, an increase of $28.4 millisom $10.1 million for 2004,
primarily due to higher ECU selling prices at thenBelt joint venture.

Interest expense decreased by $0.3 million, oria®005 because of the favorable impact on intexegénse from a lower level of
outstanding net debt and was offset by higher sieon interest rates. During 2005, $52.0 milliordebt was repaid.

Interest income for 2005 increased by $16.4 milfirmm 2004. The 2005 interest income included ggeof $11.4 million associated
with the recoveries from third parties of enviromtad costs incurred and expensed in prior periodis®0.3 million of interest received from
the disposition of real estate. Also, interest medncreased as the result of higher average adahdes and increased shtanm interest rate:

Other income decreased by $3.0 million from 200¢harily due to a $2.0 million gain on the sale af equity interest in an insurance
investment in 2004.

The effective tax rate of 38.1% for 2005 include®tla2 million reduction in income tax expense (0.&uction in effective tax rate)
resulting from the refunds of interest paid in cection with the 2004 settlement of certain tax ésstelated to prior years. The 2005 effective
tax rate is higher than the 35% U.S. federal stayutate primarily due to state income taxes amdatcrual of interest on taxes which may
become payable in the future. The effective tag cdt35.8% for 2004 included a $2.3 million redantin income tax expense (2.9% reduction
in effective tax rate) associated with the settlethud certain issues related to income tax auditstfe years 1992 through 2000. The 2004
effective tax rate was higher than the 35% U.Seffaldstatutory rate primarily due to state incomrees and income in certain foreign
jurisdictions being taxed at higher rat
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On December 31, 2005, we adopted FIN No. 47 amafded an after-tax charge of $6.4 million ($10.5ion pretax) as a cumulative
effect of an accounting change. FIN No. 47 clasifiehen sufficient information is available to esitman asset retirement obligation. This
charge is principally related to asset retireméatigations for production technology and buildingterials.

SEGMENT RESULTS

We define segment results as income (loss) befbeedst expense, interest income, other incomeirmutne taxes and include the res
of non-consolidated affiliates. Consistent with guédance in SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Semgsef an Enterprise and Related
Information,” we have determined it is appropritténclude the operating results of nooAsolidated affiliates in the relevant segmerariitia
results. Our management considers the SunBelt Gtkali Partnership to be an integral componenthef Chlor Alkali Products segment and
Yamaha-Olin Metal Corporation to be an integral poment of the Metals segment. Each is engagecisame business activity as the
segment, including joint or overlapping marketimgnagement, manufacturing, and technology developfoactions. Inter-segment sales of
$69.1 million, $47.7 million and $37.3 million ftlhe years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, reptiesy the sale of ammunition cartridge
cups to Winchester from Metals, at prices that apipnrate market, have been eliminated from Metajgramnt sales.

2006 2005 2004
($in millions)
Sales;
Chlor Alkali Products $ 666.1 $ 610.Z $ 448.:
Metals 2,112.: 1,402.; 1,230.:
Winchestel 373.¢ 344.¢ 318.t
Total Sales $3,151.¢ $2,357." $1,996.¢
Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes @uadhulative Effect of Accounting Chanc
Chlor Alkali Productg® $ 256.: $ 237.( $ 83.C
Metals® 58.2 34.C 50.5
Winchestel 15.¢ 7.8 21.¢
Corporate/Othel
Pension (Expense) Incorfie (19.2) (2.0 11.2
Environmental (Provision) Crec (22.6¢) 15.¢ (23.9
Other Corporate and Unallocated Cc (69.2) (75.7) (46.2)
Restructuring Charge (17.¢) (0.3 (9.6)
Other Operating Incom 6.7 9.1 5.5
Interest Expens (20.9) (19.¢ (20.2)
Interest Income 11.€ 18.c 1.9
Other Income 1.5 1.t 45
Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes @uathulative Effect of Accounting Chan $ 201.¢ $ 225.¢ $ 79.2

(1) Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates areluded in the segment results consistent with igemant’s monitoring of the operating segments. 8draings from non-consolidated
affiliates, by segment, are as follov

2006 2005 2004

Chlor Alkali Products $45.:  $37.6  $9.C
Metals 0.7 0.7 11
Earnings of no-consolidated affiliate $46.C $38.t  $10.1

I I I

(2) The service cost and the amortization ofps&rvice cost components of pension expense defatihe employees of the operating segments kreaged to the operating segments
based on their respective estimated census ddtath&r components of pension costs are includeébirporate/Other and include items such as theotggeeturn on plan assets,
interest cost and recognized actuarial gains asgbk The 2006 curtailment charge is included ip&@ate/Other and represents the accelerated ritioogaf prior service costs. The
summary of pension costs is allocated as follc

2006 2005 2004

Service cost and prior service ¢ $24.¢  $24z2 $22.C
Other components of pension cc 13.€ 2.0 (11.9)

Subtotal 38.7 26.2 10.7
Curtailment charg 5.4 — 1.2
Net periodic benefit co: $44.1  $26.z2 $11.¢
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Chlor Alkali Products
2006 Compared to 2005

Chlor Alkali Product’ sales for 2006 were $666.1 million compared to $&hdillion for 2005, an increase of $55.9 milli@r,9%. The
sales increase was primarily due to higher ECUnmiovhich increased 8% from 2005, and was paytiafiiset by 1% lower volumes. Balanc
demand for both chlorine and caustic soda in 20@6/ad operating rates and pricing to remain staldigher energy costs and lower chlorine
values in derivatives for Asian producers were pritg responsible for limiting imports of caustioda for much of 2006. Our ECU netbacks,
excluding our SunBelt joint venture, were approxieha$550 for 2006 compared to approximately $52005, an increase of 8%. Our
operating rates for 2006 were 91% of capacity, cmeg to 92% in 2005.

Chlor Alkali Products posted segment income of $25#illion for 2006, compared to $237.0 million 005, an increase of $19.3
million, or 8%. Segment income was higher in 2086duse of higher selling prices ($40.4 million) &mebrable SunBelt operating results
($7.5 million) which were partially offset by higheperating costs ($22.9 million) and lower voluni®s.5 million). Operating expenses
increased primarily due to increases in distributosts and manufacturing costs which includedritég and increased maintenance
expenses. The operating results from the SunBiekt yenture included interest expense of $5.3 onlland $5.7 million in 2006 and 2005,
respectively, on the SunBelt Notes.

2005 Compared to 2004

Chlor Alkali Product’ sales for 2005 were $610.2 million compared to $24&illion for 2004, an increase of $162.0 milliar,36%.
The sales increase was due to higher ECU pricihgsiwincreased 52% in 2005 and more than offsetd®ér volumes. In 2005, ECU pricing
increased each quarter as price increases werernmepked and contract terms and price indexing icoatl to favorably impact our netbacks
throughout the year. Our ECU netback, excluding®umBelt joint venture, was approximately $510Z005 compared to approximately $335
for 2004. The fourth quarter 2005 ECU netback wazaximately $545. The 2005 chlorine and causticipyg was a result of a tight market,
resulting primarily from a strong worldwide econoiayd the capacity rationalization that has occuimatie U.S. chlor alkali industry. The
volumes in 2005 were lower due to the effects oderhurricanes during the third quarter, which edusistomer outages and disruptions to the
transportation system and a reduction in thirdypsates volumes. Although none of our facilitiesevdamaged by these hurricanes, these
factors reduced our operating rate during the sbaif of 2005 to 87% of capacity, compared to 9#ing the second half of 2004. Our
operating rates for 2005 were 92% compared to M2004.

Chlor Alkali Products posted segment income of $23illion, compared to $83.0 million for 2004. $aent income was higher in 2005
because of higher selling prices ($177.7 milliomdl &avorable SunBelt operating results ($28.8 oml)j which were partially offset by higher
operating costs ($28.1 million) and lower volum®84.3 million). The higher selling prices at SurtBe¢re partially offset by higher
manufacturing costs and operating expenses. Theeh@perating costs were due to increased eldgtdosts primarily driven by natural gas
and coal prices and increased maintenance expekagisionally, operating expenses increased dugdgher administrative expenses primarily
salaries, incentive compensation (resulting frootéased segment income), and legal expenses. Enatioyg results from the SunBelt joint
venture included interest expense of $5.7 millind 6.2 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively tioa SunBelt Notes.
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Metals
2006 Compared to 2005

Sales for 2006 were $2,112.1 million compared tessaf $1,402.7 million for 2005, an increase 008%$.4 million, or 51%. This increa:
reflects higher metal values as shipment volumesireed constant. The average COMEX copper price38a39 per pound in 2006 compared
with $1.68 per pound in 2005, an increase of 84k& dverage zinc price was $1.49 per pound in 266&ered to $0.63 per pound in 2005
increase of 137%. Estimated industry demand in 200@ased by 2% from 2005 levels.

Shipments to the electronics segment increased¥%yi@ 2006, due primarily to increased demand rEsalt of an improved position
with a key customer. Ammunition segment shipmemtseased 13% for 2006 due to higher demand fotanjliordnance while shipments to
the building products and automotive segments edlby 6% and 15%, respectively, due to lower mmgustarts and decreased automotive
production. Coinage shipments were 4% higher thahylear.

The Metals segment reported income of $58.2 mililoA006 compared to $34.0 million in 2005, an @&xe of $24.2 million, or 71%.
The increased segment income was due to $25.9mdli LIFO inventory liquidation gains primarily saciated with the closure of our
Waterbury and Seymour facilities. Metals segmeotime for 2006 also included a $2.3 million gaimirthe settlement of an insurance claim
related to the 2004 fire that occurred in the eieak control room for the hot mill located in Easton, IL. Metals earnings also increased due
to improved product pricing ($25.7 million), ancetbost benefit from the 2006 restructuring ($3.4iom), offset by higher operating costs
($31.2 million), which included higher metal meditoss costs ($15.6 million) caused by higher metiales and higher energy costs ($6.0
million). The price of copper and zinc increasedd$6 and 137%, respectively, from 2005. Naturalayas electricity prices increased 20%
and 17%, respectively, from 2005.

2005 Compared to 2004

Sales for 2005 were $1,402.7 million compared tessaf $1,230.1 million for 2004, an increase of 35 million, or 14%. This increase
reflects higher metal values offset in part by lowsieipment volumes. The average COMEX copper priae $1.68 per pound in 2005
compared with $1.29 per pound in 2004, an increa88%. Total shipment volumes decreased by 3% 2604, while estimated industry
demand in 2005 was 8% below 2004 levels.

Overall shipments in 2005 were 3% lower than in2&hipments to the automotive segment decreas2@lib by 9% due to reduced
production throughout the U.S. automotive supplgichCoinage shipments were 17% higher than laest emarily due to increased demand
from the U.S. Mint mainly resulting from the commanative nickel program. Shipments to the ammunigegment increased 15% for 2005
compared to 2004 due to the higher demand foranyliordnance. Shipments to our building producttarers decreased by 8% from 2004.

The Metals segment reported income of $34.0 miliioA005 compared to $50.5 million in 2004, a dase=of $16.5 million, or 33%.
Lower earnings were primarily a result of lowermhient volumes in 2005 ($4.8 million), higher enecggts ($4.6 million), higher metal
melting loss costs caused by higher copper prisé8(million), and higher medical and workers congagion costs ($4.8 million). In addition,
Metals earnings were negatively impacted due tdatle of hydrogen availability due to Hurricane Kia&. The lack of hydrogen negatively
impacted our plant efficiencies and product yieltlse Metals 2004 earnings were affected by thesaasative to the fire in the electrical
control room for the hot mill located at East Altdb of $4.7 million.

Winchester
2006 Compared to 2005
Sales were $373.6 million in 2006 compared to $4¢illion for 2005, an increase of $28.8 milliom,&%. Sales of ammunition to the
domestic and international commercial customeneamed $26.6 million due to higher selling priced higher shipments. Shipments to law

enforcement organizations also increased by $3libbmin 2006. These increases were partially dffselower shipments to industrial
customers. Military sales remained constant froi®520
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Winchester reported segment income of $15.8 militer2006 compared to $7.8 million in 2005, an eage of $8.0 million, or 103%.
Higher selling prices and the benefits from inceghsales volumes ($25.5 million) were partiallyseffby increased commodity and material
costs and higher operating costs ($17.8 million).

2005 Compared to 2004

Sales were $344.8 million in 2005 compared to $3h8@llion for 2004, an increase of $26.3 milliom,&%. Shipments of ammunition
the U.S. military increased by $18.9 million in 30@vhile shipments to law enforcement organizatioeseased $6.4 million. Domestic
commercial sales increased slightly in 2005 dugidber selling prices.

The Winchester segment reported income of $7.8anilh 2005 compared to $21.9 million in 2004, adase of $14.1 million, or 64%.
The benefits from increased sales volumes and higgiking prices were more than offset by higheyp=r, lead, steel, and resin costs ($17.7
million), higher medical and workers compensatiosts ($3.9 million), and start-up costs at the @kfdS facility.

Corporate/Other
2006 Compared to 2005

For 2006, pension expense included in CorporateiQtias $19.2 million compared to $2.0 million iM80 The $17.2 million increase
corporate pension expense was due to the impactavier discount rate and the higher amortizatioplan losses, primarily investment losses
on plan assets from prior periods. The 2006 Cotpfdher pension expense also included a curtatlictearge of $5.4 million resulting from
the transition of a portion of the Metals and Wiester hourly workforces from a defined benefit pemglan to a defined contribution pension
plan. On a total company basis, pension expens20f@® was $44.1 million compared to $26.2 milliar2D05.

Charges to income for environmental investigatorg eemedial activities were $22.6 million for 20@émpared with credits to income
of $15.8 million in 2005. These amounts includecbreries from third parties of environmental castairred and expensed in prior periods of
$1.2 million and $38.5 million for 2006 and 200&spectively. Charges to income for investigatory emedial activities without these
recoveries would have been $23.8 million in 2008 pared to $22.7 million in 2005. These chargeseglamarily to expected future remec
and investigatory activities associated with paahuafacturing operations and former waste dispatsd.s

For 2006, other corporate and unallocated coste $€9.2 million compared to $75.7 million in 20@5decrease of $6.5 million, or 9%.
Legal and legal-related settlement expenses, whare higher in 2005 due to costs associated wighdg environmental issues, decreased by
$12.7 million, rent charges decreased $1.4 mildoe to the relocation of our corporate office im@ecticut, incentive compensation decre:
by $1.3 million, and insurance expense was $0.5amilower. These decreases were partially offgeinbreased asset retirement obligation
charges of $3.0 million, which was lower in 200%da a $2.5 million adjustment for certain hazaslaaste units, stock option compensation
expense of $2.9 million as a result of adopting SF¥o. 123R, which now requires share-basmupensation to be expensed, higher const
fees of $1.9 million, and third party fees of $inRlion associated with the July 2006 debt exchange

2005 Compared to 2004

In 2005, pension expense included in Corporate/Qtias $2.0 million compared with pension incomé&bi.3 million in 2004. Th
$13.3 million increase in corporate pension expeveedue to the cost impact of plan changes, tpadtnof a lower discount rate and the
higher amortization of plan losses, primarily invesnt losses on plan assets from prior periodsa @al company basis, pension expense for
2005 was $26.2 million compared to $10.7 millior2D04. We made a voluntary pension contributio@f million in 2005 to maintain a
90% funded level as prescribed under ERISA.

Credits to income for investigatory and remediaivitees were $15.8 million for 2005, which includi$38.5 million in recoveries from
third parties of environmental costs incurred axgemsed in prior periods. Charges to income foestigatory and remedial activities, without
these recoveries in 2005, would have been $22libmih 2005 compared with $23.4 million in 200héBe charges relate primarily to
expected future remedial and investigatory acésitissociated with past manufacturing operatiodgs@mer waste disposal sites.
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For 2005, other corporate and unallocated costs %&5.7 million compared with $46.2 million in 20@h increase of $29.5 million, or
64%. This increase was primarily due to higherllegaenses related to a higher level of legal agdlirelated settlement expenses associated
with legacy environmental matters, including reagvactions for environmental costs previously imedrand expensed ($23.6 million), higher
incentive compensation expense ($2.8 million) dueigher earnings, increased employee benefit esqee($1.1 million) as a result of
reinstating company matched Contributing Employ@s&ship Plan (CEOP) contributions that had bespended in 2003 and workers
compensation costs, and increased consulting $6 (nillion). These increases more than offsectst savings resulting from the corporate
headquarters relocation ($3.5 million).

2007 OUTLOOK
Earnings in the first quarter of 2007 are projec¢tetie in the 25 cents per diluted share range.

In Chlor Alkali Products, we expect both first qiear2007 shipment volumes and pricing to be lowantthe first quarter of 2006. We
experienced a seasonal decline in chlorine demaridgithe fourth quarter which has continued ime first quarter of 2007. During the fourth
quarter, a $40 per ton caustic soda price increaseannounced, a portion of which we expect to émgant during the first quarter. The
reduced industry operating rates experienced ificiineh quarter and increased caustic exports tiglieened domestic caustic supply. In the
first quarter of 2007, we expect to see some dedfirour ECU netbacks from the fourth quarter bqateet ECU netbacks to be flat in the first
half of 2007 and we anticipate some gradual, busigmificant, decline in the second half of 2007.

In the Metals business, we expect lower volumdsetoffset by higher pricing. We expect the firsagar 2007 Metals earnings to be
comparable with the first quarter of 2006.

Winchester results are expected to improve fronfiteequarter of 2006 to the first quarter of 2Qf¥#marily due to improved pricing and
increased volumes partially offset by higher comityocbsts. Winchester has announced eight priceeases since the beginning of 2004. The
last of these increases was effective Decembeddg.2Z2ommodity material prices are likely to congrto challenge Winchester in 2007. The
price of copper has moderated some during Janbatyhe price of lead has continued to increase.Jemuary 2007 spot price for lead has
been 74 cents per pound, compared to a spot priteifirst quarter of 2006 of 56 cents. Winchestarsumes approximately four times as
much lead as copper annually. We expect Winchas®07 military sales to increase from 2006 levels.

We expect 2007 pension expense to decrease toxapately $29.0 million from $44.1 million in 2008 his decline reflects the
combination of a 25-basis point increase in thealist rate, the voluntary $80.0 million pensiontcitnution made in 2006, favorable
performance on plan assets in 2006, and the tramsif a portion of the Metals and Winchester hpwbrkforce from a defined benefit
pension plan to a defined contribution pension pldre first quarter of 2007 pension expense is ebggeto decline approximately $1.0 millic

We expect to record $2.0 million of additional ajes in 2007 associated with 2006 Metals restruagLeictions.

During 2007, we will continue to address the caistcture in our Metals business. We have initistrdiggressive inventory reduction
program, which has the objective of reducing ineenbalances by 20% over the next two years. Thedections, which will be in addition to
the 10% reductions realized in 2006, are expectguidduce additional inventory liquidation gairg exact amount of which will reflect
market prices for copper and zinc.

We believe the 2007 effective tax rate will behie B4% to 35% range. This reduced rate reflects@erase in the U.S. manufacturing
credit contained in the Jobs Creation Act of 20@4nf3% to 6% in 2007.

We are currently forecasting 2007 capital spentiinge in the $90.0 to $95.0 million range, apprcatiety 65% of which will be directed
at the Chlor Alkali business. The 2007 capital stdeg will include the completion of the bleach erp®n projects and ongoing maintenance
projects which are not expected to cause outagesri€hlor Alkali Products operations.

Finally, during the first quarter of 2007, we eeftinto a sale/leaseback transaction for chlorilears that we acquired in 2005 and
2006. This transaction reduced our fixed assetppyoximately $16.0 million.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

2006 2005 2004

($ in millions)

Cash Outlays

Remedial and Investigatory Spending (Charged teRe$ $ 35.¢ $ 19.€ $ 16.€
Recoveries from Third Partit (1.2 (38.5) —
Capital Spendini 3.1 3.2 2.8
Plant Operations (Charged to Cost of Goods £ 17.2 17.1 16.€
Total Cash Outlay $ 55.C $ 14 $36.2

Reserve for Environmental Liabilitie

Beginning Balanc $102.¢ $ 99.¢ $93.C
Charges to Incom 23.¢ 22.1 23.4
Remedial and Investigatory Spend (35.9 (19.€) (16.€)
Ending Balanct $ 90.¢ $102.¢ $99.¢

Remedial and investigatory spending increased @06 due to an expansive investigation at aasitethe implementation of remedial
actions at five other sites. Total environmentddted cash outlays for 2007 are estimated to beoappately $56.0 million, of which $35.0
million is expected to be spent on investigatorgt emedial efforts, $4.0 million on capital progeind $17.0 million on normal plant
operations. Historically, we have funded our envinental capital expenditures through cash flow faparations and expect to do so in the
future.

Cash outlays for remedial and investigatory adgé@sinssociated with former waste sites and pasatipes were not charged to income
but instead were charged to reserves establismestifh costs identified and expensed to incomeior pears. Cash outlays for normal plant
operations for the disposal of waste and the oeraind maintenance of pollution control equipmeamd facilities to ensure compliance with
mandated and voluntarily imposed environmentaligustandards were charged to income.

The establishment and implementation of federatestand local standards to regulate air, watedamtiquality has affected and will
continue to affect substantially all of our manufaing locations. Federal legislation providing fegulation of the manufacture, transportat
use, and disposal of hazardous and toxic substaacdsemediation of contaminated sites, has ingbadeitional regulatory requirements on
industry, particularly the chemicals industry. bidd@ion, implementation of environmental laws, sashthe Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act and the Clean Air Act, has required a1l continue to require new capital expendituaesl will increase plant operating costs.
We employ waste minimization and pollution preventprograms at our manufacturing sites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufagiuacilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigatad/ramedial activities are provided for in accomawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityreasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitystingate future costs depends on whether our
investigatory and remedial activities are in préfiamy or advanced stages. With respect to unaskeldéns, we accrue liabilities for costs that,
in our experience, we may incur to protect ourrigsts against those unasserted claims. Our actialddies for unasserted claims amounted
to $5.7 million at December 31, 2006. With resgedsserted claims, we accrue liabilities baserkaredial investigation, feasibility study,
remedial action and Operation, Maintenance and Mdng (OM&M) expenses that, in our experience,may incur in connection with the
asserted claims. Required site OM&M expenses dim&ed and accrued in their entirety for requipediods not exceeding 30 years, which
reasonably approximates the typical duration ofjleerm site OM&M. Charges or credits to incomeiforestigatory and remedial efforts were
material to operating results in 2006, 2005, an@42dnd may be material to net income in future year

Environmental provisions (credits) charged (credjite income were as follows:

2006 2005 2004
($ in millions)
Charges to Incom $23.¢ $22.7 $23.4
Recoveries from Third Parties of Costs Incurred Brgensed in Pric
Periods (1.2 (38.5) —
Total Provision (Credit $22.¢ $(15.) $23.2
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These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufaaguoperations and former waste
disposal sites.

Our estimated environmental liability at the en®006 was attributable to 75 sites, 16 of whicheMd SEPA National Priority List
(NPL) sites. Ten sites accounted for 72% of suahility and, of the remaining 65 sites, no one aiteounted for more than 2% of our
environmental liability. At two of these ten sit@semedial plan has been submitted by us and ar®et®ecision (ROD) or its equivalent has
not been issued. At three of the ten sites, pati@tite is subject to a remedial investigatiod another part is in the long-term OM&M stage.
At two of the sites, part of the site is subjectémedial action and another part is in the longit®M&M stage. One site is at the investigatory
stage. The two remaining sites are in long-term QWI&Il ten sites are either associated with pastufiacturing operations or former waste
disposal sites. None of the ten largest sites sgots more than 15% of the liabilities reservedwnconsolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2006 for future environmental expemes.

Our consolidated balance sheets included liakslitie future environmental expenditures to investigand remediate known sites
amounting to $90.8 million at December 31, 2006} $h02.9 million at December 31, 2005, of which $5%illion and $74.9 million were
classified as other noncurrent liabilities, resjyety. Those amounts do not take into account asgadinting of future expenditures or any
consideration of insurance recoveries or advantéschnology. Those liabilities are reassesseagiesdlly to determine if environmental
circumstances have changed and/or remediationt®Hod our estimate of related costs have chamged.result of these reassessments, future
charges to income may be made for additional ligdsl Of the $90.8 million included on our conslalied balance sheet at December 31, 2006
for future environmental expenditures, we currerttpect to utilize $55.9 million of the reserve foture environmental expenditures over the
next 5 years, $13.8 million for expenditures 6 @oygars in the future, and $21.1 million for expieumes beyond 10 years in the future. These
estimates are subject to a number of risks andrtaiotes, as described in Item 1A. “Risk FactorsavifEonmental Costs.”

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation, capital projects] aarmal plant operations are
expected to range between $45.0 million to $55l0aniover the next several years, $20.0 milliord®.0 million of which is for investigato
and remedial efforts, which are expected to begdthagainst reserves recorded on our balance $ibid¢ we do not anticipate a material
increase in the projected annual level of our emritental-related costs, there is always the pdisgitiiat such increases may occur in the
future in view of the uncertainties associated eitivironmental exposures. Environmental exposueeslifficult to assess for numerous
reasons, including the identification of new sisyelopments at sites resulting from investigasitglies, advances in technology, changes in
environmental laws and regulations and their apfiio, changes in regulatory authorities, the sgaat reliable data pertaining to identified
sites, the difficulty in assessing the involvemand financial capability of other potentially reggible parties (PRPs), and our ability to obtain
contributions from other parties and the lengthyetiperiods over which site remediation occurss fiassible that some of these matters (the
outcomes of which are subject to various unceiitghimay be resolved unfavorably to us, which conéderially adversely affect our financial
position or results of operations. At DecemberZI)6, we estimate we may have additional contingamironmental liabilities of $50.0
million in addition to the amounts for which we lesalready recorded as a reserve.

LEGAL MATTERS AND CONTINGENCIES

We and our subsidiaries are defendants in variegal lactions (including proceedings based on allegposures to asbestos) incidel
to our past and current business activities. Weriless some of these matters in “ltem 3—Legal Prdiegs.” While we believe that none of
these legal actions will materially adversely affeer financial position, in light of the inheremcertainties of the litigation concerning alleged
exposures, we cannot at this time determine whefigefinancial impact, if any, of these matterd wé material to our results of operations.

During the ordinary course of our business, comtimies arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation, or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization gfassible gain contingency. In certain instances sis environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the cleanup and remediati@n environmental site. There exists the pdggibf recovering a portion of these co:
from other parties. We account for gain contingesdn accordance with the provisions of SFAS NdAGcounting for Contingencies,” and
therefore do not record gain contingencies andgrize income until it is earned and realizable.
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LIQUIDITY, INVESTMENT ACTIVITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

Cash Flow Data
Provided By (Used For) 2006 2005 2004
($ in millions)
Qualified Pension Plan Contributio $ (80.0 $ (6.2 $(169.9
Net Operating Activitie: 64.7 278.¢ (136.9)
Capital Expenditure (80.9 (81.0 (55.7)
Net Investing Activities (112.2) (38.]) (26.5)
Net Financing Activitie: (56.9) (84.9) 120.4

In 2006, income exclusive of non-cash charges astl and cash equivalents on hand were used taéramr working capital
requirements, dividends, to make voluntary contidns to our qualified pension plans, and to inwesthort-term securities.

Operating Activities

In 2006, cash provided by operating activities dased by $214.2 million from 2005. In 2006, cagvioled by operating activities
included a contribution to our pension plan of $8@illion, a $89.3 million increase in cash tax pegnts which included the $46.7 million
payments to the IRS and state and local jurisdistfor the settlement of tax matters from 1996002 spending for environmental remedial
and investigatory activities of $35.9 million, aad increase in working capital of $32.4 millionfseft in part by $25.9 million of LIFO
inventory liquidation gains. In 2006, accounts reakle increased $43.6 million, primarily due tgtmér ECU prices in Chlor Alkali Products
and higher copper and zinc prices in Metals. Daysssoutstanding decreased by approximately foys ttam the prior year. Accounts paya
and accrued liabilities increased $58.7 millionigarily due to higher copper and zinc prices relatethe metal purchases and the timing of
invoice payments. The 84% and 137% increase i2006é average COMEX price of copper and the LMEeadtzinc, respectively, were
major contributors to the increase in accounts pigya

In 2005, cash provided by operating activities éased over 2004. In 2005, cash provided by operattivities included a reduction in
deferred taxes associated with the utilizatioraafloss carryforwards, higher profits from openasipa contribution to our pension plan of $6.1
million, and a reduction in working capital of $2Imillion, primarily due to an increase in accoupdyable. In 2004, cash utilized by opera
activities included pension plan contributions &69.4 million and tax payments of $43.0 million.2005, accounts receivable increased $52.1
million, primarily due to higher ECU prices in Chlalkali Products and higher copper prices in Metélays sales outstanding decreased by
approximately two days as all business segmentsoweg their days sales outstanding. Accounts payaitdl accrued liabilities increased by
$73.4 million, primarily due to the higher coppeicps related to the metal purchases and the tiwiimgvoice payments. The 44% increase in
the 2005 fourth quarter average COMEX price of esppas a major contributor to the increase in astopayable.

Capital Expenditures

Capital spending was $80.9 million in 2006, $81iliam in 2005, and $55.1 million in 2004. Capitgending in 2006 included increa:
spending for the expansion of our bleach manufagwapabilities and for enhancements to our raile@t in our Chlor Alkali Products
operations. These increases were offset by lowardipg in Winchester which completed the relocatiba product line in 2005. Capital
spending was 113% of depreciation in 2006 and 2D@&ositions of property, plant, and equipmentsisted primarily of the proceeds from
real estate transactions.

In 2007, we expect our capital spending to be é$%90.0 million to $95.0 million range. The 200¢rigase is primarily attributable to
higher spending for the completion of the bleaghagsion projects in our Chlor Alkali Products opieras and ongoing major maintenance
replacement projects, which are not expected teecautages at our Chlor Alkali Products facilitisiring the first quarter of 2007, we ente
into a sale/leaseback transaction for chlorineaad that were acquired in 2005 and 2006. We retlooefixed assets by approximately $16.0
million.
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Investing Activities

During 2006, we purchased $76.6 million of s-term investments to improve investment retu

The 2006, 2005 and 2004 increase in distributioms faffiliated companies, net, represents primanly share of the SunBelt joint
venture’s improved operating results, net of camjmgents to the affiliates.

In November 2004, we purchased certain businesgsasEMetal Foils LLC for $3.2 million. Metal FeiLLC is a distributor of
aluminum, stainless steel, and copper productgddda Willoughby, OH. We relocated the purchasgskts to our A.J. Oster facility in
Alliance, OH. The purchase price exceeded thevilire of the identifiable net assets acquired h $dillion. The acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method of acanynti

In April 2004, we sold our equity interest in alsumance investment resulting in proceeds from éfe af $2.6 million. In June 2004, we
sold our Aegis business to HCC Industries Inc. Itegpin proceeds from the sale of $17.1 million.

Financing Activities

In July 2006, we issued $125.0 million of 2016 Noamd paid a premium of $18.8 million to the erigthote holders in exchange
$125.0 million of 2011 Notes.

On July 30, 2004 we entered into a five-year ser@wolving credit facility of $160.0 million, whictill expire on July 30, 2009. At
December 31, 2006, we had $120.2 million availaiiéer this senior revolving credit facility. At Deober 31, 2006, we had issued $39.8
million of letters of credit under an $80.0 milliteiter of credit subfacility for the purpose opgorting certain long-term debt, certain workers
compensation insurance policies, and plant closndepost-closure obligations. We may select varitmating rate borrowing options. It
includes various customary restrictive covenamisiuiding restrictions related to the ratio of debearnings before interest expense, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (leverage ratio) gnedratio of earnings before interest expense stadepreciation and amortization to interest
expense (coverage ratio).

In connection with the relocation of Winchesteiisfire operations to Oxford, MS, in November 200& completed an industrial
development revenue bond financing of $2.9 milliomitilize certain state tax incentives.

In June 2005, we repaid the $50.0 million, 7.11%lim@-term Series A notes, which became due. In M2@04, we used $17.5 million
from the proceeds of our February 2004 stock offgto repay the lllinois Industrial Pollution CooltRevenue Bond, which became due in
March 2004. In June 2004, we repaid the $8.1 milllbnois Environmental Improvement Bond, whichchene due in June 2004.

On February 3, 2004, we issued and sold 10 milliweres of our common stock at a public offeringgpof $18.00 per share. Net
proceeds from the sale were $177.8 million.

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we issued 1,135,948,718; and 793,778 shares of common stock, respeégtivith a total value of $19
million, $15.3 million and $14.3 million, respeatly, to the Olin CEOP. These shares were issusdtisfy the investment in our common
stock resulting from employee contributions, outechang contributions and re-invested dividends.

The percent of total debt to total capitalizati@titased to 32% at December 31, 2006, from 38%aatgnd 2005 and 47% at year-end
2004. The decrease from year-end 2005 was due filsirteathe higher shareholders’ equity resultingrh the net income for the year 2006.
The 2005 decrease from year-end 2004 was due pisinathe higher shareholders’ equity resultingrr the net income for the year 2005 and
the repayment of the $50.0 million, 7.11% mediummt&Series A notes in June 2005.

Dividends per common share were $0.80 in 2006, 20@52004. Total dividends paid on common stockuartesl to $58.1 million in
2006, $57.1 million in 2005, and $55.7 million i6Q2.

The payment of cash dividends is subject to thereli|on of our board of directors and will be detared in light of then-current
conditions, including our earnings, our operatiang, financial conditions, our capital
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requirements and other factors deemed relevantbpaard of directors. In the future, our boardiméctors may change our dividend policy,
including the frequency or amount of any divideimdjght of then-existing conditions.

LIQUIDITY AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Our principal sources of liquidity are from casldaash equivalents, short-term investments, cashfflom operations and short-term
borrowings under our senior revolving credit fagil\We also have access to the debt and equityetsark

Cash flow from operations is variable as a resuihe cyclical nature of our operating results, ethhave been affected recently by
economic cycles in many of the industries we sesueh as vinyls, urethanes, pulp and paper, auteey@lectronics, housing, and the
telecommunications sectors. Cash flow from openatie affected by changes in ECU selling priceseduby the changes in the
supply/demand balance of chlorine and caustic)tieguin the chlor alkali business having signifitdeverage on our earnings. For example,
assuming all other costs remain constant and iateensumption remains approximately the sameOgp®t ECU selling price change equates
to an approximate $11.0 million annual change inreuenues and pretax profit when we are operatirfgll capacity. In addition, cash flow
from operating activities is affected by the prioésopper and zinc. For example, assuming Metgdsnent shipment volumes remain the
same, a $0.10 per pound change in the metal jesedis in an approximate $4.0 million change iniauestment in working capital.

Our current debt structure is used to fund ourr®ss operations. As of December 31, 2006, we hagitierm borrowings, including the
current installment, of $253.9 million of which $2nillion was at variable rates. We have enter¢aliimerest rate swaps on $101.6 million of
our underlying fixed-rate debt obligations wher&le agree to pay variable rates to a counterparty, whturn, pays us fixed rates. The
counterparty to these agreements is a major fiahimgtitution. We have designated the swap agre&sres fair value hedges of the risk of
changes in the value of fixed rate debt due to gbarn interest rates for a portion of our fixetedaorrowings. Accordingly, the swap
agreements have been recorded at their fair maghke¢ of $3.6 million and are included in Other étsson the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet, with a corresponding increase igdhging amount of the related debt. No gain sslbas been recorded as the contracts met
the criteria to qualify for hedge accounting treatriwith no ineffectiveness. In July 2006, we reediproceeds of $0.4 million for the
termination of a $30.0 million interest rate swhpttwas a fair value hedge for a portion of the532nillion 2011 Notes that were part of the
July 2006 debt exchange. Annual maturities of leerga debt are $1.7 million in 2007; $7.7 million2008, none in 2009 and 2010, $77.3
million in 2011, and a total of $167.2 million tleafter. Commitments from banks under our revolareglit facility are an additional source of
liquidity.

We utilize a credit facility of $160.0 million aredandby letters of credit. In July 2004, we entengd a five-year senior revolving credit
facility with a group of banksThis credit facility is described above under theton, “Financing Activities.” As of December 3006, we
did not have any outstanding borrowings underaheslit facility. At December 31, 2006, we had camsling standby letters of credit of $39.8
million. These letters of credit were used to suppertain long-term debt, certain workers comp&aransurance policies, and plant closure
and post-closure obligations.

We use operating leases for certain propertie$) agcailroad cars, distribution, warehousing dffid@space, data processing and office
equipment. Virtually none of our lease agreemeatgain escalation clauses or step rent provisieagire minimum rent payments under
operating leases having initial or remaining noneedable lease terms in excess of one year at Dware®d, 2006 are as follows: $23.8 million
in 2007; $19.2 million in 2008; $16.1 million in @9; $18.7 million in 2010; $9.1 million in 2011;a total of $34.3 million thereafter. Assets
under capital leases are not significant. Durirgfttst quarter of 2007, we entered into a $16.0ioni sale/leaseback transaction for chlorine
railcars that were acquired in 2005 and 2006.

On December 31, 1997, we entered into a long-teutfur dioxide supply agreement with Alliance Spédgi Chemicals, Inc. (Alliance),
formerly known as RFC SQ, Inc. Alliance has the obligation to deliver anifiyi86,000 tons of sulfur dioxide. Alliance ownsetbulfur dioxidt
plant, which is located at our Charleston, TN facénd is operated by us. The price for the sulfioxide is fixed over the life of the contract
and, under the terms of the contract, we are diglijeo make a monthly payment of $0.2 million refiess of the amount of sulfur dioxide
purchased. Commitments related to this agreemert2zd million per year for 2007 through 2011 afd$nillion in 2012. This supply
agreement expires in 2012.
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On February 3, 2004, we issued and sold 10 mibioares of our common stock at a public offeringgoof $18.00. Net proceeds from
the sale were $177.8 million and were used to naak®25.0 million voluntary contribution to our persplan. In March 2004, we used $17.5
million from the proceeds of the stock offeringrépay the lllinois Industrial Pollution Control Rewe Bond, which became due in March of
2004. The remaining balance ($35.3 million) of pineceeds was used in April 2004 to pay a portiofedéral income taxes related to prior
periods.

At December 31, 2006, we had $220.0 million regéstesecurities available for issuance with the Sklzreby from time to time, we
may issue debt securities, preferred stock anaiomeon stock, and associated warrants.

We and our partner, PolyOne Corporation (PolyOra) equally the SunBelt joint venture. Oxy Vinylsj¢nt venture between
OxyChem and PolyOne) is required to purchase 280sidind tons of chlorine based on a formula reletéts market price. We market the
excess chlorine and all of the caustic soda pratluElee construction of this plant and equipment firsenced by the issuance of $195.0
million of Guaranteed Senior Secured Notes due 20&& SunBelt joint venture sold $97.5 million ofi@anteed Senior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteedd3&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. We refdretset notes as the SunBelt Notes. The
SunBelt Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.23%apeum payable semiannually in arrears on eachZ2iaed December 22.

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and Poly@nguaranteed the Series G Notes, in both casssami to customary guaranty
agreements. Our guarantee and PolyOne’s guaramee\eeral, rather than joint. Therefore, we ate@guired to make any payments to
satisfy the Series G Notes guaranteed by PolyOnengolvency or bankruptcy of PolyOne will not amttically trigger acceleration of the
SunBelt Notes or cause us to be required to mak@@ats under our guarantee, even if PolyOne isiredjto make payments under its
guarantee. However, if the SunBelt joint venturesioot make timely payments on the SunBelt Notésther as a result of a failure to pay on
a guarantee or otherwise, the holders of the SuNBe#ES may proceed against the assets of the $joBe venture for repayment. If we were
to make debt service payments under our guaranteg,ould have a right to recover such payments fitterSunBelt joint venture.

Beginning on December 22, 2002 and each year thr@0§7, our SunBelt joint venture is required tpae$12.2 million of the SunBelt
Notes, of which $6.1 million is attributable to t8eries O Notes. After the payment of $6.1 mill@nthe Series O Notes in December 2(
our guarantee of these notes was $67.0 milliothérevent our SunBelt joint venture cannot makedadrithese payments, we would be requ
to fund our half of such payment. In certain ottiecumstances, we may also be required to repagtm®elt Notes prior to their maturity. We
and PolyOne have agreed that, if we or PolyOnenthte transfer our respective interests in the SUinBint venture and the transferring party
is unable to obtain consent from holders of 80%hefaggregate principal amount of the indebtedredated to the guarantee being transferred
after good faith negotiations, then we and Poly@ilebe required to repay our respective portiohthe SunBelt Notes. In such event, any
make whole or similar penalties or costs will b&lgay the transferring party.

Excluding our guarantee of the SunBelt Notes dbsdrabove, our long-term contractual commitmentduting the on and off-balance
sheet arrangements, consisted of the following:

Payments Due by Period

Lessthan 1-3 3-5 More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

($ in millions)

Debt obligations $253.¢ $ 17 $ 77 $77.% $ 167.c
Interest payments under debt obligations and isteete swap agreements 134.2 17.€ 34.¢ 34.c 47.F
Qualified pension plan contributiof® — — — — —
Non-qualified pension plan paymer 55.1 3.5 6.5 6.1 39.C
Postretirement benefit paymefits 87.¢ 10.2 18.2 17.¢ 41.4
Off-Balance Sheet Commitmen
Noncancelable operating lea: 121.2 23.€ 35.8 27.¢ 34.:
Purchasing commitment
Raw materials 149.C 129.1 14.1 5.2 0.€
Utilities 12.c 11. 04 04 —
Total $813.F  $197.7 $116.¢ $168.¢ $ 330.(
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(@) For the purposes of this table, we have aeduor all periods presented that there are nogdgsin the principal amount of any variable ratetdem the amounts outstanding on
December 31, 2006 and that there are no chandks nates from those in effect at December 31, 2@i6h ranged from 4.3% to 9.125'

(b) These amounts are only estimated paymentsraisg the continuation of postretirement benefitgrowth rate of 9% for 2007 and 8.25% for 2008efstimated healthcare cost
inflation, an annual expected rate of return onspemplan assets of 9%, and a discount rate origreptan obligations of 6%. These estimated paymarg subject to significant
variation and the actual payments may be moressrtiean the amounts estimated. Given the inherar@rtainty as to actual minimum funding requirersdnt qualified pension plans,
no amounts are included in this table for any mebieyond one year in the case of pensions. lkédyliwe will make cash payments in future peridsise discussion on “Pension
Protection Act of 20C” in “Pension Plans and Retirement Ben” in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statesm

Non-cancelable operating leases and purchasing @¢omemis are utilized in our normal course of busitr our projected needs. For
losses that we believe are probable and whichstrmable we have accrued for such amounts in ousal@ated balance sheets. In addition to
the table above, we have various commitments antingencies including: defined benefit and postestient healthcare plans (as described
below), environmental matters (see “Environmentatters” included in Item 7—“Management’s Discusséo Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”), and litigatclaims (see Item 3—"Legal Proceedings”).

We have several defined benefit and defined cantioh pension plans, as described in the PensiamsRind Retirement Benefits note in
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsfuifé these plans based on the minimum amountsrezhby law plus such amounts we
deem appropriate. We have postretirement healthans that provide health and life insurance bientd certain retired employees and their
beneficiaries, as described in the Pension Plagsk@tirement Benefits note in the Notes to Constdéid Financial Statements. These plans are
generally not pre-funded and expenses are paid lag incurred.

We also have standby letters of credit of $43.0ionilof which $39.8 million have been issued thriowyir senior revolving credit facilit
At December 31, 2006, we had $120.2 million avadamder our senior revolving credit facility.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial cdodiind results of operations are based upon msdidlated financial statemen
which have been prepared in accordance with acowuptinciples generally accepted in the United&xaThe preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgitat affect the reported amounts of assetsitias, sales and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiegn8icant estimates in our consolidated financtatements include goodwill recoverability,
environmental, restructuring and other unusual stditigation, income tax reserves including deddrtax asset valuation allowances, pension,
postretirement and other benefits and allowancedoibtful accounts. We base our estimates on priperience, facts and circumstances and
other assumptions. Actual results may differ frénvase estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect the more significant judgments and edémased in the preparation of the
financial statements.

Goodwill

Goodwill and other intangibles are reviewed annuiallthe fourth quarter and/or when circumstanaestioer events indicate th
impairment may have occurred. The annual impairntesitinvolves the comparison of the estimatedvaiue of a reporting unit to its carryil
amount. The fair value is determined based on ietyanf assumptions including estimated future dislis of the reporting unit, discount
rates, and comparable company trading multipleseBa@n our evaluation prepared in the fourth quaft2006, no impairment charge was
recorded.

Environmental

Accruals for environmental matters are recordednihis probable that a liability has been incureed the amount of the liability can be
reasonably estimated, based upon current law astirextechnologies. These amounts, which are isocbdnted and are exclusive of claims
against third parties, are adjusted periodicallpgsessments and remediation efforts progresgditrcamhl technical or legal information
becomes available.
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Environmental exposures are difficult to assessifonerous reasons, including the identificatiomeiv sites, developments at sites
resulting from investigatory studies, advance®ghnhology, changes in environmental laws and réigasand their application, changes in
regulatory authorities, the scarcity of reliabléadpertaining to identified sites, the difficulty assessing the involvement and financial
capability of other potentially responsible pari@esl our ability to obtain contributions from otlparrties and the lengthy time periods over
which site remediation occurs. It is possible $@he of these matters (the outcomes of which djestto various uncertainties) may be
resolved unfavorably to us, which could materialdiversely affect our financial position or resat®perations.

Pension and Postretirement Plans

We account for our defined benefit pension plargsrar-pension postretirement benefit plans using actuertalels required by SFA
No. 87,“"Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” and SFAS NO6, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement B&tseOther than Pension,”
respectively. These models use an attribution aggrdhat generally spreads the financial impachaiges to the plan and actuarial
assumptions over the average remaining service b¥¢he employees in the plan. Changes in lighilite to changes in actuarial assumptions
such as discount rate, rate of compensation inese@sd mortality, as well as annual deviations betwwhat was assumed and what was
experienced by the plan are treated as gains sedo#\dditionally, gains and losses are amortizext the groups service lifetime, to the exte
they fall outside of a corridor designed to dampenual volatility. The average remaining servigedi of the employee plan is 11.7 years. The
principle underlying the required attribution apgeh is that employees render service over theirageeremaining service lives on a relatively
smooth basis and, therefore, the accounting foefitsrearned under the pension or non-pension gtogiment benefits plans should follow the
same relatively smooth pattern.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodicsjpencalculation is the expected long-term rateetidrn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assets.g(Tharket-related value of assets” recognizes iffees between the plan’s actual return and
expected return over a five year period). The megliuse of an expected long-term rate of returthemmarket-related value of plan assets may
result in recognized pension income that is greatéess than the actual returns of those plantsgsany given year. Over time, however, the
expected long-term returns are designed to appeteitie actual long-term returns and, therefosltén a pattern of income and expense
recognition that more closely matches the pattétheservices provided by the employees. As difiees between actual and expected returns
are recognized over five years, they generate gaiddosses that are subject to amortization dventverage remaining service life of the
group, as described in the preceding paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return inforraatithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-term
investment returns by reference to external sourxcedsvelop the expected return on plan asseté@eaember 31.

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomangpension postretirement benefit plan accourréfigct the rates available on high-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on DecemldfepBeach year. The rate of compensation incresasased upon our long-term plans for
such increases. For retiree medical plan accountiegeview external data and our own historicahdls for healthcare costs to determine the
healthcare cost trend rates.

Changes in pension costs may occur in the futueetalehanges in these assumptions resulting framasuic events. For example,
holding all other assumptions constant, a 100-l&sist decrease or increase in the assumed ragguwh on plan assets would have increased
or decreased, respectively, the 2006 pension goapproximately $12.4 million. Holding all othersasnptions constant, a 50-basis point
decrease in the discount rate used to calculatsigrenosts for 2006 and the projected benefit altilig as of December 31, 2006 would have
increased pension costs by $5.0 million and theepted benefit obligation by $86.4 million. A 504 point increase in the discount rate used
to calculate pension costs for 2006 and the prejebenefit obligation as of December 31, 2006 walde decreased pension costs by $5.9
million and the projected benefit obligation by $8Willion. For additional information on long-temates of return, discount rates and
projected healthcare costs projections, see “Per&limns and Retirement Benefits” in the Notes éoGbnsolidated Financial Statements.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158nsmdment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106,18a&. This stateme
requires that a company recognize a net liabilitgsset to report the funded status of their ddflrenefit pensions and other postretirement
plans on its balance sheet and measure benefibpkets and benefit obligations as of the compdrafance sheet date. The portion of this
statement related to recognizing a net liabilitytfee funded status became effective for fiscatyeading after December 15, 2006. At
December 31, 2006, we recorded an after-tax chtargecumulated other comprehensive income of $T#I®n ($120.0 million pretax). The
measurement date of the assets and benefit obligatequirements will be effective for fiscal yearsling after December 15, 2008. We
currently use our year-end balance sheet dateras@asurement date and, as a result, the new nesasnt requirement will not have a
material effect on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154y WValue Measurements.” This statement does rptire any new fair value
measurements, but rather, it provides enhancedggo@lto other pronouncements that require or pexssits or liabilities to be measured at
fair value. The changes to current practice rasgiiom the application of this statement relatethe definition of fair value, the methods used
to estimate fair value, and the requirement foraexied disclosures about estimates of fair values Statement becomes effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007, and mt@eriods within those fiscal years. It is expedtet this statement will not have a mate
effect on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issues FASB Staff Bos{ESP) No. AUG AIR-1, “Accounting for Planned MaMaintenance
Activities,” which amends certain provisions in tRECPA Industry Audit Guide, “Audits of Airlines”rad APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim
Financial Reporting.” This position prohibits theeuof the accrue-in-advance method of accountinglémned major maintenance activities in
annual and interim financial reporting periods.sThosition becomes effective for fiscal years beigig after December 15, 2006 and shouls
applied retrospectively for all financial statenmgeptesented. It is expected that this statemehhatlhave a material effect on our financial
statements.

In September 2006, the staff of the SEC issued Btafounting Bulletin SAB No. 108, “Considering th#fects of Prior Year
Misstatement when Quantifying Misstatements in €uiriYear Financial Statements” (SAB No. 108). Thidbin provides guidance on
assessing the effects of prior year misstatemargaantifying current year misstatements for thgppse of determining whether the current
yea's financial statements are materially misstatesB $lo. 108 requires that public companies utilizelaal approach” to assessing the
quantitative effects of financial misstatementsisTdual approach includes both an income statefoensed assessment and a balance sheet
focused assessment. SAB No. 108 is effective smafiyears ending after November 15, 2006. Thetamopf SAB No. 108 did not have a
material impact on our financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation Na.“A&counting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FMb. 48). This interpretation
clarified the accounting for uncertainty in incotages recognized in the financial statements im@ance with FASB Statement No. 109,
“Accounting for Income TaxesFIN No. 48 prescribes a recognition threshold améisnrement for a tax position taken or expectédxt ttaker
in a tax return. This interpretation also providegdance on derecognition, classification, inteegst penalties, accounting in interim periods,
and disclosure. This interpretation is effectiveffscal years beginning after December 15, 200®& implementation of FIN No. 48 will not
have a material effect on our financial statements.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instrumermnd Hedging Activities,” requires an entity taagnize all derivatives as either
assets or liabilities in the statement of finanpiaition and measure those instruments at fairevale use hedge accounting treatment for
substantially all of our business transactions elhiisks are covered using derivative instrumerfASNo. 133 requires that all derivative
instruments be recorded on the balance sheetiafdirevalue. The accounting treatment of chanigefair value is dependent upon whether or
not a derivative instrument is designated as adedq, if so, the type of hedge. For derivativesgieted as a fair value hedge, the changes in
the fair value of both the derivative and the hetigem are recognized in earnings. For derivatdesignated as a cash flow hedge, the change
in fair value of the derivative is recognized i@t comprehensive income until the hedged iteradsgnized in earnings. Ineffective portions
are recognized currently in earnings. Unrealizeédgyand losses on derivatives not qualifying faldeeaccounting are recognized currently in
earnings.
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We enter into forward sales and purchase conttagtsanage currency risk resulting from purchasesatel commitments denominatec
foreign currencies (principally Australian dollardaCanadian dollar). All of the currency derivatwexpire within one year and are for United
States dollar equivalents. At December 31, 2006haceno forward contracts to buy or to sell foretgimrencies. At December 31, 2005 we
forward contracts to buy foreign currencies wittaee value of $3.9 million and no forward contractsell foreign currencies. The fair market
value of the forward contracts to buy at Decemlder2B05, approximated the carrying value. The cenpatrty to the forward contracts was a
large financial institution. The risk of loss toinsthe event of nonperformance by a counterpaduld/not be significant to our financial
position or results of operations. Foreign curreexghange gains, net of taxes, were $0.5 milliopd@6, $0.2 million in 2005, and $0.4 milli
in 2004.

We use cash flow hedges of certain raw materialesmgagy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, andat@as to provide a measure of
stability in managing our exposure to price fluttores. We use interest rate swaps as a means algimgninterest rates on our outstanding
fixed-rate debt obligations. These interest ratepsare treated as fair value hedges. The accguotigains and losses associated with
changes in fair value of the derivative and thecefbn the consolidated financial statements veijehd on the hedge designation and whether
the hedge is effective in achieving offsetting aesin fair value of cash flows of the asset diiliy being hedged. Gains (losses) on settled
futures contracts, net of taxes, were $(10.1) arilin 2006, $5.7 million in 2005, and $8.5 million2004. At December 31, 2006, we had o
positions in futures contracts totaling $64.7 railli(2005—$23.7 million). If all open futures cordt®had been settled on December 31, 2006,
we would have recognized a gain of $6.5 million.

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, Accumulated OthengZehensive Loss included a pretax gain in fainealf $3.5 million and $0.4
million, respectively. In addition, the ineffectipmrtion of changes in fair value resulted in $®iflion, $0.2 million and $(0.1) million charge
(credit) to earnings for the years ended DecembgeP@06, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Offsettirgahove, there were in 2006 assets totaling
$13.3 million (2005—%$10.7 million) and liabilitiesf $7.4 million (2005—$7.7 million).

Our foreign currency forward contracts and cert@mmodity derivatives did not meet the criteriajt@lify for hedge accounting. The
effect on operating results of items not qualifyfoghedge accounting for the years 2006, 2005,28%4 was not material to earnings.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafsrir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoil
investing and financing activities, and our openasi that use foreign currencies. The risk of l@slme assessed from the perspective of ad
changes in fair values, cash flows and future egmiWe have established policies and procedunesriging our management of market risks
and the use of financial instruments to manage gx@oto such risks.

Energy costs including electricity used in our ChAdkali Products segment, and certain raw matemald energy costs, namely copper,
lead, zinc, electricity, and natural gas used pripan our Metals and Winchester segments’ prodwre subject to price volatility. Depending
on market conditions, we may enter into futurestieants and put and call option contracts in ordeetluce the impact of metal price
fluctuations. As of December 31, 2006, we maintdiapen positions on futures contracts totaling $édillion ($23.7 million at December 31,
2005). Assuming a hypothetical 10% increase in codity prices, which are currently hedged, we wangerience a $6.5 million ($2.4
million at December 31, 2005) increase in our abshventory purchased, which would be offset Igoaresponding increase in the value of
related hedging instruments.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates phnaaria result of our investing and financing atitg. Investing activity is not material
to our consolidated financial position, result©pérations, or cash flows. Our existing debt strects used to fund business operations and
commitments from banks under our revolving crealilfty are a source of liquidity. As of Decembdr, 2006, we had lonterm borrowings ¢
$253.9 million ($258.3 million at December 31, 2p@5which $2.9 million ($2.9 million at Decembet,2005) was issued at variable rates.
As a result of our fixed-rate financings, we enteirgo floating interest rate swaps in order to agsinterest expense and floating interest rate
exposure to optimal levels. We have entered infil$8 million of such swaps, whereby we agree tovzaiable rates to a counterparty who, in
turn, pays us fixed rates. In all cases the undegly
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index for the variable rates is six-month LondotetBank Offered Rate (LIBOR). Accordingly, paymeats settled every six months and the
term of the swap is the same as the underlyingidsbtuument.

Assuming no changes in the $101.6 million of vdealate debt levels from December 31, 2006, we estirtiatt a hypothetical change
100-basis points in the LIBOR interest rates frdd@@would impact interest expense by $1.0 milliorao annualized pretax basis.

The following table reflects the swap activity tteldto certain debt obligations as of Decembe2806:

Swap December 31, 2006

Underlying Debt I nstrument Amount Date of Swap Floating Rate

($ in millions)
9.125%, due 201 $ 50.C December 20C 8.81%
9.125%, due 201 $ 25.C March 200: 7.5- 8.5%(a
Industrial development and environmental improvenodtiga-

tions at fixed interest rates of 6.0% to 6.7%5Ue 200-2017 $ 21.1 March 200: 5.62%
$ 5.t March 200: 5.7%

(a) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the watifall within the range showr

These interest rate swaps reduced interest exp@ssdting in an increase in pretax profit of $nion, $2.9 million and $5.4 million in
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

In July 2006, we received proceeds of $0.4 milfienthe termination of a $30.0 million interesteawap that was a fair value hedge 1
portion of the $125.0 million 2011 Notes that wpeat of the July 2006 debt exchange.

If the actual change in interest or commoditiesipg is substantially different than expected, teéimpact of interest rate risk or
commodity risk on our cash flow may be materialffedent than that disclosed above.

We do not enter into any derivative financial instients for speculative purposes.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN  TS:

This report includes forwa-looking statements. These statements relate tysewmbnd other information that are based on mamexy’s
beliefs, certain assumptions made by managemestdsts of future results and current expectatiestimates and projections about the
markets and economy in which we and our varioumsads operate. The statements contained in thistrémat are not statements of historical
fact may include forward-looking statements thabime a number of risks and uncertainties.

We have used the words “anticipate,” “intend,” “nidexpect,” “believe,” “should,” “plan,” “estimatg “project,” and variations of such
words and similar expressions in this report tanidhg such forward-looking statements. These sta®isiare not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks, uncertagnéied assumptions, which are difficult to prediad amany of which are beyond our control.
Therefore, actual outcomes and results may difienmally from those matters expressed or impliestich forward-looking statements. We
undertake no obligation to update publicly any farg:looking statements, whether as a result oféutwents, new information or otherwise.

The risks, uncertainties, and assumptions involmemlr forward-looking statements include thosedssed under Item 1A. Risk Factors.
You should consider all of our forwatdeking statements in light of these factors. Idiidn, other risks and uncertainties not presekitigwn
to us or that we consider immaterial could afféet accuracy of our forward-looking statements.
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Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIA L REPORTING
The management of Olin Corporation is responsitiee§tablishing and maintaining adequate interoatrol over financial reporting.

Olin’s internal control system was designed to pteveasonable assurance to the company’s managam#board of directors regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of publishedrfaial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkimed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etherse systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurande mgpect to financial statement preparation apdegutation, and may not prevent or detect
all misstatements.

The management of Olin Corporation has assessegfféiveness of the company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting as of
December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, e the criteria set forth by the Committee of Spoimg Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) iiternal Control—Integrated Framewot& guide our analysis and assessment. Based aassessment as of
December 31, 2006, the company’s internal contvel dinancial reporting was effective at the readula assurance level under this
framework.

Olin’s independent auditors have issued an atiestagport on our assessment of the company’sriatexontrol over financial reporting.
This report appears on page 44.

Mﬂ@#”

Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

ot
r}v‘z- Coh 4
John E. Fischer
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

42



Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Olinpdaation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Olin Corporation and subsidiariesf &eoember 31, 2006 and 2005,
and the related consolidated statements of opemtghareholders’ equity and cash flows for eadh®fyears in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2006. These consolidated financitdrsients are the responsibility of the Company’sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated finastadéments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamliogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Olin
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 316 20@ 2005, and the results of their operationstlaeid cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 200&rfoonity with U.S. generally accepted accountinggples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
effectiveness of Olin Corporation and subsidiaimesrnal control over financial reporting as of [eetber 31, 2006, based on criteria
established itnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrike Treadway Commission,
and our report dated February 27, 2007 expressed@umlified opinion on managementssessment of, and the effective operation &firia
control over financial reporting.

As discussed in note “Accounting Policies” to tlomsolidated financial statements, Olin Corporatidopted the provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 128\jRed 2004), “Share-Based Payment” in 2006, adapie provisions of SFAS No. 158,
“Employers’ Accounting For Defined Benefit Pensimd Other Postretirement Plans” in 2006, and adadpie provisions of Financial
Accounting Standards Board’s Interpretation No."#tcounting For Conditional Asset Retirement Ohbligns” in 2005.

KPMe LLP

St. Louis, MO
February 27, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Olinpdaation:

We have audited management’s assessment, incladled accompanying Management Report on InternatrGloOver Financial
Reporting, that Olin Corporation and subsidiariesntained effective internal control over finandieporting as of December 31, 2006, based
on criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway
Commission (“the COSO criteria”)The Company’s management is responsible for maiinigieffective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigerd internal control over financial reporting.rQesponsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on theiedfeess of the Company’s internal control oveafiaial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetiefenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing ahchéng the design and operating effectivenessatefnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary girtuenstances. We believe that our audit providessagonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablezassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thgté€ttain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@éawith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabturance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Qlip&@ation and subsidiaries maintained effectiverimal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stabedll material respects, based on the COSOrizitalso, in our opinion, Olin Corporation
and subsidiaries maintained, in all material regpexffective internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2006, based on the
COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OlipdZation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20@62005 and the related consolidated
statements of operations, shareholders’ equitycastl flows for each of the years in the three-pegiod ended December 31, 2006, and our
report dated February 27, 2007 expressed an ufigdadipinion on those consolidated financial stagats.

KPMe P

St. Louis, MO
February 27, 2007
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31
(% in millions, except share data)

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalel
Shor-Term Investment
Receivables, Ne

Trade

Other
Inventories
Current Deferred Income Tax
Other Current Asse

Total Current Asset
Property, Plant and Equipment, I
Prepaid Pension Cos
Deferred Income Taxe
Other Asset:
Goodwill

Total Assets

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Current Installments of Lor-Term Debt
Accounts Payabl
Income Taxes Payab
Accrued Liabilities

Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Accrued Pension Liabilit
Other Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Commitments and Contingenci
Shareholder Equity:
Common Stock, Par Value $1 Per Shi
Authorized, 120,000,000 Shart
Issued and Outstanding 73,322,590 Shares (71,8 H3005)
Additional Paic«-In Capital
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Lt
Retained Earnings (Accumulated Defic

Total Shareholde’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

2006 2005
$ 199.6 $ 303.7

76.€ —
304.( 270.F
34.€ 24.F
263. 262.¢

8.9 —
32. 12.1
919.2 873.c
486.¢ 482.:
— 248.:
117.: 86.:
37.2 31.¢
75.¢ 75.1
$1,636.¢  $1,797.
$ 17 $ 11
200.: 177.2
4.8 23.4
201.( 165.4
407.€ 367.1
252.: 257.:
234. 556.¢
198.¢ 189.F
1,093.; 1,370.¢
73.: 71.¢
721.¢ 683.¢
(318.5) (304.2)
66. (24.7)
543.2 426.¢
$1,636.¢  $1,797.

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkeStents are an integral part of the consolidatedh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended December 31
($ in millions, except per share data)

2006 2005 2004
Sales $3,151.¢ $2,357." $1,996.¢
Operating Expense
Cost of Goods Sold (exclusive of the LIFO inventbauidation gains shown belov 2,823.( 1,999.7 1,765.:
LIFO Inventory Liquidation Gain 25.¢ 0.9 0.3
Selling and Administratiol 176.¢ 176.< 141.C
Research and Developme 4.t 4.2 3.
Restructuring Charge 17.€ 0.3 9.€
Other Operating Incom 6.7 9.1 5.t
Operating Incom 162.¢ 187.2 82.¢
Earnings of No-consolidated Affiliate: 46.C 38.t 10.1
Interest Expens 20.5 19.€ 20.2
Interest Income 11.¢ 18.5 1.6
Other Income 1kt 15 4.5
Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes@uohulative Effect of Accounting Chan 201. 225.¢ 79.2
Income Tax Provisio 51.% 85.€ 28.t
Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulaifiect of Accounting Chang 149.5 139.7 50.7
Discontinued Operation
Income from Discontinued Operations, ! — — 0.€
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — — 3.t
Income before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Cha 149.5 139.7 54.¢
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, I — (6.4 —
Net Income $ 149.7 $ 133.: $ 54.¢
Basic Income per Common Sha
Income from Continuing Operations before Cumulai¥fect of Accounting Chang $ 206 $ 1.9¢ $ 0.7¢
Income from Discontinued Operations, ! — — 0.01
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — — 0.0t
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, I — (0.09) —
Net Income $ 206 $ 1.87 $ 0.8C
Diluted Income per Common Sha
Income from Continuing Operations before Cumula@¥fect of Accounting Chang $ 206 $ 1.9t $ 0.7¢
Income from Discontinued Operations, ! — — 0.01
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, — — 0.0t
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change, I — (0.09) —
Net Income $ 206 $ 1.8¢ $ 0.8C

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkeStents are an integral part of the consolidatedh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

($ in millions, except per share data)

Common Stock

Accumulated Retained
Additional Other Earnings Total
Shares Par Paid-In Comprehensiv (Accumulatec Shareholders’
Issued Value Capital Loss Deficit) Equity

Balance at January 1, 200: 59,015,08 $59.C $ 4642 $ (246.f) $ (100.0 $ 176«
Comprehensive Incom

Net Income — — — — 54.¢ 54.¢

Translation Adjustmer — — — (1.3 — (1.3

Net Unrealized Losse — — — (1.5 — (1.5

Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment, N — — — (23.7) — (23.7)

Comprehensive Incorr 28.5
Dividends Paid

Common Stock ($0.80 per sha — — — — (55.7) (55.7)
Common Stock Issued fc

Stock Options Exercise 744,12: 0.8 13.7 — — 14.F

Cash 10,000,00 10.C 167.¢ — — 177.¢

Employee Benefit Plar 793,77¢ 0.8 13.t — — 14.5

Other Transaction 13,91¢ — 0.3 — — 0.3
Balance at December 31, 20C 70,566,90 70.€ 659.t (273.9) (200.9 355.¢
Comprehensive Incom

Net Income — — — — 133.c 133.<

Translation Adjustmer — — — (2.3 — (2.3

Net Unrealized Gain — — — 04 — 0.4

Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment, N — — — (29.2) — (29.2)

Comprehensive Incon 102.2
Dividends Paid

Common Stock ($0.80 per sha — — — — (57.0) (57.7)
Common Stock Issued fc

Stock Options Exercise 509,38: 0.5 9.3 — — 9.8

Employee Benefit Plar 770,712 0.8 14.5 — — 15.z

Other Transaction 28,37 — 0.5 — — 0.5
Balance at December 31, 20C 71,875,37 71.¢ 683.¢ (304.4) (24.7) 426.€
Comprehensive Incom

Net Income — — — — 149.5 149.7

Translation Adjustmer — — — 1.2 — 1.2

Net Unrealized Gain — — — 3.5 — 3.5

Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment, N — — — 54.t — 54.t

Comprehensive Incon 208.¢
Adoption of SFAS No. 15 — — — (73.9) — (73.9)
Dividends Paid

Common Stock ($0.80 per sha — — — — (58.) (58.1)
Common Stock Issued fc

Stock-Based Compensatic — — 14.1 — — 14.1

Stock Options Exercise 240,07! 0.2 4.2 — — 4.4

Employee Benefit Plar 1,135,94 11 18.€ — — 19.7

Other Transaction 71,19: 0.1 0.9 — — 1.C
Balance at December 31, 20C 73,322,59 $73.: $ 721¢ $ (3185 S 66.¢ $ 543.:

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkeStents are an integral part of the consolidatedh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31
($ in millions)

2006 2005 2004
Operating Activities
Net Income $149.7 $133.1 $ 54.¢
(Income) from Discontinued Operations, | — — (4.2
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash@ash Equivalents Provided by (Used for) Opere
Activities:
Earnings of No-consolidated Affiliate: (46.0) (38.5) (20.7
Other Operating Incon—Gains on Disposition of Real Est: (0.7 (9.7 —
Stock-Based Compensatic 5.6 2.3 1.7
Gain on Sale of Insurance Investm — — (2.0
Depreciation and Amortizatic 72.1 72.t 73.5
Deferred Taxe (29.9) 54.1 (13.2)
Non-cash Portion of Restructuring Char 3.8 — —
LIFO Inventory Liquidation Gain (25.9) (0.9 (0.3
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Chan — 6.4 —
Qualified Pension Plan Contributio (80.0 (6.1) (169.9
Qualified Pension Plan Expen 38.4 20.7 5.8
Common Stock Issued under Employee Benefit F 3.3 2.9 2.8
Change in Assets and Liabilities Net of PurchasesSales of Businesse
Receivable: (43.6) (52.)) (60.5)
Inventories 25.2 (5.2 (16.9)
Other Current Asse’ (19.9 6.7 (3.2
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilit 58.7 73.4 10.C
Income Taxes Payab (18.9 23.1 (1.0
Other Noncurrent Liabilitie (43.9) 1.7 2.2
Other Asset: 12.C (8.4) —
Other Operating Activitie 3.6 2.1 (4.7
Cash Provided by (Used for) Continuing Opereat 64.7 278.¢ (134.7%)
Discontinued Operation
Income from Discontinued Operations, ! — — 4.1
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operatis — — (5.8
Net Operating Activitie! 64.7 278.¢ (136.9
Investing Activities
Capital Expenditure (80.9) (81.0 (55.])
Business Acquired in Purchase Transac (0.9 (0.5) (3.2
Purchases of ShTerm Investment (76.6) — —
Proceeds from Sale of an Insurance Investr — — 2.6
Disposition of Property, Plant and Equipm 1.4 14.2 0.8
Distributions from Affiliated Companies, N 44.C 31.C 9.4
Other Investing Activitie: 0.3 (1.8 1.9
Cash Used for Continuing Operatic (112.9) (38.]) (43.6€)
Discontinued Operation
Proceeds from Sale of a Busin — — 17.1
Net Investing Activities (112.2) (38.1) (26.5)
Financing Activities
Long-Term Debt:
Borrowings — 2.9 —
Repayment: (1.7 (52.0 (27.2)
Issuance of Common Sto 16.4 12.4 189.:
Stock Options Exercise 4.4 9.8 14.5
Excess Tax Benefits from Stock Options Exerc 0.8 — —
Dividends Paic (58.]) (57.) (55.7)

Deferred Debt Cost

(18.9)



Other Financing Activitie: — (0.9 (0.5

Net Financing Activities (56.9) (84.9 120.¢

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equis: (103.9 156.¢ (42.5)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Y 303.7 147.c 189.¢

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Y $199.¢ $303.7 $147.:
Cash Paid for Interest and Income Ta

Interest $ 20z $20C $ 20t

Income Taxes, Net of Refun $ 954 $ 6.1 $ 43.C

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financitke8tents are an integral part of the consolidateth€ial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(% in millions, except share data)

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892. We are a manufacturer concentratétrée business segments: Cl
Alkali Products, Metals, and Winchester. Chlor AilRroducts, with four U.S. manufacturing facilgigoroduces chlorine and caustic soda,
sodium hydrosulfite, hydrochloric acid, hydrogeteath products and potassium hydroxide. Metald itstprincipal manufacturing facilities
in East Alton, IL and Montpelier, OH, produces atistributes copper and copper alloy sheet, staih, fod, welded tube, fabricated parts, and
stainless steel and aluminum strip. Winchestel W&t principal manufacturing facility in East AftplL, produces and distributes sporting
ammunition, canister powder, reloading componesitgll caliber military ammunition and components] éndustrial cartridges.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets requires estimates and assumptions that affemunts reported and disclosec
the financial statements and related notes. Actsallts could differ from those estimates.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of Olin Corporation and all majo-owned subsidiaries. Investments ir-
50% owned affiliates are accounted for on the gquitthod. Accordingly, we include only our sharesafnings or losses of these affiliates in
consolidated net income. Certain reclassificatwase made to prior year amounts to conform to f@62resentation.

The 2005 and 2004 Consolidated Statements of Qaslshave been revised to reconcile Net Incomedab®@perating Activities.
Previously, Income from Continuing Operations anan@lative Effect of Accounting Change was recorttile Net Operating Activities. The
2004 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows has fiesésed to disclose separately the investing pomiocash flows attributable to
discontinued operations, which in prior periodssweported on a combined basis with the sale afisurance investment.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized on sales of product dintleethe goods are shipped and the risks of owigetstve passed to the custorn
Shipping and handling fees billed to customersraskeided in Sales. A portion of the sales in theadesegment are made on a “tolling” basis
where the customer consigns non-ferrous metals and is only charged a fee for processing thefanous metals into finished product.
Tolling customers retain title to the metal considrio us and bear the risk of loss. For tollingsalhe metal value is not included in Sales or
Cost of Goods Sold. Allowances for estimated retudiscounts and rebates are recognized whena&escorded and are based on various
market data, historical trends and information fraustomers. Actual returns, discounts and rebates hot been materially different from
estimates.

Cost of Goods Sold and Selling and Administratigpdases

Cost of Goods Sold includes the costs of invensoily, related purchasing, distribution and warehmusosts, costs incurred for shipp
and handling, and environmental remediation c&@s#ling and Administration expense includes persbnaosts associated with sales,
marketing and administration, legal and legal-eslatosts, consulting and professional services &hertising expenses, and other similar
costs.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include wagpkyaa benefits and material costs used in theebedesign and development of
new products and processes and in the improvemengrshancements of existing products and procefhese costs are expensed as incu
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Other Operating Income

Other operating income consists of miscellaneoesaimg income items, which are related to ourfess activities, and gains (loss
on disposition of property, plant and equipmenhédtoperating income for 2006 of $6.7 included ®d$6surance recovery for business
interruption experienced in our Chlor Alkali Protkioperations during 2005 and early 2006 and a &irY on the disposition of real estate.
Other operating income for 2005 of $9.1 includesl ghins on the disposition of three real estatpgut@s. The first disposition represented the
settlement of a contested condemnation award mgl&bi land associated with a former warehousiniitiacThe other transactions represented
the disposition of land associated with two formmamufacturing plants. Other operating income fdd2cluded a non-recurring gain of $5.5
related to a settlement of a contract matter witloatside third party.

Other Income
Other income consists of n-recurring no-operating income items which are not related topimary business activities. In 2004, ot
income consisted primarily of a $2.0 gain on tHe s&our equity interest in an insurance investinen
Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign affiliate’ balance sheet amounts are translated at the exehates in effect at ye-end, and operations statement amount:
translated at the average rates of exchange pireyailiring the year. Translation adjustments actugted in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss. Where foreign affiliates ogeirathighly inflationary economies, non-monetaryoamts are translated at historical
exchange rates while monetary assets and liabiktie translated at the current rate with theedlatljustments reflected in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments, with a maturity ofitee months or less at the date of purchase, asidsred to be cash equivaler

Short-Term Investments

We classify our marketable securities as availédnesale which are reported at fair market valuthwinrealized gains and losses
included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losspfiapplicable taxes. The fair value of markezad®@curities is determined by quoted
market prices. Realized gains and losses on shlegastments, as determined on the specific ifieation method, and declines in value of
securities judged to be other-than-temporary askeiited in Other Income in the Consolidated StateémenOperations. Interest and dividends
on all securities are included in Interest Income ®ther Income, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or regrkith cost being determined principally by thelar value LIFO method of inventory
accounting. Cost for other inventories has beeardehed principally by the average-cost (primadperating supplies, spare parts and
maintenance parts) and first-in, first-out (FIF@jitharily inventory of foreign subsidiaries) metlsodtlements of costs in inventories include
raw materials, direct labor and manufacturing ogarch

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at Bagireciation is computed on a straight-line baser the estimated useful lives of the
related assets. Leasehold improvements are antbdizr the term of the lease or the estimated uBg&fof the improvement, whichever is
shorter. Start-up costs are expensed as incurred.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of an asset retiremenpabbn associated with the retirement of a targlbhg-lived asset as a liability in the

period incurred.
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On December 31, 2005, we adopted FIN No. 47, arpnétation of SFAS No. 143. This interpretatiocarifies the definition of
conditional asset retirement obligations used iIASINo. 143 and clarifies when a company would rawvéicient information to reasonably
estimate the fair value of an asset retiremenpalibn. We recorded an asset of $0.3 and a liglfits10.8 to reflect the cost of retirement
obligations related to production technology ($8tjilding materials ($1.8), and other obligati¢®$.0). This resulted in an after-tax charge
for the cumulative effect of an accounting charaaling $6.4 ($10.5 pretax) upon adoption of FIN M®.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, we had net adjustsémat decreased the asset retirement obligaipi$g.1, which were primarily
comprised of a reduction in the asset retiremeligation by $4.5 based on a lower probability ofemtimated liability than previously asses
as occurring, offset by an increase of $4.2 basedl lnigher probability of an earlier retirementedfiir certain assets. In the fourth quarter of
2005, based on revised estimates, we reduced seerasirement obligations related to certain hda@as waste units at operating plant sites by
$2.5, which reduced operating expenses. In theHaprarter of 2004, we sold our Indianapolis fagiWwhich alleviated our remaining asset

retirement obligation of $2.5, which reduced opegexpenses.
The activity of our asset retirement obligation vaasfollows:

Balance as of December 31, 2(
Accretion
Spending
FIN No. 47 Adoptior
Adjustments

Balance as of December 31, 2(
Accretion
Spending
Adjustments

Balance as of December 31, 2(

The pro forma effect of FIN No. 47, as if it hacebeadopted for 2004, is as follows:

Income Statement Adjustmen
Net income as reporte
Effect of adoptior

Net income

Per share (diluted) as report
Effect of adoptior

Total
Balance Sheet Adjustmen
Asset retirement obligation liability as repor!
Effect of adoptior

Asset retirement obligation liabilit

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

2005

$38.1
2.9
(1.9)
10.€
(2.5)

47.4

3.5
2.3
(0.3)

$48.5

2004

$133.
(0.4)

$ 54.€
(0.4)

$132.¢

$ 1.8¢

$54.4

$ 0.8
(0.0)

$ 1.8¢

$0.7¢

$38.1
10.1

$48.2

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consistsrefdn currency translation adjustments, minimumsp@mand postretirement liabili
adjustments, net unrealized gains (losses) onatéréscontracts, and net unrealized gains (lossesharketable securities. We do not provide
for U.S. income taxes on foreign currency tranglafidjustments since we do not provide for suchgan undistributed earnings for foreign

subsidiaries.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed annudatiyhe fourth quarter and/or when circumstancestiogr events indicate that
impairment may have occurred. The annual impairntesitinvolves the comparison of the estimatedvaiue of a reporting unit to its carryil

amount. The fair value is determined based on igtyanf
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assumptions including estimated future cash flofss® reporting unit, discount rates and comparablapany trading multiples. An
impairment would be recorded if the carrying amaextdeeds the estimated fair value. No impairmeatgds were recorded for 2006, 2005 or
2004.

Other Assets

Other assets at December 31, 2006 and 2005 inclatiwyible assets of $10.7 and $10.8 and miscsdias longierm assets of $26.5 €
$21.1, respectively. Intangible assets at Decer@bgP006 and 2005 included a trademark of $9.6¢kvis not subject to amortization, and
other intangibles of $1.1 and $1.2, respectivelyicw are amortized over their respective usef@digprimarily 5 years) on a straidhite basis
Amortization expense was $0.5 in 2006, $0.8 in 2808 $1.1 in 2004. Intangible assets are reviewedally in the fourth quarter and/or wt
circumstances or other events indicate that impaitrmay have occurred. Miscellaneous long-termtagselude investments in non-
consolidated affiliates.

Environmental Liabilities and Expenditures

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a lighiilas been incurred and the amount
of the liability can be reasonably estimated, bagszh current law and existing technologies. Traseunts, which are not discounted and are
exclusive of claims against third parties, are sidjd periodically as assessment and remediation®ffrogress or additional technical or legal
information becomes available. Environmental caséscapitalized if the costs increase the valud®property and/or mitigate or prevent
contamination from future operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are provided for differences betwherfinancial statement and tax bases of assdtiadilities using enacted tax rates in
effect for the year in which the differences arpeanted to reverse. A valuation allowance is pravitteoffset deferred tax assets if, based on
the available evidence, it is more likely than thatt some or all of the deferred tax assets willb®realized.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We use hedge accounting treatment for substantilliyf our business transactions whose risks avered using derivative instrumen
The hedge accounting treatment provides for therdafof gains or losses (reflected in Other Corhensive Loss) on derivative instruments
until such time as the related transactions occur.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttagtsanage currency risk resulting from purchasesatel commitments denominatec
foreign currencies (principally Australian dollaxcaCanadian dollar). All of the currency derivativexpire within one year and are for United
States dollar equivalents. At December 31, 2006hadeno forward contracts to buy or to sell foresgmrencies. At December 31, 2005 we
forward contracts to buy foreign currencies wittaee value of $3.9 and no forward contracts tofeedign currencies. The fair market value
the forward contracts to buy at December 31, 2@@Baximated the carrying value. The counterpartthtoforward contracts was a large
financial institution. The risk of loss to us iretevent of nonperformance by the counterparty wooltthe significant to our financial position
or results of operations. Foreign currency exchayages, net of taxes, were $0.5 in 2006, $0.2 52@nd $0.4 in 2004.

We use cash flow hedges of certain raw materiadsesergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, andahgs to provide a measure of
stability in managing our exposure to price flutinas. We use interest rate swaps as a means afgimgninterest rates on our outstanding
fixed-rate debt obligations. These interest ratepsiare treated as fair value hedges. The accguotigains and losses associated with
changes in fair value of the derivative and thecefbn the consolidated financial statements veijehd on the hedge designation and whether
the hedge is effective in achieving offsetting asin fair value of cash flows of the asset diility being hedged. Gains (losses) on settled
futures contracts, net of taxes, were $(10.1) 6285.7 in 2005 and $8.5 in 2004. At December2BD6, we had open positions in futures
contracts totaling $64.7 (2005-2%.7). If all open futures contracts had beenexdith December 31, 2006, we would have recognizgdreot
$6.5.
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At December 31, 2006 and 2005, Accumulated OthengZehensive Loss included a pretax gain in fainealf $3.5 and $0.4,
respectively. In addition, the ineffective portiohchanges in fair value resulted in a $0.7, $0.@ $(0.1) charge (credit) to earnings for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 atdsgly. Offsetting the above, there were in 208ets totaling $13.3 (2(—$10.7) anc
liabilities of $7.4 (2005—$7.7).

Our foreign currency forward contracts and certmmmodity derivatives did not meet the criteriatlify for hedge accounting. The
effect on operating results of items not qualifyfoghedge accounting for the years 2006, 20052894 was not material to earnings.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable is the principal financial mstent which subjects us to a concentration ofitresk. Credit is extended based upon
the evaluation of a customer’s financial conditand, generally, collateral is not required. Conaians of credit risk with respect to
receivables are somewhat limited due to our largaber of customers, the diversity of these custehirrsinesses and the geographic
dispersion of such customers. The majority of @aooants receivable are derived from sales denoednatU.S. dollars. We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the argecollectibility of all trade receivables.

Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalentst-$erm investments, accounts receivable anduats@ayable approximated fair
values due to the short-term maturities of thestriments. The fair value of our long-term debt @etermined based on current market rates
for debt of the same risk and maturities. At Decen®i, 2006, the estimated fair value of debt v&7% (2005—$293.5), which compares to
debt recorded on the balance sheet of $253.9 ab8l$2t December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectivély.eBtimated fair values of currency
forward contracts are based on quoted market pficesontracts with similar terms.

Retirement-Related Benefits

We account for our defined benefit pension plargsram-pension postretirement benefit plans usitigeaial models required by SFAS
No. 87 and SFAS No. 106, respectively. These magsdsan attribution approach that generally sprédafnancial impact of changes to 1
plan and actuarial assumptions over the averageainémy service lives of the employees in the plaimanges in liability due to changes in
actuarial assumptions such as discount rate, fatenopensation increases and mortality, as wedlremial deviations between what was
assumed and what was experienced by the planemtedras gains or losses. Additionally, gains asss are amortized over the group’s
service lifetime, to the extent they fall outsideaaorridor designed to dampen annual volatility.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodicsjpencalculation is the expected long-term rateetdrn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assets.” Tinarket-related value of assets” recognizes diffiees between the plan’s actual return and
expected return over a five year period. The reglirse of an expected long-term rate of returrhenrarket-related value of plan assets may
result in a recognized pension income that is greatless than the actual returns of those plaatasn any given year. Over time, however
expected long-term returns are designed to appeteitie actual long-term returns and, therefosltén a pattern of income and expense
recognition that more closely matches the pattétheservices provided by the employees. As difiees between actual and expected returns
are recognized over five years, they generate gaiddosses that are subject to amortization dveatverage remaining service life of the
group, as described in the preceding paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return inforraatithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-term
investment returns by reference to external sourcedsvelop the expected return on plan asseté@eaember 31.

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomanepbension postretirement benefit plan accourrifigct the rates available on high-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on DecemlifepBeach year. The rate of compensation incresasased upon our long-term plans for
such increases. For retiree medical plan accountiegeview external data and our own historicahdls for healthcare costs to determine the
healthcare cost trend rates.

Effective December 31, 2006, we adopted SFAS N8, 46 amendment of FASB statements No. 87, 88ahl6L32R. As a result, we
recorded an after-tax charge of $39.7 and $33spewtively, ($65.0 and $55.0 pretax, respectivieygccumulated other comprehensive
income.
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Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123ifRe\v2004)"“ Shar-Based Payme” (SFAS No. 123R), which is a revision
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensadt(SFAS No. 123). This pronouncement revisesabeounting treatment for stock-
based compensation. It establishes standardsdouating for transactions in which an entity exaesits equity instruments for goods or
services. It also addresses transactions in whidmnéty incurs liabilities in exchange for goodsservices that are based on the fair value ¢
entity’s equity instruments or that may be setbgdhe issuance of those equity instruments. Thiesent focuses primarily on accounting for
transactions in which an entity obtains employewgises in share-based payment transactions.

This statement requires an entity to measure teeafeemployee services received in exchange faveard of equity instruments based
on the grantdate fair value of the award. This cost will beagized over the period during which an employeedgiired to provide service
exchange for the award, the requisite service gdrsually the vesting period). It requires thairdtial measurement be made of the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an awfdrdbility instruments based on its current feédue and requires the value of that award
to be subsequently remeasured at each reportiegluaugh the settlement date. Changes in fairevafuiability awards during the requisite
service period will be recognized as compensatimt over that period.

Effective January 1, 2006, we began recording corsgion expense associated with stock options dred torms of equity
compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123RrReidanuary 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-baeatpensation under SFAS No. 123.
As allowed under SFAS No. 123, we accounted fatksttased compensation according to the provisibWgoounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Hoyees.” Under this opinion, compensation cost reasrded when the fair value of our
stock at the date of grant for fixed options exeekthe exercise price of the stock option. Ourgyak to grant stock options with an exercise
price equal to the fair market value of our comrstwtk on the date of the award. Compensation ocosektricted stock awards was accrued
over the life of the award based on the quoted atgkice of our stock at the date of the award. @emsation cost for performance shares was
accounted for under variable plan accounting. Biienated fair value at the date of grant was amedtiand charged to operations over the
vesting period. Each period the accrual was adjusteeflect the performance relative to the reipecarget.

We adopted the modified prospective transition methrovided for under SFAS No. 123R and, consedydrmve not retroactively
adjusted results from prior periods. Under thisgition method, compensation cost associated wittkptions includes the amortization,
using the straighline method, related to the remaining unvestedigrooif all stock option awards granted prior toukmny 1, 2006, based on |
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance thighoriginal provisions of SFAS No. 123 and the dimation, using the straighine methods
related to all stock option awards granted subsatfoeJanuary 1, 2006, based on grant-date fairevastimated in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

We had no compensation expense for stock opticargten during 2005 and 2004. The following tablevghthe difference between the
reported and pro forma net income and net incomeg@amon share as if we had adopted SFAS No. 188ké years ended December 31:

2005 2004
Net Income:
As reportec $133.¢ $54.¢
Stock-based employee compensation expense, net (2.2 (2.9
Pro forma $131.2 $52.5
Per Share Dat:
Basic
As Reportec $ 1.87 $0.8(
Pro forma 1.84 0.77
Diluted
As Reportec $ 1.8¢€ $0.8(
Pro forma 1.8: 0.77
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Assumptions

The fair value of each option granted, which tyfhcaests ratably over three years, was estimatethe date of grant, using the BI-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following whted-average assumptions used:

2006 2005 2004
Dividend yield 4.3¢% 3.3€% 4.32%
Risk-free interest rat 4.55% 3.86% 3.7%
Expected volatility 35% 27% 40%
Expected life (years 7.C 7.C 7.C
Grant fair value (per optior $5.5C $5.4¢ $5.37

Dividend yield for 2006 is based on a five-yeatdnigal average yield. The dividend yield on pragtion grants was based on the actual
dividend in effect at the date of grant and thetgdanarket price of our stock at the date of thardwRisk-free interest rate is based on zero
coupon U.S. Treasury securities rates for the drpdde of the options. Expected volatility is lason our historical stock price movements,
and we believe that historical experience is thst beailable indicator of the expected volatilBxpected life of the option grant is based on
historical exercise and cancellation patterns,wadbelieve that historical experience is the bestrate for future exercise patterns.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158m@ndment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106,182&. This statement
requires that a company recognize a net liabilitasset to report the funded status of their ddflsenefit pensions and other postretirement
plans on its balance sheet and measure benefibpkets and benefit obligations as of the compdrafance sheet date. The portion of this
statement related to recognizing a net liabilitytfee funded status became effective for fiscatyeading after December 15, 2006. At
December 31, 2006, we recorded an after-tax chtargecumulated other comprehensive income of $#320.0 pretax) in the fourth quarter
of 2006. The measurement date of the assets arditb@nligations requirements will be effective fiscal years ending after December 15,
2008. We currently use our year-end balance staetas our measurement date and, as a resulgwheneasurement requirement will not
have a material effect on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS no. 154y Yfalue Measurements.” This statement does rptire any new fair value
measurements, but rather, it provides enhancedgo@to other pronouncements that require or pessitts or liabilities to be measured at
fair value. The changes to current practice rasgiiom the application of this statement relatethe definition of fair value, the methods used
to estimate fair value, and the requirement foraexied disclosures about estimates of fair valuis. tatement becomes effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007, and im@eriods within those fiscal years. It is expedtett this statement will not have a mate
effect on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff Ros{FSP) No. AUG AIR-1, “Accounting for Planned MaMaintenance
Activities,” which amends certain provisions in tRECPA Industry Audit Guide, “Audits of Airlines”rad APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim
Financial Reporting.” This position prohibits theeuof the accrue-in-advance method of accountinglémned major maintenance activities in
annual and interim financial reporting periods.sTposition becomes effective for fiscal years beigig after December 15, 2006 and shoul
applied retrospectively for all financial statenmgeptesented. It is expected that this statemehhatlhave a material effect on our financial
statements.

In September 2006, the staff of the SEC issued Stafounting Bulletin SAB No. 108, “Considering th#fects of Prior Year
Misstatement when Quantifying Misstatements in €uiriYear Financial Statements” (SAB No. 108). Thidbin provides guidance on
assessing the effects of prior year misstatemargsantifying current year misstatements for thegppse of determining whether the current
year's financial statements are materially misstatesB $l0. 108 requires that public companies utiliz&laal approach” to assessing the
quantitative effects of financial misstatementsisTdual approach includes both an income statefoensed assessment and a balance sheet
focused assessment. SAB No. 108 is effective fwafiyears ending after November 15, 2006. Thetamopf SAB No. 108 did not have a
material impact on our financial statements.
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In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation Na.“A&counting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FMb. 48). This interpretation
clarified the accounting for uncertainty in incotages recognized in the financial statements in@znce with FASB Statement No. 109,
“Accounting for Income TaxesFIN No. 48 prescribes a recognition threshold améisnrement for a tax position taken or expectédxt ttaker
in a tax return. This interpretation also providegdance on derecognition, classification, inteegst penalties, accounting in interim periods,
and disclosure. This interpretation is effectiveffscal years beginning after December 15, 200 implementation of FIN No. 48 will not
have a material effect on our financial statements.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share are ctaapoy dividing net income (loss) by the weightgdrage number of common sha
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share reflectihdive effect of stock-based compensation.

Computation of Income per Share 2006 2005 2004

Income from continuing operations before cumulagffect of accountini

change $149.7  $139.7 $50.7
Discontinued Operation
Income from discontinued operations, — — 0.€
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, — — 3.t
Cumulative effect of accounting change, — (6.9 —
Net income $149.7  $133.C $54.¢
Basic share 72.€ 71.c 68.2

Basic Income per Shar
Income from continuing operations before cumulagffect of

accounting chang $ 206 $1.9¢ $0.7¢
Income from discontinued operations, — — 0.01
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, — — 0.0t
Cumulative effect of accounting change, — (0.09) —
Net income $20€ $1.87 $0.8(

Diluted shares

Basic share 72.€ 71.2 68.2
Stoclk-based compensatic 0.2 0.3 0.2
Diluted share: 72.¢ 71.€ 68.4

Diluted Income per Shar
Income from continuing operations before cumulasffect of

accounting chang $ 206 $1.9¢t $0.74
Income from discontinued operations, — — 0.01
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, — — 0.0t
Cumulative effect of accounting change, — (0.09) —
Net income $ 206 $ 1.8¢ $0.8(C

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments, which approximate fair ealwere $76.6 at December 31, 2006, representingy-faed corporate debt securi
which mature in 2007.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Allowance for doubtful accounts were $9.5 and $8.December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Homdscharged to operations we
$1.4in 2006, $2.6 in 2005 and $1.2 in 2004. Bdat deite-offs, net of recoveries, were $1.0 in 20$8.1 in 2005, and $0.5 in 2004.

56



Table of Contents

INVENTORIES
2006 2005

Supplies $ 38. $ 371

Raw material 293.% 172.C

Work in proces: 206.< 180.7%

Finished good 151.¢ 112t

690.( 502.:

LIFO reserve: (426.7) (239.7)

Inventories $ 263.: $ 262.¢

Inventories valued using the LIFO method comprig&%h and 79% of the total inventories at DecembefB806 and 2005, respectively.
If the FIFO method of inventory accounting had based, inventories would have been $426.7 and $288her than that reported at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Fluanatin underlying metal values will increase orrdase the FIFO value of the inventories.
During 2006, primarily as part of the Metals restwing actions, which included the closure of Waterbury and Seymour facilities, the
reduction in LIFO inventory quantities resultedLiffO inventory liquidation gains of $25.9. The Mistaestructuring actions are described in
the Restructuring Note.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Useful Lives 2006 2005

Land and improvements to lai 1C-20 Years $ 58t $ 56.¢
Buildings and building equipme 1C-25 Years 228.t 225.2
Machinery and equipmel 3-12 Years 1,548.¢ 1,525.:
Leasehold improvemen 4.0 3.7
Construction in progres 54.% 62.2
Property, plant and equipme 1,893.¢ 1,873.(

Less accumulated depreciati 1,407.( 1,390.¢
Property, plant and equipment, | $ 486.¢ $ 482.C

Depreciation expense was $71.6, $71.7, and $72 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. Leased asapttalized and included above
not significant. Maintenance and repairs chargegpirations amounted to $136.4 in 2006, $121.®052nd $114.7 in 2004.

INVESTMENTS—AFFILIATED COMPANIES

We have a 50% ownership interest in SunBelt Chlea\Partnership and Yama-Olin Metal Corporation, both of which are accour
for using the equity method of accounting. Combifiedncial positions and results of operationshefse two equity-basis affiliates in their
entirety were as follows:

100% Basis
2006 2005 2004

Condensed Balance Sheet D:

Current assel $ 61.7 $ 58.C

Noncurrent asse 114.¢ 121.¢

Current liabilities 35.4 28.C

Noncurrent liabilities 121.¢ 134.1
Condensed Income Statement D

Net sales $275.¢ $236.5 $181.7

Gross profil 122.7 110.( 54.2

Net income 96.1 82.7 25.7

The amount of cumulative unremitted earnings ofjoire ventures was $19.3 at December 31, 2006547d3 at December 31, 2005. In
2006, 2005 and 2004, there were no contributiordistributions from Yamaha-Olin Metal Corporatidie received distributions from
SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership totaling $47.6 333 and $7.4 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectiVgl have not made any contributions in
2006, 2005, or 2004.
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In accounting for our ownership interest in the Beilh joint venture, we adjust the reported operatesults for additional depreciation
expense in order to conform the SunBelt joint vegituplant and equipment useful lives to ours. @tiditional depreciation expense reduced
our share of SunBe#'operating results by $3.1 in 2006, $3.6 in 2005 $3.5 in 2004. Finally, we provide various adrsiirdtive, manageme
and logistical services to the SunBelt joint veatfor which we received fees totaling $7.8 in 20986 in 2005 and $7.2 in 2004.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2@#997, the SunBelt joint venture sold $97.%&ofranteed Senior Secured Nt
Due 2017, Series O, and $97.5 of Guaranteed S8eiured Notes Due 2017, Series G. We refer to thates as the SunBelt Notes. The
SunBelt Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.23%peum, payable semiannually in arrears on eachZRia@d December 22.

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and Polydneartner in this venture, has guaranteed thiesS& Notes, in both cases
pursuant to customary guarantee agreements. Owaurgae and PolyOne’s guarantee are several, rdihejoint. Therefore, we are not
required to make any payments to satisfy the S&iblotes guaranteed by PolyOne. An insolvency akhgtcy of PolyOne will not
automatically trigger acceleration of the SunBeitd$ or cause us to be required to make paymedts woir guarantee, even if PolyOne is
required to make payments under its guarantee. kené the SunBelt joint venture does not makeelyrpayments on the SunBelt Notes,
whether as a result of failure to pay on a guamotetherwise, the holders of the SunBelt Noteg praceed against the assets of the SunBelt
joint venture for repayment. If we were to maketdsghyvice payments under our guarantee, we wouwld haight to recover such payme
from the SunBelt joint venture.

Beginning on December 22, 2002 and each year thr@0gd7, our SunBelt joint venture is required pag$12.2 of the SunBelt Notes,
of which $6.1 is attributable to the Series O Nofgter the payment of $6.1 on the Series O Natd9écember 2006, our guarantee of these
notes was $67.0. In the event our SunBelt jointmencannot make any of these payments, we woutddpgred to fund our half of such
payment. In certain other circumstances, we may laésrequired to repay the SunBelt Notes prioh&rtmaturity. We and PolyOne have
agreed that, if we or PolyOne intend to transferrespective interests in the SunBelt joint ventamd the transferring party is unable to obtain
consent from holders of 80% of the aggregate pala@amount of the indebtedness related to the gtesdeing transferred after good faith
negotiations, then we and PolyOne will be requitetepay our respective portions of the SunBeltedotn such event, any make whole or
similar penalties or costs will be paid by the sfenring party.

DEBT
Credit Facility

On July 30, 2004, we entered into a five-year sem@wolving credit facility of $160.0, which wilbg@ire on July 30, 2009. At
December 31, 2006, we had $120.2 available unéesémior revolving credit facility. We issued $3%tters of credit under an $80.0 letter of
credit subfacility for the purpose of supportingtaa long-term debt, certain workers compensaitisnrance policies, and plant closure and
post-closure obligations. We may select variouatfig rate borrowing options. The senior crediilfgcncludes various customary restrictive
covenants including restrictions related to therat debt to earnings before interest expensegagepreciation and amortization (leverage
ratio) and the ratio of earnings before interegiegse, taxes, depreciation and amortization toastexpense (coverage ratio).

Long-Term Debt

2006 2005
Notes payable
6.5%, due 201 $ 114 $ 114
6.75%, due 201 125.( —
9.125%, due 2011 (includes interest rate swap2 & i& 2006 and $5.2 in 200 77.% 205.2
Industrial development and environmental improvenodrtigations at fixed interest
rates of 6.0% to 6.75%, due 2007-2017 (includesrérst rate swaps of $1.3 in
2006 and $1.7 in 200! 40.2 41.7
Total senior dek 253.¢ 258.%
Amounts due within one ye. 1.7 1.1
Total lon¢-term debt $252.2  $257.2
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In connection with the relocation of Winchesteiisfire operations to Oxford, MS in November 200% eompleted an industrial
development revenue bond financing of $2.9 toadiertain state tax incentives.

On June 26, 2006, we commenced an offer to exchamgev series of notes due in 2016 and cash fto f£25.0 of the $200.0 2011
Notes. On July 11, 2006, we announced that appabeiyn $160.0 aggregate principal amount of the 20ates had been validly tendered
exchange. Since more than $125.0 of the 2011 Natédbeen tendered, the new notes were issued mnratp basis in accordance with the
terms of the exchange offer. On July 28, 2006,ssaed $125.0 of 2016 Notes and paid a premium &B%b the existing note holders in
exchange for $125.0 of 2011 Notes. We expenseddf1tfird party fees associated with the exchange.

As a result of our fixedate financings, we entered into floating interas¢ swaps in order to manage interest expenséaatohg interes
rate exposure to optimal levels. We have enterexpswalued at $101.6, as disclosed below, wherebggree to pay variable rates to a
counterparty who, in turn, pays us fixed ratesllitases the underlying index for variable ragethée six-month LIBOR. Accordingly,
payments are settled every six months and the tefitie swaps are the same as the underlying dststiments.

The following table reflects the swap activity tteldto certain debt obligations as of Decembe2806:

Swap December 31, 2006
Underlying Debt I nstrument Amount Date of Swap Floating Rate
9.125%, due 201 $ 50.C December 20( 8.81%
9.125%, due 201 $ 25.C March 200: 7.5- 8.5%(a
Industrial development and environmental improvenodtigations at fixec
rates of 6.0%-6.75% due 20(-2017 $ 21.1 March 200: 5.65%
$ 55 March 200: 5.71%

(@) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the walefall within the range showr

We have designated the interest rate swaps asdlaie hedges of the risk of changes in the valusuofixed-rate debt due to changes in
interest rates, for a portion of our fixed-ratero@rings. Accordingly, the interest rate swaps hiaeen recorded at their fair market value of
$3.6 at December 31, 2006 and are included in Gthsets on the accompanying Consolidated BalaneetSWwith a corresponding increase in
the carrying amount of the 9.125% Notes of $2.3 andntlastrial development and environmental improvenubligations of $1.3. No gain
loss has been recorded as the swaps meet théactitejualify for hedge accounting treatment withimeffectiveness. These interest rate swaps
reduced interest expense, resulting in an incrieageetax income of $1.3 in 2006, $2.9 in 2005, 86d! in 2004. The difference between
interest paid and interest received is includedraadjustment to interest expense. A settlemettteofair market value of the interest rate sw
as of December 31, 2006 would result in a gain306 $The counterparty to these interest rate swafpracts is a major financial institution. ¢
loss in the event of nonperformance by the couatéypvould not be significant to our financial pasn or results of operations.

In July 2006, we received proceeds of $0.4 fortémmination of a $30.0 interest rate swap that avéesr value hedge for a portion of the
$125.0 2011 Notes that were part of the July 20§ dxchange.

Annual maturities of long-term debt are $1.7 in 2087.7 in 2008, none in 2009 and 2010, $77.3 i2@nd a total of $167.2 thereafter.

PENSION PLANS AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Almost all of our domestic defined benefit penspdans are non-contributory final-average-pay orlil@nefit plans and most of our
domestic employees are covered by a defined begyegiiion plan. Our funding policy for the definexhbfit pension plans is consistent with
the requirements of federal laws and regulations.f@reign subsidiaries maintain pension and obferefit plans, which are consistent with
statutory practices and are not significant. Odinge benefit pension plan provides that if, witliimee years following a change of control of
Olin, any corporate action is taken or filing madeontemplation of, among other things, a plamiaation or merger or other transfer of
assets or liabilities of the plan, and such tertiama merger or transfer thereafter takes placm plenefits would automatically be increasec
affected participants (and retired participantsatsorb any plan surplus (subject to applicabliective bargaining requirements).

59



Table of Contents

Certain employees participate in defined contritrugpension plans. Our defined benefit pension plas closed to salaried employees
and certain hourly employees hired after DecembigPB04. These employees participate in a defioatribution pension plan which is
administered as part of the CEOP. We contributefied percentage of pay to the defined contrilbugiension plan on behalf of each of the
eligible employees to an individual retirement cimition account. During the fourth quarter of 208fproximately 25% of the East Alton, IL
union employees voluntarily elected to transitiooni a defined benefit pension plan to a definedrdmution pension plan effective January 1,
2007. As a result, we recorded, at December 316,20@urtailment charge of $5.4, which represetiiecaccelerated recognition of prior
service costs. Expenses of the defined contribyg@sion plans were $1.4, $0.6, and $0.5 for 20065 and 2004, respectively.

We also provide certain postretirement health ¢asedical) and life insurance benefits for eligibtive and retired domestic employees.
The health care plans are contributory with pgrtiots’ contributions adjusted annually based onicaédates of inflation and plan experience.
We use a measurement date of December 31 for tfwgitp@f our pension and postretirement plans.

During the third quarter of 2006, the “Pension Bectibn Act of 2006” became law. Among the stategctives of the law are the
protection of both pension beneficiaries and tharitial health of the PBGC. To accomplish theseaihjes, the new law requires sponsors to
fund defined benefit pension plans earlier thawipres requirements and to pay increased PBGC praemiiihe impact of the law cannot be
fully assessed until all the implementation rulesublished, but the law does require defined fiigplans to be fully funded in 2011. This v
accelerate and potentially increase our pensiamfolading requirements.

Obligations and Funded Status

Other
Postretirement

Pension Benefits Benefits
Change in Benefit Obligation 2006 2005 2006 2005
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $1,665.¢ $1,598.: $ 86.¢ $85.2
Service cos 20.5 20.t 2.4 2.2
Interest cos 94.2 92.¢ 5.1 5.1
Actuarial (gain) los: (13.7) 52.¢ 4.8 8.7
Amendments 0.2 10.2 — (1.5
Benefits paic (1135 (109.2) (11.9) (13.0
Benefit obligation at end of ye $1,653.¢ $1,665.! $ 87.¢ $ 86.¢

Pension Benefits
Changein Plan Assets 2006 2005
Fair value of plar’ assets at beginning of ye $1,279. $1,283.:
Actual return on plar’ asset: 159.¢ 92.€
Employer contribution: 90.t 12.€
Benefits paic (113.5) (109.2)
Fair value of plar’ assets at end of ye $1,416.( $1,279.

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2006 2005 2006 2005

Funded statu $ (237.9) $ (386.]) $(87.€) $(86.€)
Unrecognized actuarial lo: 531.¢ 57.2
Unrecognized prior service cc 32.t (3.0
Net balance sheet impe $ 178.: $(32.€)
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In September 2006, we made a voluntary pensiongaatribution of $80.0. In accordance with SFAS R@, we recorded an after-tax
credit of $54.5 ($89.2 pretax) to Other Comprehenficome. Effective December 31, 2006, we adoBtedS No. 158, which requires us to
record a net liability or asset to report the futhdeatus of our defined benefit pensions and gibstretirement plans on our balance sheet. As ¢
result, we recorded an after-tax charge of $39d07%88.6, respectively, ($65.0 and $55.0 pretapeetively), to accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2006 2005 2006 2005
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetsiwesist of:

Prepaid benefit co: $ — $ 215.¢ $ — $ —
Intangible asset in prepaid pension ¢ — 32.t — —
Accrued benefit in current liabilitie (3.9 — (10.0 —
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabiliti¢ (234.9 (556.¢) (77.¢) (32.¢
Accumulated other comprehensive i 462.¢ 486.¢ 55.C —
Net balance sheet impe $224.¢ $178.2 $(32.9) $(32.6)

The $13.1 actuarial gain for 2006 was the resulthef25-basis point increase in the discount ragelWo calculate the benefit obligation,
partially offset by actuarial losses due to plapexience. The $52.9 actuarial loss for 2005 wawnamily the result of the 25-basis point
decrease in the discount rate used to calculatbahefit obligation ($48.0) and by actuarial losdes to plan experience. The change in benefit
obligation for amendments in 2006 was due to naggdi benefit changes.

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the benefit obligatif non-qualified pension plans was $55.1 and&G2spectively, and is included
in the above pension benefit obligation. Thererarglan assets for these non-qualified pensionspBanefit payments for the qualified plans
are projected to be as follows: 2007—$102.7; 200862%; 2009—%$103.2; 2010—$104.6, and 2011—$106:6eBt payments for the non-
qualified pension plans are expected to be asvistl@007—$3.5; 2008—$3.3; 2009—$3.2; 2010—$3.1, 201 —$3.0.

December 31,
Pension Plans with an Accumulated Benefit Obligation in Excess of Plan Assets 2006 2005
Projected benefit obligatic $1,653.¢  $1,665.!
Accumulated benefit obligatic $1,610.(  $1,615.¢
Fair value of plan asse $1,416.(  $1,279.
Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Service cos $ 20 $ 20f $ 164 $24 $22 $2.2
Interest cos 94.2 92.¢ 93.c 5.1 51 5.1
Expected return on plans’ assets —
(114.2 (1159 (2180 — —
Amortization of prior service cost —
5.C 4.7 5.C — —
Recognized actuarial lo: 33.2 23.¢ 14.C 4.C 31 2t
Curtailment —
5.4 — 1.2 — —
Net periodic benefit co: $ 441 $ 26z $ 11.¢ $11.E $10.4 $9.8

Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Pretax)

Increase (decrease) in minimum liabil $(89.2 $ 47 $ 38:¢
SFAS No. 158 adoption —
$65( $ — $ — 9550 $— ¢
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Plan Assumptions

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discouatarad lon-term rate of return on plan assets have a signifietiect on the amoun
reported for net periodic benefit cost and acchueaefit obligation amounts.

Other

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

Weighted Average Assumptions: 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Discount rat—periodic benefit cos 5.75% 6.C% 6.25% 5.7%% 6.0% 6.25%
Expected return on asst 9.C% 9.C% 9.(% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation incree 3.C% 3.2% 3.3% N/A N/A N/A
Discount rat—benefit obligatior 6.C% 5.7%% 6.C% 6.C% 5.7%% 6.C%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yiatdte represented by a series of annualized inadVidero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yearfieTbonds used in the yield curve must have a rafifgA or better per Standard & Poor’s, be
non-callable, and have at least $150 par outstgndine yield curve is then applied to the projediedefit payments from the plan. Based on
these bonds and the projected benefit paymentstiethe single rate that produces the same yidldeasiatching bond portfolio, rounded to
the nearest quarter point, is used as the discatmt

The long-term expected rate of return on plan asggiresents an estimate of the long-term ratetofirs on the investment portfolio
consisting of equities, fixed income, and altenminvestments. We use long-term historical aatetairn information, the allocation mix of
investments that comprise plan assets, and forestisiates of long-term investment returns by mfee to external sources. The historic rate
of return on plan assets has been 9.5% for th&lgsars, 9.2% for the last 10 years, and 10.5%hfotast 15 years. The following rates of
return by asset class were considered in settmdptig-term rate of return assumption:

U.S. equities 9% to 13%
Non-U.S. equities 10% to 14%
Fixed income/cas 5% to 9%
Alternative investment 5% to 15%

We review external data and our own internal trénd$iealthcare costs to determine the healthoasefor the post retirement benefit
obligation. The assumed healthcare cost trend fatgse-65 retirees were as follows:

Other
Postretirement
Benefits
2006 2005
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next 9.C% 9.C%
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually decline 4.5% 4.5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate 2012 2011

For post-65 retirees, we provide a fixed dollardfénwhich is not subject to escalation.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effiettie amounts reported for the healthcare plareApercentage-point change in
assumed healthcare cost trend rates would haveltbeing effects:

Effect on total of service and interest cc
Effect on postretirement benefit obligati

One-
Percentage

Point
Increase

$ 04
4.2
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Plan Assets
Our pension plan asset allocation at December @16 2nd 2005, by asset class is as follc

Percentage of Plan Assets

2006 2005
Asset Clas
U.S. Equities 33% 39%
Non-U.S. Equities 18% 19%
Fixed Income/Cas 27% 27%
Alternative Investment 3% 1%
Absolute Return Strategir 19% 14%
Total 10C% 10C%

The Alternative Investments asset class includaksestate partnerships, strategic partnershipgateriequity investments, and
commodities. The Alternative Investment class isrided to help diversify risk and increase retloysitilizing a broader group of assets.

Absolute Return Strategies further diversify thaen assets through the use of asset allocati@séek to provide a targeted rate of
return over inflation. The investment managerscalle funds within asset classes that they consideg undervalued in an effort to preserve
gains in overvalued asset classes and to find typities in undervalued asset classes.

A master trust was established by our pension fgd@ccumulate funds required to meet benefit paysnefour plan and is administered
solely in the interest of our plan’s participant&ldaheir beneficiaries. The master trust’s investiit®rizon is long term. Its assets are managed

by professional investment managers or investguidfessionally managed investment vehicles.

The master trust’s investment objective is to mazénthe long-term total rate of return on assethiwithe limits of applicable fiduciary
standards dictated by the Employee Retirement lecBecturity Act of 1974, as amended. Risk is manageativersifying assets across asset
classes whose return patterns are not highly atee| investing in passively and actively manadeategjies and in value and growth styles,
and by periodic rebalancing of asset classesggisg and investment styles to objectively setetsrg

The following target allocation and ranges havenbest for each asset class:

Target Allocation Target Range
Asset Clas
U.S. Equities 32% 24-44%
Non-U.S. Equities 1€% 8-24%
Fixed Income/Cas 2C% 8-40%
Alternative Investment 12% 0-28%
Absolute Return Strategir 2% 10-30%

Ranges recognize the tendency of trends to penstsare designed to minimize transactions costxeged with rebalancing. Asset class
target allocations are reviewed periodically anfisted as appropriate.

For our qualified pension plans, we believe no naamy contributions will be required until 2009. Wy elect to make selective
voluntary contributions, when appropriate. We expeanake payments of approximately $10.0 in 200 $9.0 for each of the next four ye
under the provisions of our other postretirememietiie plans.
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INCOME TAXES
Components of Pretax Income 2006 2005 2004
Domestic $189.¢ $219.1 $74.C
Foreign 11.€ 6.5 4.3
Income from continuing operations before taxes andulative effect of
accounting chang $201.2  $225.€ $79.2

Components of Income Tax Provision (Benefit)

Currently payable

Federal $ 71 $ 218  $(27.2
State 7.C 6.6 (4.6)
Foreign 2.8 1.9 1.6

81.f 30.2  (30.9)

Deferred (29.9) 55.€ 58.7
Income tax provisiol $51.7 $85¢ $28F

The following table accounts for the differenceviestn the actual tax provision and the amounts éthby applying the statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate of 35% to the income framtimuing operations before taxes.

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation (Percent) 2006 2005 2004
Statutory federal tax ra 35.C 35.( 35.(
Foreign rate differentic 0.3 (0. —
Domestic manufacturing/export tax incent 1.9 (0.7) —
Dividends paid to ESO (0.5 (0.5 (1.5
State income taxes, n 3.1 3.7 3.6
Equity income of foreign affiliate (0.3 (0.2 (0.5
Foreign dividenc — — 1.3
Change in tax contingenci (10.9) 0.9 (3.0
Other, ne 0.8 (0.2) 0.9
Effective tax rate 25.7% 38.1 35.¢
Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 2006 2005

Deferred tax asset

Pension and postretirement bene $126.« $131.¢
Environmental reserve 32.¢ 34.2
Asset retirement obligatior 18.7 18.7
Accrued liabilities 40.C 39.5
Tax credits 6.3 7.3
Federal and state net operating los 4.8 20.C
Other miscellaneous iten 9.1 9.4
Total deferred tax asse 238.1 260.¢
Valuation allowanct (9.2 (8.0
Net deferred tax asse 228.¢ 252.¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipme 75.¢ 73.5
Capital loss 1.4 71.5
Inventory and prepaic 4.¢ 6.8
Partnership: 7.4 10.€

Other miscellaneous iten 13-.] 7.C



Total deferred tax liabilitie 102.7 169.k

Net deferred tax ass $126.2 $ 83.4

Realization of the net deferred tax assets is d#grgron future reversals of existing taxable terapodifferences and adequate fut
taxable income, exclusive of reversing temporaffetinces and carryforwards. Although realizat®naot assured, we believe that it is more
likely than not that the net deferred tax asselishgirealized.
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At December 31, 2005, our current income taxes lplayaf $23.4 includes other deferred tax liabititaf $2.9.

In 2005, we recorded a $6.4 after-tax charge feratthoption of FIN No. 47. The pretax charge was%a6d the related tax benefit was
$4.1. This after-tax charge was recorded as theutative effect of accounting change in the Consdéd Statements of Operations.

The deferred tax provision for 2005 and 2004 daseflect the tax effect of $0.4 in 2005 and $0.2004 resulting from hedging
activity under SFAS No. 133. For the year 2006,52@hd 2004, the deferred tax provision does rteate$(34.7), $18.6, and $15.1,
respectively, resulting from a (decrease) incréaslkee minimum pension liability adjustment requifey SFAS No. 87. For the year ended
2006, the deferred tax provision does not refld&. %, resulting from additional defined benefit iem and other postretirement plan liabilities
resulting from the adoption of SFAS No. 158 in Dmber 2006.

At December 31, 2005, we had deferred tax beneffi$l5.6 that are available to offset future coimsded taxable income and expire
from 2018 to 2024. We utilized all these defermad ltenefits with our IRS settlement in July 2006.

At December 31, 2004, we had deferred tax benefi#3.8 relating to capital loss carryforwards 8f&remaining from our acquisition
Chase that were available to offset future conatdid capital gains. As the valuation allowance gsiablished at acquisition through purchase
accounting, any subsequent recognition of the &ebt of such capital loss utilization will be @duction to the goodwill associated with the
Chase acquisition. In 2005, we disposed of cedasgets which generated capital gains. The taxenahital gains was offset by the remaining
capital loss carryforwards acquired with the ChHasginess. The utilization of these loss carryfodsaesulted in a $3.8 reduction in the
goodwill recorded as part of the Chase acquisitidpon further evaluation in 2006, we determinedradization of $3.2 of these capital loss
carryforwards was uncertain. Accordingly, $3.2ha# teduction of goodwill should have been recored deferred tax liability. The
correction, which had no impact on the effectiverte, was recorded in June 2006.

At December 31, 2006, we had federal tax benefi8® relating to foreign tax credit carryforwar@ue to uncertainties regarding the
realization of the tax benefits, a valuation allowa of $4.5 has been applied against the defeasedenefits at December 31, 2006.

At December 31, 2006, we had deferred state tagflisrof $4.8 relating to state net operating lessyforwards of $122.0, which are
available to offset future state taxable incometulgh 2023. Due to uncertainties regarding reabratif the tax benefits, a valuation allowance
of $4.7 has been applied against the deferred tstateenefits at December 31, 2006. At DecembeRBQ6, our current income taxes payable
of $4.8 has been reduced by state tax net opedasgarryforwards of $3.0 that will be utilizegagnst our 2006 income tax liability.

At December 31, 2006, our share of the cumulatidisiributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries w2%.8. No provision has been made
for U.S. or additional foreign taxes on the undlstted earnings of foreign subsidiaries since werid to continue to indefinitely reinvest these
earnings. Foreign tax credits would be availablsuiestantially reduce or eliminate any amount afittwhal U.S. tax that might be payable on
these foreign earnings in the event of distributiosale.

In 2003, we were accepted to participate in the $BtHement initiative pertaining to tax issuesitedl to our benefits liability managem
company. In addition, we settled with the IRS tigkato our COLI program. In the third quarter of020 a final settlement agreement was
reached with the IRS on these and certain othetanding issues related to tax audits coverind &82 through 2000 tax years. In connection
with these settlements, we made payments in trendeguarter of 2004 of $40.8. These payments redall open issues regarding our
benefits liability management company and our Ciolgram. These tax issues had been recorded asiléyiprior to 2002. In the third
quarter of 2004, the income tax provision includeBR.3 reduction in income tax expense associaitbdtie finalization, in the third quarter of
2004, of the settlement of certain issues relatéddome tax audits for the years 1992 through 2000
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In April 2006, we reached an agreement in princgyid expected a settlement with the IRS on cedaistanding federal tax exposures.
On July 10, 2006, the settlement was finalizedsBeittlement, which includes the periods 1996 iR26€elates primarily to the tax treatmen
capital losses generated in 1997. We made payrnéfts.7 and expect to make additional paymentgppfoximately $2.0 in 2007 to the IRS
and various state and local jurisdictions, whicts Wess than the amount previously reserved. Asutrfégncome tax expense in 2006 was
reduced by $21.6 associated with the settlemenbtret tax matters. In the fourth quarter of 2086pme tax expense included a $4.6 incrt
related to state income taxes. This increase iedwsdate tax adjustments associated with the settieof the tax treatment of capital losses
generated in 1997 and other tax matters.

The American Jobs Creation Act (AJCA), signed iate in October 2004, makes a number of changdsetintome tax laws which will
affect us in future years. The most significantrd&for us is a new deduction for qualifying dorieegtoduction activity, which replaces the
current extraterritorial income exclusion. As autesf AJCA, we expect a modest decline in our effe tax rate as the qualifying domestic
production activity deduction is phased in overrlegt six years.

ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Included in accrued liabilities are the followingms:

2006 2005
Accrued compensation and payroll ta $ 385 $ 38z
Environmental (current portion onl 35.C 28.C
Accrued employee benefi 35.€ 22.t
Workers compensatic 21.¢ 20.¢
Legal and professional cos 22.¢ 20.¢
Other 47.: 35.C

$201.C  $165.¢

CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP PLAN

The CEOP is a defined contribution plan availabledsentially all domestic employees. Company niagotontributions are invested in
the same investment allocation as the employeeigibation. Effective January 1, 2003, we susperttiednatch on most salaried employees
contributions. The matching contributions werenstated for salaried employees beginning Januad$,2fbntingent upon our financial
performance. During 2006 and 2005, a performandelmaas earned. Our matching contributions forileliggemployees amounted to $8.2 in
2006, $7.2 in 2005, and $2.8 in 2004.

Employees become vested in the value of the catinis we make to the CEOP according to a schdzaded on service. After two
years of service, participants are 25% vested. Tesayin increments of 25% for each additional yeat after five years of service, they
100% vested in the value of the contributions tathave made to their accounts.

Employees may transfer any or all of the valuenefinvestments, including Olin common stock, to ang or combination of investme
available in the CEOP. Employees may transfer lsalsuaily and may elect to transfer any percertégfee balance in the fund from which
the transfer is made. However, when transferrirtgpba fund, employees are prohibited from trading of the fund to which the transfer was
made for seven calendar days. This limitation deesapply to trades into the money market funcher®lin Common Stock Fund.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The amounts below include the impact of recognizitugl-based compensation expense related to restriciek, terformance share
and stock options for 2006 based on the modifiedgective transition method under SFAS No. 123Rn@nsation expense related to
amounts to be settled in shares for deferred directompensation, restricted stock, and perforraatares were already being recognized
before implementing SFAS No. 123R and totaled $#243, and $1.7 for the years ended December 3B, ZD05, and 2004, respectively.
Total stock-based compensation expense relatdd¢k eptions was as follows:

2006
Stoclk-based Compensation Expense Recogni

Cost of goods sol $04
Selling and administratic 2.9
Total decrease in income before ta 3.3
Income tax benef (1.2
Total decrease in net incor $21
Decrease in Net Income per Common Sh

Basic $0.0<
Diluted $0.0<

Stock-based compensation expense was allocatbeé tuperating segments for the portion related tpleyees whose compensation
would be included in cost of goods sold with theaéder recognized in Corporate/Other. There wersignificant capitalized stock-based
compensation costs.

The total unrecognized compensation cost relateshtested stock options at December 31, 2006 w&sewtl was expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 2absye

In 2006, a reclassification totaling $9.0 from Qth&bilities to Additional Paid-In Capital was madelated to previously recorded costs
for deferred directors’ compensation, the fair eatd stock options assumed at the acquisition @s€hndustries, restricted stock, and the
portion of performance shares that are settlediirstock. This reclassification conforms to theaotting treatment for stock-based
compensation in SFAS No. 123R.

Prior to adopting SFAS No. 123R, we presentedaalbtenefits of deductions resulting from the exsa@f stock options as operating ¢
flows (included as a reduction to income taxes pjaSFAS No. 123R requires the cash flows rasmifiiom excess tax benefits, which are
our tax deductions realized in excess of the comsgu@m costs recognized for the stock options ésedc to be classified as cash flows
provided by financing activities. We elected to jidihe alternative method of calculating the histrpool of windfall tax benefits as
permitted by FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)“Bransition Election Related to Accounting for thax Effects of Share-Based Payment
Awards.” This is a simplified method to determihe ool of windfall tax benefits that is used iniedmining the tax effects of stock
compensation in the results of operations and flashreporting for awards that were outstandingfithe adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

Stock Plans

Under the stock option and Ic-term incentive plans, options may be granted telpase shares of our common stock at an exercise
not less than fair market value at the date oftyiamd are exercisable for a period not exceeding/ears from that date. Stock options,
restricted stock and performance shares typicast over three years. We issue shares to settk gftions, restricted stock, and share-based
performance awards. At December 31, 2006, totaksh@served for issuance were 9.9 million shargs3s million shares available for gre
under the various long term incentive plans. Onil&it, 2006, the shareholders approved the 2006 J@rm Incentive Plan which authorized
an additional 3.0 million shares available for gr&m 2006, long-term incentive awards includedktoptions, performance share awards, and
restricted stock. The stock option exercise pries get at the fair market value of common stoctherdate of the grant, and the options have a
ten-year term.

In 2000, a one-time grant of Performance Accelér&testing Stock Options was granted with an exerpiice of $18.97, which was the
fair market value of our common stock on the déitgrant. Performance Accelerated
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Vesting Stock Options for 854,000 shares were antshg at December 31, 2006. These options haeeradf 120 months and vest in 119
months, and can vest early, but only if the stad&epincreases to $28 per share or more for 10 uhegsy 30 calendar day period.

Stock Option Transactions are as Follows:

Exercisable
Weighted Average
Option Price Option Price Weighted Average
Shares Per Share Per Share Options Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 20 6.25—
7,085,32! $ $33.8¢ $ 19.67 4,833,66! $ 20.8¢
Granted 677,90( 18.52 18.52
Exercisec 6.25—-
(744,12) 18.97 14.4:
Canceled 10.42-
(137,009 28.0¢ 23.17
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 6.25-
6,882,10! 33.8¢ 20.0¢t 4,583,85! $ 21.1¢
Granted 587,52! 23.7¢ 23.7¢
Exercisec 11.72-
(509,089 22.6¢ 16.8¢
Cancelec 12.22-
(466,457 28.0¢ 18.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 6.25-
6,494,09. 33.8¢ 20.7¢ 4,672,64. $ 21.0¢
Granted 787,60( 20.6¢ 20.6¢
Exercised 11.72-
(240,07Y 18.9i 15.8¢
Cancelec 17.45—
(977,889 27.17 24.2¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 6.25—
6,063,72! $ $33.8¢ $ 20.3¢ 4,045,28I $ 20.32

At December 31, 2006, the average exercise peoiodlif outstanding and exercisable options was baths and 43 months, respectivt
At December 31, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic véthe difference between the exercise price andketamalue) for outstanding and exercisi
options were both $0.7. The total intrinsic valdi@ptions exercised during the years ended DeceBthe2006 and 2005 was $1.2 and $3.0,
respectively.

The following table provides certain informationtliviespect to stock options exercisable at Decel@beg2006:

Range of Stock Options Weighted Average Options Weighted Average
Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price Outstanding Exercise Price
Under $18.0( 1,126,08¢ $15.58 1,126,08¢ $15.58
$18.00- $24.00 1,729,60C $19.40 3,748,043 $19.94
Over $24.0( 1,189,597 $26.17 1,189,597 $26.17
4,045,28¢ 6,063,72¢

At December 31, 2006, common shares reserveddoaige and available for grant or purchase unédiotlowing plans consisted of:

Number of Shares

Reserved

for Issuance .
Available for

Stock Option Plans Grant or Purchase




2000 Long Term Incentive Pl
2003 Long Term Incentive Pl
2006 Long Term Incentive Pl

1988 Stock Option Plan (plan expire

1991 Long Term Incentive Plan (plan expir

1996 Stock Option Plan (plan expire

Chase Benefit Plans (assumed in acquisit

Options Available for only Arch Chemicals Employzt

Total under stock option plai
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1,647,36 149,11¢
1,679,92i 327,47¢
3,000,00! 3,000,00!
6,327,29. 3,476,591
18,40( —
689,49( —
2,378,52 —
166,20: —
339,42. —
3,592,03 —
9,919,32! 3,476,59
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Number of Shares

Reserved
for Issuance Available for
Stock Purchase Plans Grant or Purchase
1997 Stock Plan for N-employee Director 399,22: 248,95!
Employee Deferral Pla 49,56¢ 45,98:
Monarch Brass & Copper Corp. Deferral P 500,00( 500,00(
Total under stock purchase ple 948,78’ 794,93t

(1) All available to be issued as stock optidng,includes a sub-limit for all types of stockaards of
1,901,593 share

Under the stock purchase plans, our non-employeetdirs may defer certain elements of their comgims, and former employees of
Monarch may periodically transfer amounts of tleimpensation deferred at the time we acquired Mdmiauto shares of our common stock
based on fair market value of the shares at the tihueferral. Non-employee directors annually neestock grants as a portion of their
director compensation. Of the shares reserved uhdestock purchase plans at December 31, 20068443hares were committed.

Performance share awards are denominated in shiaoeis stock and are paid half in cash and haditatk. Payouts are based on Olin’s
average annual return on capital over a threeqyedormance cycle in relation to the average anretatn on capital over the same period
among a portfolio of public companies which arestld in concert with outside compensation constdta he expense associated with
performance shares is recorded based on our estohaur performance relative to the respectivgaanf an employee leaves the company
before the end of the performance cycle, the peréoice shares may be prorated based on the numivemtiis of the performance cycle
worked and are settled in cash instead of halashand half in stock when the three-year perfommaycle is completed. Performance share
transactions were as follows:

To Settlein Cash To Settlein Shares

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Fair Value Fair Value

Shares per Share Shares per Share
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 203,97! $ 19.3¢ 149,05( $ 20.1¢
Granted 86,40( 20.6¢ 86,40( 20.6¢
Paid/lssuet (56,59)) 19.61  (28,12) 15.3¢
Converted from Shares to Ce 3,85¢ 20.41 (3,855 20.41
Cancelec (3,507 21.4f (3,945 21.3¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 234,13. $ 19.77 199,52! $ 21.0¢
Total vested at December 31, 2( 157,91¢ $ 18,92 123,22¢ $ 20.7¢

The summary of the status of our unvested perfocmahares to be settled in cash are as follows:

Weighted
Average

Fair Value

Shares per Share

Unvested at December 31, 2C 61,63 $ 22.1¢

Granted 86,40( 20.6¢

Vested (68,319 21.0Z

Cancelec (3,507 21.4¢

Unvested at December 31, 2C 76,21 $ 21.5¢

At December 31, 2006, the liability recorded forfpemance shares to be settled in cash totaled $2étotal unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested performames at December 31, 2006 was $2.9 and was egpedde recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.1 years.
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SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

During 2006 and 2005, we issued 1,135,948 shark3ab, 713 shares of common stock, respectively avibtal value of $19.7 at
$15.3, respectively, to the CEOP. These shares is&umed to satisfy the investment in our commonlstesulting from employee
contributions, our matching contribution and reested dividends.

There were no share repurchases in 2006, 2003@ Under programs previously approved by ourdoédirectors, 154,076 shares
remained to be repurchased as of December 31, 2006.

At December 31, 2006, we had $220 registered gesidvailable for issuance with the SEC, wherebynftime to time, we may issue
debt securities, preferred stock and/or commorkstmed associated warrants.

In February 2004, we issued and sold 10 milliomrefaf common stock at a public offering price 88%0 per share. Net proceeds from
the sale were $177.8.

The following table represents the activity incldde Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

Net Minimum
Foreign Unrealized Pension and Accumulated

Currency Net Unrealized on Postretirement Other

Translation on Derivative Marketable Liability Comprehensive

Adjustment Contracts Securities Adjustments Loss
Balance January 1, 20i $ 59 $ 3.6 $ — $ (244 $ (246.9)
Unrealized Gains (Losse (1.3 1.2 0.¢ (23.9) (22.9
Reclassification Adjustmen — (3.6) — — (3.6)
Balance December 31, 20 (7.2 1.2 0.c (268.2) (273.9)
Unrealized Gains (Losse (2.3 1.6 0.2 (29.2) (29.7)
Reclassification Adjustmen — 2.2 (0.2 — (1.9
Balance December 31, 20 (9.5 1.6 0.¢ (297.9) (304.9
Unrealized Gains (Losses) 1.2 6.C _ (18.6) ¢ (11.€)
Reclassification Adjustmen — (1.6) (0.9 — (2.5)
Balance December 31, 20 $ (83 $ 6.C $ — $ (316.9 $ (318.5)

In accordance with SFAS No. 87, we recorded aer-&étx credit of $54.5 to Other Comprehensive Léssa result of adopting SFAS
No. 158, this was offset by af-tax charges of $39.7 and $33.6 for defined bepefiision and postretirement plans, respectively.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

We define segment income as income (loss) befoeedst expense, interest income, other incomeijranuane taxes, and include t
results of non-consolidated affiliates. Consisteith the guidance in SFAS 131, we have determihedappropriate to include the operating
results of non-consolidated affiliates in the raletvsegment financial results. Our management dersthe SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership
to be an integral component of the Chlor Alkali drots segment and Yamaha-Olin Metal Corporatidetan integral component of the
Metals segment. Each are engaged in the same basingvity as the segment, including joint or ¢seping marketing, management,
manufacturing and technology development functitmter-segment sales of $69.1, $47.7 and $37.thfoyears 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, representing the sale of ammunitantriclge cups to Winchester from Metals, at prited approximate market, have been
eliminated from Metals segment sales.

2006 2005 2004
Sales:
Chlor Alkali Products $ 666.] $ 610.Z $ 448.2
Metals 2,112.. 1,402.° 1,230.:
Winchestel 373.¢ 344.¢ 318.t
Total sales $3,151.¢ $2,357." $1,996.¢
Income from continuing operations before taxes andumulative effect of accounting change
Chlor Alkali Products $ 256.: $ 237.( $ 83.C
Metals 58.2 34.C 50.t
Winchestel 15.¢ 7.8 21.¢€
Corporate/Othe (111.0 (61.9 (58.9)
Restructuring Charge (17.€ (0.3 (9.6)
Other Operating Incom 6.7 9.1 5.5
Interest Expens (20.9) (19.9 (20.2)
Interest Incom 11.€ 18.: 1.8
Other Income 15 1kt 4.5
Income from continuing operations before taxes andulative effect of accounting char $ 201.¢ $ 225.¢ $ 79.2
Earnings of nor-consolidated affiliates
Chlor Alkali Products $ 45: $ 37.¢ $ 9cC
Metals 0.7 0.7 11
Total earnings of nc-consolidated affiliate $ 46.C $ 38k $ 101
Depreciation and amortization expense
Chlor Alkali Products $ 27.1 $ 25z $ 23.¢
Metals 35.C 37.4 38.¢
Winchestel 8.5 8.2 8.2
Corporate/Othe 15 1.7 2.4
Total depreciation and amortization expe $ 721 $ T72EF $ 73:
Capital spending:
Chlor Alkali Products $ 51t $ 48t $ 28
Metals 19.5 18.7 17.k
Winchestel 9.1 12.€ 8.6
Corporate/Othe 0.5 1.2 0.4
Total capital spendin $ 80.¢ $ 81.C $ 55.1
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2006 2005
Assets:
Chlor Alkali Products $ 278.% $ 255.¢
Metals 741.2 712.3
Wincheste! 180.2 161.(
Corporate/Othe 436.2 668.<
Total asset $1,636.! $1,797..
Investment<—affiliated companies (at equity):
Chlor Alkali Products $ (13.5) $ (14.9)
Metals 12.2 11.2
Total investmen—affiliated companies (at equit $ (13 $ (3.5

Segment assets include only those assets whiatiragtly identifiable to an operating segment anchdt include such items as cash,
deferred taxes and other assets. All goodwill, Whscassociated with its acquisitions, is inclugdethe assets of the Metals segment. Assets of
the Corporate/Other segment include primarily stens as cash and cash equivalents, short-ternstimesits, deferred taxes, and other assets
Upon adoption of SFAS No. 158 in 2006, prepaid ensosts, which were included in the Corporateddgegment, were eliminated against
our pension liability.

Geographic Data: 2006 2005 2004
Sales
United State! $3,026.¢ $2,273." $1,916.¢
Foreign 124.¢ 84.2 80.2
Transfers between are:
United State! 57.4 41.C 33.€
Foreign 0.7 1.2 0.5
Eliminations (58.7) (42.2) (34.9
Total sales $3,151..¢ $2,357.° $1,996.¢
Assets
United State: $1,542.- $1,718.¢
Foreign 81.¢ 67.5
Investment: 12.2 11.2
Total assets $1,636.: $1,797.:

Transfers between geographic areas are pricedabnat prevailing market prices. Export sales fritva United States to unaffiliated
customers were $120.7, $77.4, and $74.3 in 20085 20d 2004, respectively.

ACQUISITIONS

In November 2004, we acquired certain assets oaMstils LLC for $3.2. Metal Foils was a distributaf aluminum, stainless steel, a
copper products and was located in Willoughby, @kk acquisition has been accounted for using thehpse method of accounting and has
been included in the Metals segment. As part oftireement, we could have additional considergtayments through 2009, which are
contingent on shipments of aluminum products ta#isally identified customers and are not guaradte

The following table includes the estimated fairueabf the assets acquired and the liabilities asslemh the dates of acquisition. Based on
valuations done at the acquisition date of MetalsFassets, $1.2 was assigned to goodwill, whichat subject to amortization. Goodwill was
adjusted by $0.4 and $0.5 in 2006 and 2005, reispégctfor contingent consideration payments.

Supplemental cash flow information on the Metall$-acquisition is as follows:

2004
Working capital $1.€
Property, plant and equipme 0.4

Goodwill 1.2



Net assets acquire $3.2
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RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

On February 1, 2006, we announced that, in cormeetith the ongoing cost reduction efforts of ouetlls business, we decided to cl
our Waterbury facility and consolidate those prdiucactivities into our East Alton, IL mill. In @ition, on March 14, 2006, we decided to
reduce the utilization of one of our Metals sengeater facilities by consolidating certain aciastinto another service center facility, and
make overhead reductions in the Metals businesstaffy approximately 20 employees. We based ousidecon our evaluation of the size,
location, and capability of our facilities and $itad in light of anticipated business needs. Wessaifitially completed these activities by
June 30, 2006. As a result of these cost reduetfmmts, we recorded a pretax restructuring chafgkl5.7 in the first quarter of 2006. In the
fourth quarter, primarily as a result of realizimgre proceeds from equipment sales than expectedeauced our previously established
restructuring reserve related to the Waterbunfitadiy $1.6. The net restructuring charge of $1gritnarily included lease and other contract
termination costs ($8.0), write-off of equipmenddacility costs ($2.8), and employee severanceraladed benefit costs ($3.3). We expect to
incur cash expenditures of $10.3 related to thégrweturing charge. The impact of this restructyitharge was substantially offset by a LIFO
inventory liquidation gain of $13.5 realized relthte the closure of our Waterbury facility.

On November 27, 2006, we announced that, in coioreatith the ongoing cost reduction efforts of dletals business, we decided to
close our Seymour facility and consolidate som#ho$e production activities into other Olin locaso We currently expect to complete the
closing of the Seymour facility during the seconguder of 2007. We based our decision on our etialuaf the size, location, and capability
of our facilities and staffing in light of anticiged business needs. We recorded atone-pretax restructuring charge of $3.5. Thisrtettring
charge included write-off of equipment and facilitysts ($2.4), employee severance and relatedibeasfs ($0.9), and contract termination
costs ($0.2). We expect to incur cash expenditof&4..6 related to this restructuring. The impddhds restructuring charge was more than
offset by a LIFO inventory liquidation gain of $&Qealized related to the closure of our Seymocififa

On January 29, 2004, we announced that our boadttexftors approved plans to relocate our corpartiiees for organizational,
strategic and economic reasons. By the end of 2084ad completed the relocation of a portion afaarporate services personnel from
Norwalk, CT to our Main Office Building in East Alt, IL. We also established our new corporate headers in Clayton, which is in £
Louis County, MO, for logistical and other reasohise relocation of the corporate offices was accamgd by a downsized corporate structure
more appropriate for us in todaycompetitive business environment. The headquarémcation was completed by the end of 2004. Assalt
of the relocation, we incurred costs of $10.1 if£0and incurred an additional $0.3 of costs in®0is restructuring charge included
primarily employee severance and related benefitscoelocation expense, pension curtailment exgand the incurred cost for outplacement
services for all affected employees. The sale efitidianapolis facility in November 2004 resultadaireduction of a previously established
reserve related to our Indianapolis restructurih§®5, which reduced the total 2004 restructuthgrge to $9.6.

The following table summarizes the major componehtbe 2006 and 2004 charges and the remainiranbas as of December 31, 2(

2006 Accrued
Restructuring Amounts Restructuring
Charges Utilized Costs
Lease and other contract termination c $ 8.2 $ (0.7 $ 7.
Employee severance and job related ben 4.2 1.7 2.t
Write-off of equipment and facilitie 5.2 (3.8 1.4
$ 17.€ $ (6.2 $ 11.4
2004 Accrued
Restructuring Amounts Restructuring
Charges Utilized Costs
Employee severance and job related ben $ 8.1 $ (7.8 $ 0.3
Relocation and outplacement servi 11 (1.7 —
Pension curtailmer 1.2 (1.2 —
$ 10.4 $ (10.7) $ 0.3
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The majority of the remaining balance of $11.4 #6a8 of the 2006 and 2004 restructuring chargepewively, are expected to be paid
out in 2007.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On June 11, 2004, we sold our Olin Aegis busine$$QC Industries, Inc. The company received prosed17.1, which resulted in a
pretax gain on the sale of $5.8 (net of taxes 0862 he disposal of the assets and operationdinfARgis represented the disposal of a
component of an entity within our Metals businesgnsent. Consequently, the financial data relatgdlito Aegis is classified in the
consolidated financial statements as a discontimpedation.

The operating results of discontinued operationsevas follows:

2004
Net sales $12.5
Income from operations before ta 0.8
Gain on sale of discontinued operatit 5.8
Income before taxe 6.€
Income tax provisiol 2.t
Net income $ 4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL

The establishment and implementation of federatesand local standards to regulate air, watelaml quality has affected and w
continue to affect substantially all of our manufaing locations. Federal legislation providing fegulation of the manufacture, transportat
use and disposal of hazardous and toxic substasmedsemediation of contaminated sites, has impadddional regulatory requirements on
industry, particularly the chemicals industry. bid@ion, implementation of environmental laws, sashthe Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act and the Clean Air Act, has required @aill continue to require new capital expendituaesl will increase plant operating costs.
We employ waste minimization and pollution preventprograms at our manufacturing sites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufagacilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigatadyramedial activities are provided for in accomawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityreasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitystingate future costs depends on whether our
investigatory and remedial activities are in préfiary or advanced stages. With respect to unaskeldans, we accrue liabilities for costs that,
in our experience, we may incur to protect ourriggés against those unasserted claims. Our actabdities for unasserted claims amounted
to $5.7 at December 31, 2006. With respect to sbetaims, we accrue liabilities based on remediastigation, feasibility study, remedial
action and OM&M expenses that, in our experienamay incur in connection with the asserted claiResjuired site OM&M expenses are
estimated and accrued in their entirety for requperiods not exceeding 30 years, which reasorsgpyoximates the typical duration of long-
term site OM&M. Charges or credits to income fordstigatory and remedial efforts were materialgerating results in 2006, 2005, and 2004
and may be material to net income in future years.

Environmental provisions (credits) charged (crad)ite income were as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Charges to incom $23.¢ $22.7 $23.4
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred exgensed in prior periot (1.2 (38.5) —
Total provision (credit $22.¢ $(15.) $23.2

These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufaaguoperations and former waste
disposal sites.
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Our estimated environmental liability at the en®006 was attributable to 75 sites, 16 of whicheld SEPA NPL sites. Ten sites
accounted for 72% of such liability and, of the e#ning 65 sites, no one site accounted for more 89a of our environmental liability. At two
of these ten sites a remedial plan has been sthtiyt us and a ROD or its equivalent has not besered. At three of the ten sites, part of the
site is subject to a remedial investigation andfagropart is in the long-term OM&M stage. At twotbe sites, part of the site is subject to
remedial action and another part is in the longit€@M&M stage. One site is at the investigatory stalhe two remaining sites are in lotegm
OMé&M. All ten sites are either associated with pastinufacturing operations or former waste dispsiéas. None of the ten largest sites
represents more than 15% of the liabilities resgtse our consolidated balance sheet at Decemb&OBS, for future environmental
expenditures.

Our consolidated balance sheets included liakslitie future environmental expenditures to investgand remediate known sites
amounting to $90.8 at December 31, 2006, and $1&2D&cember 31, 2005, of which $55.8 and $74.®wlkassified as other noncurrent
liabilities, respectively. Those amounts did ndéténto account any discounting of future experréor any consideration of insurance
recoveries or advances in technology. Those ligdsliare reassessed periodically to determinevife@mmental circumstances have changed
and/or remediation efforts and our estimate ofteelaosts have changed. As a result of these s=amsats, future charges to income may be
made for additional liabilities. Of the $90.8 indkd on our consolidated balance sheet at Decemb@086 for future environmental
expenditures, we currently expect to utilize $5&.¢he reserve for future environmental expendgweer the next 5 years, $13.8 for
expenditures 6 to 10 years in the future, and $&i.&xpenditures beyond 10 years in the future.

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isite@stigation and remediation are expected to rdegween approximately $20.0 to
$40.0 over the next several years, which are egpdctbe charged against reserves recorded oratande sheet. While we do not anticipate a
material increase in the projected annual levelwfenvironmental-related cash outlays, therevimpsd the possibility that such increases may
occur in the future in view of the uncertainties@sated with environmental exposures. Environmenposures are difficult to assess for
numerous reasons, including the identification @frsites, developments at sites resulting fromstigatory studies, advances in technology,
changes in environmental laws and regulations laeid &pplication, changes in regulatory authorjtibe scarcity of reliable data pertaining to
identified sites, the difficulty in assessing thgalvement and financial capability of other PRRd aur ability to obtain contributions from
other parties and the lengthy time periods overctvsite remediation occurs. It is possible thatsofithese matters (the outcomes of which
are subject to various uncertainties) may be resblinfavorably to us, which could materially adedyrsaffect our financial position or results
of operations. At December 31, 2006, we estimatenag have additional contingent environmental liibs of $50.0 in addition to the
amounts for which we have already recorded aseves

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We lease certain properties, such as railroad dassibution, warehousing and office space, date@ssing and office equipment.
Virtually none of our lease agreements containlatioca clauses or step rent provisions. Total eeqtense charged to operations amounted to
$30.0 in 2006, $28.2 in 2005 and $28.0 in 2004I&ade income is not significant). Future minimumt ygayments under operating leases
having initial or remaining non-cancelable leasentein excess of one year at December 31, 2008saf@lows; $23.8 in 2007; $19.2 in 2008;
$16.1 in 2009; $18.7 in 2010, $9.1 in 2011, anotal bf $34.3 thereafter.

On December 31, 1997, we entered into a long-teutfur dioxide supply agreement with Alliance Spédgi Chemicals, Inc. (Alliance),
formerly known as RFC SQ, Inc. Alliance has the obligation to deliver anifiyi86,000 tons of sulfur dioxide. Alliance ownsetbulfur dioxidt
plant, which is located at our Charleston, TN facénd is operated by us. The price for the sulfioxide is fixed over the life of the contract,
and under the terms of the contract, we are olgdytd make a monthly payment of $0.2 regardleskeofulfur dioxide purchased.
Commitments related to this agreement are $2.4qarfor 2007 through 2011 and $0.6 in 2012. Thjsp/ agreement expires in 2012.

We and our subsidiaries are defendants in variegal lactions (including proceedings based on alleg@osures to asbestos) incidental
to our past and current business activities. Wiigebelieve that none of these legal actions wiltarially adversely affect our financial
position, in light of the inherent uncertaintiestio€ litigation concerning alleged exposures, wenoaat this time determine whether the
financial impact, if any, of these matters will tnaterial to our results of operations.

75



Table of Contents

During the ordinary course of our business, comtimies arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation, or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization gfassible gain contingency. In certain instances €1 environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the clean-up and remediati an environmental site. There exists the [bi#giof recovering a portion of these
costs from other parties. We account for gain cg@ncies in accordance with the provisions of SR&S5, “Accounting for Contingencies,”
and therefore do not record gain contingenciesraodgnize income until it is earned and realizable.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On January 31, 2007, we entered into a sale/leaketmaeement for chlorine railcars in our Chlor @lkProducts segment that were
acquired in 2005 and 2006. The sale/leaseback aparating lease which expires on December 31, .2D1i8 transaction reduced our fixed
assets by approximately $16.0.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

2006
Sales
Cost of goods sold (!
Net income
Net income per common sha
Basic
Diluted
Common dividends per she
Market price of common stock (
High
Low
2005

Sales
Cost of goods sold (!
Income before cumulative effect of accounting clee
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net
Net income
Basic income per common sha
Income from continuing operations before cumulagffect of accountini
change
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net
Net income
Diluted income per common sha
Income from continuing operations before cumulagffect of accounting
change, ne
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net
Net income
Common dividends per she
Market price of common stock (
High
Low

(1) Cost of goods sold includes the LIFO inventory ilitation gains
(2) New York Stock Exchange composite transacti

(3) Operating results in the fourth quarter of 2003uded an afte-tax cumulative charge of $6.4 for the adoption ¥ Ko. 47.

77

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
$725.1 $826.« $851.¢ $748.¢ $3,151.¢
618.¢ 741.% 769.¢ 667.2 2,797..
33.7 33.C 56.2 26.€ 149.7
0.47 0.4¢ 0.77 0.37 2.0¢€
0.47 0.4t 0.77 0.37 2.0¢€
0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
22.0( 22.6¢ 18.32 17.7(¢ 22.6%
19.45 16.3¢ 14.22 15.2C 14.22
$560.¢ $593.7 $599.C $604.1 $2,357.’
473.¢ 505.f 505.4 514.( 1,998.¢
37.2 32.1 31.4 39.C 139.7
— — — (6.4) (6.4)
37.2 32.1 31.4 32.¢ 133.<
0.52 0.4f 0.44 0.54 1.9¢
— — — (0.09) (0.09)
0.52 0.4¢ 0.44 0.4t 1.87
0.52 0.4¢ 0.44 0.54 1.9
— — — (0.09) (0.09)
0.52 0.4f 0.44 0.4f 1.8¢
0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
25.3¢ 23.7¢ 20.0C 20.1¢ 25.3¢
20.22 17.0¢ 17.51 16.6¢ 16.6¢
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our chief executive officer and our chief finanaidficer evaluated the effectiveness of our disgtescontrols and procedures as
December 31, 2006. Based on that evaluation, aaf eRecutive officer and chief financial officeave concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectivenisure that information Olin is required to disel in the reports that it files or submits v
the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 193ddorded, processed, summarized and reporteth it time periods specified in the
Commissions rules and forms, and to ensure that informatguired to be disclosed by Olin in such reportscisumulated and communica
to Olin’'s management, including its chief executbféicer and chief financial officer, as appropeab allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

There have been no changes in our internal coowe financial reporting that occurred during thewder ended December 31, 2006 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdincial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
PART Il
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERN ANCE

We incorporate the biographical information relgtio our Directors under the heading “Item 1- Psgddor the Election of Directors” in
our Proxy Statement relating to our 2007 Annual fiheeof Shareholders (the “Proxy Statement”) byerefce in this Report. See also the list
of executive officers following Item 4 in Part | tifis Report. We incorporate the information regagccompliance with Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, coeddn the paragraph entitled “Section 16(a) BemflOwnership Reporting Compliance”
under the heading “Security Ownership of Directnmg Officers” in our Proxy Statement by referencénis Report.

The information with respect to our audit committeeluding the audit committee financial expestiricorporated by reference in this
Report to the information contained in the parabraptitied “What are the committees of the Boandf®ler the heading “Corporate
Governance Matters” in our Proxy Statement. Weriporate by reference in this Report informationareling procedures for shareholders to
nominate a director for election, in the Proxy &ta¢nt under the headings “Miscellaneous-How cadrettly nominate a Director for election
to the Board at the 2008 Annual Meeting?” and “@oape Governance Matters-What is Olin’s Directoniimation Process?”.

We have adopted a code of business conduct ara$ ddinidirectors, officers and employees, knowthasCode of Business Conduct.
Code is available in the Corporate Governanceaedt the Investor section of our website at wwin.abm.
ltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in the Proxy Statement under thediveg“ Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Eipetion” on page 14 ar
the information on pages 19 through 47, (beginmiith the information under the heading “Compensaiiscussion and Analysis” through
the information under the heading “Compensation @dtee Report,”) are incorporated by referencénia Report.
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

We incorporate the information concerning holdin§sur common stock by certain beneficial ownenstamed under the heading
“Certain Beneficial Owners” in our Proxy Statemantl the information concerning beneficial ownersifipur common stock by our directors
and officers under the heading “Security Ownersiiipirectors and Officers” in our Proxy Statemegtrbference in this Report.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

We incorporate the information under the head“Review, Approval, or Ratification of TransactionghwRelated Perso” and“Which
Board members are independent?” in our Proxy Sttelvy reference in this Report.
ltem 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

We incorporate the information concerning the aatiog fees and services of our independent regidtpublic accounting firm, KPM!
LLP under the heading “ltem 2—Proposal to RatifypAmtment of Independent Registered Public AccanEirm”in our Proxy Statement
reference in this Report.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS; CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE S
(@ 1. Consolidated Financial Statement:

Consolidated financial statements of the registaaatincluded in Iltem 8 abov

2.  Financial Statement Schedule

Schedules containing separate financial statenwér@anBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership are set forggginning on page S-1
immediately following the signature page in theyopthis annual report filed with the SEC. Separmatnsolidated financial statements
of our other 50% or less owned subsidiaries ac@alfdr by the equity method are not summarizedihened have been omitted beca
in the aggregate, they would not constitute a §igant subsidiary.

Schedules not included herein are omitted becdngseare inapplicable or not required or becausedteired information is given
in the consolidated financial statements and nibie®to.

3. Exhibits
Management contracts and compensatory plans aadgaments are listed as Exhibits 10(a) throughc) Giglow.

3 €) Olin’s Restated Articles of Incorporation as amendegttffe May 8, 19¢—Exhibit 3(a) to Olir's Form 1i-Q for the

quarter ended June 30, 200

(b) By-laws of Olin as amended effective April 26, 2—Exhibit 3(b) to Olir s Form K dated April 26, 2006.

4 €) Articles of Amendment designating Series A Parttipg Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $1spar—Exhibit 2 to

Olin’'s Form A dated February 21, 1996, covering Series A Hpetig Cumulative Preferred Stock Purchase Ritl

(b) Form of Senior Debt Indenture between Olin and dbahBanl—Exhibit 4(a) to Form -K dated June 15, 199
Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 18, 1@94den Olin and Chemical Bank—Exhibit 4(c) to Ragison
Statement No. 33-52771 and Second Supplementattimdedated as of December 11, 2001 between OtirdRMorgan
Chase Bank, formerly known as Chemical E—Exhibit 4 to Form -K dated December 20, 2001

(c) Credit Agreement dated as of July 30, 2004 amomg &id the banks named the—Exhibit 4(d) to Olirs Form 1-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 20C

(d) 9.125% Senior Note Due 2C—Exhibit 4(f) to Olir's Form 1K for 2001.*

(e) Indenture between Olin and JPMorgan Chase Bank, daed as of June 26, 2006—Exhibit 4.1 to Olirdsnr 8-K dated
June 26, 2006.

) Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility for Trustee under Inder—Exhibit 25.1 to Oli's Amendment No. 2 to Registrati
Statement No. 3:-138283 filed on January 9, 200°

(9) 6.75% Senior Note Due 20—Exhibit 4.1 to Olir's Form K dated July 28, 2006.

(h) First Supplemental Indenture between Olin and JRsloiChase Bank, N.A. dated July 28, z—Exhibit 4.2 to Olir's
Form ¢-K dated July 28, 2006.

0] Registration Rights Agreement among Olin, Banc ofetica Securities LLC, Citigroup Global Markets .laad Wachovi:
Capital Markets, LLC dated July 28, 2(—Exhibit 4.3 to Olirs Form K dated July 28, 2006.

We are party to a number of other instruments defithe rights of holders of long-term debt. Nolsircstrument

authorizes an amount of securities in excess of @D#te total assets of Olin and its subsidiariesa@onsolidated basis.
Olin agrees to furnish a copy of each instrumerthéoCommission upon request.

10 (a) 1988 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olim@wation and Subsidiaries as amended through 3a80a2003—

Exhibit 10(a) to Olir's Form 1i-K for 2002.*

(b) Employee Deferral Plan as amended and restatedtigéfexs of January 30, 2003 and as amended efettinuary 1,
2005—Exhibit 10(b) to Olirs Form 1-K for 2002 and Exhibit 10(b)(1) to O’s Form 1K for 2005, respectively.

(c) Olin Senior Executive Pension Plan amended aslgf2iy 2000 as amended by resolutions adopted on2a2005 ant
January 1, 2006—Exhibit 10(d) to Olin’s Form 10@) the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhib# th0Olin’'s Form
8-K dated May 31, 2005, Exhibit 10(c)(1) to Olifterm 10-K for 2005 and Exhibit 10(qq) to OknRegistration Stateme
No. 33:-138238 filed on October 26, 2006, respective

(d) Olin Supplemental Contributing Employee OwnersHgnRas amended and restated effective January0b, &@d as
amended by resolutions adopted on May 27, 2005ixt0d(d) to Olin’s Form 10-Q for the quarter endédrch 31, 2005,
Exhibit 10.2 to Olir's Form -K dated May 31, 2005, and Exhibit 10(d)(1) to (s Form 1K for 2005, respectively.

(e) Olin Corporation Key Executive Life Insurance Prag—Exhibit 10(e) to Oli’'s Form 1i-K for 2002.*
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Form of executive agreement between Olin and ceerecutive officers dated November 1, Z—Exhibit 10(f) to Olir's
Form 1(-K for 2002.*

Form of Notice of Intention to Terminate Execut&greements with certain executi—Exhibit 10.1 to Olir's Form &K
dated August 3, 2005

Form of executive agreement between Olin and ceesecutive officers-Exhibit 99.1 to Olin’s FormkBdated January 28,
2005.*

Form of executive change-in-control agreement betw@lin and certain executive officers-Exhibit 9820lin’s Form 8-K
dated January 28, 200t

Olin 1991 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amendedutiinaJanuary 30, 20—Exhibit 10(g) to Olirs Form 1-K for 2002.*
Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan for-Employee Directors as amended effective Decemb20d5.

Olin Senior Management Incentive Compensation Rlargmended through January 26, 2005 and ameneffective
January 1, 2005-Appendix B to Olin’s 2005 Proxyt&tgent dated March 15, 2005 and Exhibit 10(I)(1ptm’s Form 10-K
for 2005, respectively.

Description of Restricted Stock Unit Awards granteaier the 2000 Long Term Incentive F—Exhibit 10(m) to Olir's
Form 1(-K for 2001.*

Description of Restricted Stock Unit Awards grantedier the 2003 Long Term Incentive Plan—Exhibiti)to Olin’s
Form 1(-K for 2004.*

1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olirr@wation and Subsidiaries as amended as of JaB0aB003—
Exhibit 10(l) to Olir's Form 1-K for 2002.*

Olin Supplementary and Deferral Benefit Pensiom Péstated as of February 8, 1999 and as amendesbsblutions adopte
on January 1, 2006—Exhibit 10(s) to Olin’s FormQCfor the quarter ended March 31, 1999 and ExAibftr) to Olin’s
Registration Statement No. -138238 filed on October 26, 2006, respective

Olin Corporation 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan aseaded through January 30, 2—Exhibit 10(n) to Olirs Form 1-K
for 2002.*

Olin Corporation 2003 Long Term Incentive F—Exhibit 10(0) to Olir's Form 1+K for 2002.*

Olin Corporation 2006 Long Term Incentive F— Appendix A to Olir's 2006 Proxy Statement dated March 24, 20
2004 Performance Share Prog—Exhibit 10(s) to Olirs Form 1-K for 2004.*

2005 Performance Share Prog—Exhibit 10(t) to Olir's Form 1i-K for 2004.*

2006 Performance Share Prog—Exhibit 10(v) to Olirs Form 1-K for 2005.*

Performance Share Program adopted as of FebruaB00i—Exhibit 99.1 to Olir s Form K dated February 13, 2007
Chase Industries Inc. 1994 L¢-Term Incentive Plan, as amended as of May 14, 88@7First Amendment effective as
November 19, 19<—Exhibit 10.5 to Chase Industries Inc. Form 10-K¥898 and Exhibit 10.7 to Chase Industries Inc.
Form 1(-K for 1999, respective—SEC file No. -13394.*

Chase Industries Inc. 1997 M-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as amended &8y1998 and First Amendme
effective as of November 19, 1999—Exhibit 10.6 tta€e Industries Inc. Form 10-K for 1998 and ExHibit9 to Chase
Industries Inc. Form -K for 1999, respective—SEC file No. -13394.*

Form of Voluntary Employment Separation Agreemertt Release with certain executive offi-Exhibit 10(u) to Olir's
Form 1(-K for 2003.*

Letter Agreement with G. H. Pain dated January28®¢-Exhibit 10(v) to Olirs Form 1-K for 2003.*

Limited Waiver of Executive Agreement Provisiongwi. H. Pai—Exhibit 10(z) to Olirs Form 1i-K for 2004.*
Summary of Stock Option Continuation Po—Exhibit 10(bb) to Olir's Form 1-K for 2005.*

Distribution Agreement between Olin Corporation #&rdh Chemicals, Inc., dated as of February 1, —Exhibit 2.1 to
Olin’s Form K filed February 23, 1999.

Partnership Agreement between Olin SunBelt, Ind. 2897 Chloralkali Venture Inc. dated August 239&—Exhibit 99.1 t
Olin’s Form K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OlirB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. daf@ekcember 23,
1997—Exhibit 99.2 to Olir's Form K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OlirB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. daf@elcember 23
1997—Exhibit 99.3 to Olirs Form -K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OlirB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. dafgatil 30, 199¢—
Exhibit 99.4 to Olir's Form K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OlirB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. dafieshuary 1, 2003—
Exhibit 10(aa) to Oli’'s Form 1-K for 2002.*

Note Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 19%/édetthe SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership and thecRasers name
thereir—Exhibit 99.5 to Olir s Form K dated December 3, 2001

Guarantee Agreement dated December 22, 1997 betl@eand the Purchasers named the—Exhibit 99.6 to Olir's
Form &K dated December 3, 2001

Subordination Agreement dated December 22, 199%¥daest Olin and the Subordinated Parties named t+—Exhibit 99.7
to Olin's Form K dated December 3, 2001

Computation of Per Share Earnings (included inrNbee—“Earnings Per Share” to Notes to Consolid&tie@ncial
Statements in Item 8

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chargesa(dited)

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of KPMG LLP



23.2
31.1
31.2
32

Consent of Ernst & Young LLF

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief ExaauOfficer.

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Finah©fficer.

Section 906 Certification Statement of Chief ExamiOfficer and Chief Financial Office
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* Previously filed as indicated and incorporated imelg reference. Exhibits incorporated by refereaelocated in SEC file No-
1070 unless otherwise indicatt

Any of the foregoing exhibits are available frore iompany by writing to: Mr. George H. Pain, Vige$tdent, General Counsel and
Secretary, Olin Corporation, 190 Carondelet PI&zdte 1530, Clayton, MO 63105-3443.

Shareholders may obtain information from Mellondstor Services LLC, our registrar and transfer ggeimo also manages our
Automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan by writing kdellon Investor Services LLC, 480 Washington Bwalel, Jersey City, NJ 07310, by
telephone at (800) 306-8594 or via the Internetwatv.melloninvestor.com.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

Date: February 27, 2007

O LIN C ORPORATION

By /sl JosepHD. R upp

Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and orddte indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl JosepHD. RupP Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi February 27, 200
and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Joseph D. Rupp
/s/  DoNALD W. B ocus Director February 27, 200

Donald W. Bogus

/s/ C. RoBERTB UNCH Director February 27, 200

C. Robert Bunch

/s/ DONALD W. G RIFFIN Director February 27, 200

Donald W. Griffin

/sl VIRGINIA A. K AMSKY Director February 27, 200

Virginia A. Kamsky

/sl RANDALL W. L ARRIMORE Director February 27, 2007

Randall W. Larrimore

/sl JoHNM. B. O'C ONNOR Director February 27, 2007

John M. B. O’Connor

/s/ RICHARD M. R OMPALA Director February 27, 2007

Richard M. Rompala

/sl ANTHONY W. R UGGIERO Director February 27, 2007

Anthony W. Ruggiero

/sl PHILIP J. SCHULZ Director February 27, 2007
Philip J. Schulz
/sl JoHN E. FISCHER Vice President and Chief Financial Offic February 27, 200

(Principal Financial Officer)
John E. Fischer

/s/  TobbDA. SLATER Vice President and Controller (Princig February 27, 200
Accounting Officer)

Todd A. Slater
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm

The Partners
SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership

We have audited the accompanying balance she&sndelt Chlor Alkali Partnership as of DecemberZ106 and 2005, and the related
statements of income, partners’ deficit, and céshd for each of the three years in the period dridecember 31, 2006. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Partnpisimanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspaman on these financial statements bz
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlgUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait @fuithe Partnership’s internal control over figéal reporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasare appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Partnership’s internal cdraver financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesréxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusms and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementeaaidating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@adtbove present fairly, in all material respedts,financial position of SunBelt Chlor Alkali
Partnership at December 31, 2006 and 2005, ane¢hts of its operations and its cash flows faheaf the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. gengratcepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

Cleveland, Ohio
February 19, 2007
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership

Balance Sheets

December 31
2006 2005

Assets
Current assett

Cash $ 1,00 $ 44,01

Receivable from Oxy Vinyls, Ll 7,732,63 7,015,45!

Receivables from partne 14,303,28 17,936,64

Inventories 1,607,13. 2,069,89!

Prepaids and other current as¢ 1,460,77! 1,291,60:
Total current asse 25,104,82 28,357,60
Property, plant, and equipment, | 112,783,12 119,565,93
Deferred financing costs, n 881,62t 961,77
Total asset $138,769,57 $148,885,31
Liabilities and partners’ deficit
Current liabilities:

Amounts payable to partne $ 993301 $ 7,217,31L

Current portion of lon-term debt 12,187,50 12,187,50
Total current liabilities 22,120,51 19,404,81
Long-term debi 121,875,00 134,062,50
Partner’ deficit (5,225,93) (4,582,001
Total liabilities and partne’ deficit $138,769,57 $148,885,31

See accompanying notes.
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Revenue:

Operating costs and expens
Cost of sale:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Administrative and gener.

Operating incom
Interest expens
Interest incomt

Net income

See accompanying notes.

SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership
Income Statements
Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
$186,742,65 $166,967,65 $105,764,12

56,316,78  48,699,08  45,281,28
14,554,15 14,347,26 14,150,72
11,591,05 11,694,52. 10,701,13
82,461,99 74,740,88 70,133,14
104,280,66 92,226,77 35,630,98
(10,573,87)  (11,455,03)  (12,336,18)
853,82: 537,42: 161,16t

$ 94,560,61 $ 81,309,16 $ 23,455,96
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Balance at December 31, 20
Cash distributions to partne
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2C
Cash distributions to partne
Net income

Balance at December 31, 20
Cash distributions to partne
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2C

See accompanying notes.

pgs
s SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership

Statements of Partners’ Deficit

Partners

1997

Olin SunBelt Chlor Alkali
Inc. Venture, Inc. Total
$(14,301,50) $(14,301,50)  $(28,603,00)
(7,352,02)) (7,352,02)  (14,704,05)
11,727,98 11,727,98 23,455,96
(9,925,54)) (9,925,54)  (19,851,09)
(33,020,03)  (33,020,03)  (66,040,06)
40,654,58 40,654,58 81,309,16
(2,291,000 (2,291,001 (4,582,001
(47,602,27)  (47,602,27)  (95,204,54)
47,280,30 47,280,30 94,560,61
$ (2,612,96) $ (2,612,96) $ (5,225,93)
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership
Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
Operating activities
Net income $ 94,560,61  $81,309,16 $ 23,455,96
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 14,474,00 14,267,12 14,070,58
Amortization 80,14¢ 80,14¢ 80,14¢
Loss on disposal of asse 282,06 164,43! 289,88
Accretion of discount on shi-term investment (328,49)) — —
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Receivable from Oxy Vinyls, Ll (717,18) 245,96: (3,834,08)
Receivables from partne 3,633,36. (9,507,35) (2,040,479
Inventories 462,76: 41,12 371,75¢
Amounts payable to partne 2,715,701 1,405,971 (746,227
Prepaid expenses and other current a (169,169 (175,229 (156,65’
Net cash provided by operating activit 114,993,80 87,831,34 31,490,88
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant, and equipn (8,043,51) (9,645,15) (4,588,32)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equifi 70,25¢ 62,77¢ —
Purchase of shc-term investment (22,697,27) — —
Proceeds from maturity of sh-term investment 23,025,76 — —
Net cash used in investing activiti (7,644,761 (9,582,371 (4,588,32)
Financing activities
Cash distributions to partne (95,204,54) (66,040,06) (14,704,05)
Principal payments on lo-term debi (12,187,50) (12,187,50) (12,187,50)
Net cash used in financing activiti (107,392,04) (78,227,56) (26,891,55)
Net (decrease) increase in ci (43,019 21,40 11,00¢
Cash at beginning of ye 44,01 22,60¢ 11,60(
Cash at end of ye: $ 1,00 $ 44,01 $ 22,60¢

See accompanying notes.
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2006 and 2005

1. Organization

SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership (the Partnershigs formed on August 23, 1996 under a Partnersbieément, between 1997 Chlor Alkali
Venture, Inc. and Olin SunBelt Inc. (the Partnet§97 Chlor Alkali Venture, Inc. is a wholly ownsdbsidiary of PolyOne Corporation
(formerly The Geon Company) and Olin SunBelt Isca iwholly owned subsidiary of the Olin Corporati&ach of the Partners has a 50%
interest in the Partnership. The Partnership Agesgmprovides that the capital investment of therfeas will be maintained and the
Partnership’s income or loss will be allocatedhe Partners based on their ownership interest pexges.

The Partnership was formed for the purpose of coasbn and operation of a Chlor-Alkali facility h€ facility, which is located in Mcintosh,
Alabama produces chlorine, caustic soda, and hyurog

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalent
The Partnership considers all highly liquid investits purchased with an original maturity of threenths or less to be cash equivalents.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or reair€ost is determined by the first-in, first-obtRO) method.

Short-term Investments

The Partnership invests in short-term investmeritis @riginal maturities greater than three monfftsese types of securities are classified as
held-to-maturity when the Partnership has the p@sihtent and ability to hold the securities totardy. There were no short-term investments
held by the Partnership as of December 31, 200626608.
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, Plant, and Equipment and Depreciation

Property, plant, and equipment are carried at ddajor renewals and betterments are capitalizednfdaance and repair expenditures which
do not improve or extend the life of the respectigsets are expensed as incurred. Depreciatiail folant and equipment is computed using
the straight-line method over their estimated udefes. The ranges of estimated useful lives aréodows:

Land improvement 20 year
Buildings 20 year
Machinery and equipmel 5-20 year

Long-lived assets are assessed for impairment wherating profits for the related business or aifigant change in the use of an asset
indicate that their carrying value may not be rexable.

Deferred Financing Costs

The costs incurred by the Partnership in obtaiitsigpng-term debt have been capitalized and airegkeamortized over the term of the debt
using the effective interest method.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of long-term debt approximétefair value. The fair value of the debt is estted based on the present value of the
underlying cash flow discounted at the Partnershgstimated borrowing rate.

Revenue Recognition
The Partnership recognizes revenues at the popaggfage of title which is based on shipping terms.

Shipping and Handling Costs
Shipping and handling costs are reflected in coktales.
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Income Taxes
No provision is made for income taxes as the Pestig’'s results of operations are includable in thertarns of the Partners.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethie United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the rioeported in the financial statements and tkerapanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Risks and Uncertainties

Since the Partnership’s major products are comnesgisignificant changes in the prices of chemicatucts could have a significant impact
on the results of operations for any particulaiqeerThe Partnership had one major chlorine custp@ey Vinyls LP, during the periods
presented, which accounted for 39.9%, 45.7%, an@Pb®f total sales for the years ended Decembe2@®16, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

3. Inventories
Inventories are comprised as follows:

December 31

2006 2005
Finished good $ 244500 $ 619,11
Parts 1,362,63 1,450,77!

$1,607,13 $2,069,89i
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

4. Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are comprised &siol

December 31
2006 2005
Land and land improvemer $ 4,862,820 $ 4,862,82
Building 3,869,38! 3,869,38
Machinery and equipme! 213,997,06 209,229,63
Construction in proces 5,217,47. 3,734,36!
227,946,75 221,696,21
Less allowance for depreciatis 115,163,63 102,130,28

$112,783,12  $119,565,93

5. Transactions With Affiliates

The Partnership has various management serviceragres, dated August 23, 1996, with the Olin Cafon. These agreements, which
include compensation for managing the facility aaset utilization fee, a fleet fee, and a distithufee, have terms from five to ten years with
five year price adjustment renewals. Charges feselservices were approximately $7,815,034, $A331and $7,199,412 for 2006, 2005,
2004, respectively, and have been included witbmiaistrative and general expenses in the stateofesfierations. The cash policy was
changed during 2003 to not make distributions @Rhrtners until the cash balance was sufficienbt@r both the principal payment and the
interest expense for the year. Contributions fromRartners were discontinued with this policy gfeaand the manufacturing costs were paid
from receipts. The Partnership made distributianisst Partners totaling $95,204,548, $66,040,066,%14,704,058 in 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively.

In accordance with the Partnership Operating Agegnthe majority of chlorine produced by the Parship is sold to Oxy Vinyls LP, which
is 24% owned by PolyOne Corporation. The remaimwinigrine and all of the caustic soda produced byRartnership is marketed and
distributed by the Olin Corporation.
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

6. Long-Term Debt

On December 23, 1997, the Partnership borrowed 809300 in a private placement of debt. The debetured by the property, plant,
equipment, and inventory of the Partnership. The taf the loan is 20 years at an interest rate 28%. The first principal payment of
$12,187,500 was paid on December 22, 2002 withleqraual payments due through December 22, 2018rest payments are payable semi-
annually in arrears on each June 22 and Decembént2Pest payments totaled $10,573,875, $11,43583d $12,336,188 in 2006, 2005, and
2004, respectively. The debt is guaranteed by érers.

7. Leases

The Partnership has operating leases for certaipepty, machinery, and equipment. At December B0g2future minimum lease payments
under noncancelable operating leases are as follows

2007 $ 2,001,971
2008 1,719,03i
2009 1,688,07!
2010 1,688,071
2011 1,688,07!
Thereaftel 6,789,17!
Total minimum future lease paymel $15,574,41

Rent expense was approximately $2,150,485, $7228685$599,720 for the years ended December 35, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Partnership is subject to legal proceedingscéaiths that arise in the ordinary course of itsibess. Management evaluates each clain
provides for any potential loss when the claimrisbhable to be paid and reasonably estimable. llopiron of management, the ultimate
liability with respect to these actions will not teaally affect the financial condition, results @ferations or cash flows of the Partnership.
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Exhibit 10(k)

OLIN CORPORATION
AMENDED AND RESTATED
1997 STOCK PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

(As Amended Effective December 7, 2006)

1. Purpose. The purpose of the Olin Corporatior719®ck Plan for Non-employee Directors the (“P)ar"to promote the long-term
growth and financial success of Olin Corporatioraltyacting and retaining non-employee directorsuistanding ability and by promoting a
greater identity of interest between its non-empé#girectors and its shareholders.

2. Definitions. The following capitalized termslizied herein have the following meanings:

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company

“Cash Account” means an account established uhgelPtan for a Non-employee Director to which cagetimg fees, Board
Chairman fees, Lead Director Fees, Committee Ghas and retainers, or other amounts under the Réeve been or are to be credite
the form of cash.

“Change in Control” means the occurrence of antheffollowing events:

(a) any person or Group acquires ownership of ®latock that, together with stock held by suchgres Group, constitutes more
than 50% of the total fair market value or totaling power of Olin’s stock, (including an incredsehe percentage of stock owned by
any person or Group as a result of a transactievhich Olin acquires its stock in exchange for gy, provided that the acquisition of
additional stock by any person or Group deemeduo imore than 50% of the total fair market valuéatal voting power of Olin’s stock
on January 1, 2005, shall not constitute a Cham@oitrol); or

(b) any person or Group acquires (or has acquiveithgl the 12-month period ending on the date oflest recent acquisition by
such person or Group) ownership of Olin stock pssisg 35% or more of the total voting power of Gifnck; or

(c) a majority of the members of Olin’s board afeditors is replaced during any 12-month period ibgotbrs whose appointment or
election is not endorsed by a majority of the memalog Olin’s board of directors prior to the dafetee appointment or election; or

(d) any person or Group acquires (or has acquivethgl the 1-month perioc



ending on the date of the most recent acquisitioauzh person or Group) assets from Olin that lzatedal Gross Fair Market Value
equal to 40% or more of the total Gross Fair Makkaiue of all Olin assets immediately prior to s@alguisition or acquisitions, provid
that there is no Change in Control when Olin’s tssaee transferred to:

(i) a shareholder of Olin (immediately before tlsset transfer) in exchange for or with respectito &ock;
(i) an entity, 50% or more of the total value ating power of which is owned, directly or indirgctby Olin;

(iii) a person or Group that owns, directly or ireditly, 50% or more of the total value or votingygo of all outstanding Olin stock;
or

(iv) an entity, at least 50% of the total valuesoting power of which is owned, directly or inditgg by a person described in
paragraph (iii).

For purposes of this paragraph (d) a person’sstatdetermined immediately after the transfehefassets. For example, a transfer to a
corporation in which Olin has no ownership intetasfiore the transaction, but which is a majorityred subsidiary of Olin after the
transaction is not a Change in Control.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 198&n@nded from time to time.
“Committee” means the Compensation Committee fosliccessor) of the Board.
“Common Stock” means the Company’s Common Stocl@&fpar value per share.
“Company” means Olin Corporation, a Virginia corgiion, and any successor.

“Credit Date” means the second Thursday in Februday, August and November and one week afteregelarly scheduled
board meeting in December or, in the event the Bédee board meeting extends for more than one deyweek after the first day of
such regularly scheduled board meeting held in Bbee.

“Disability” means the Non-Employee Director:

(a) is unable to engage in any substantial gaaugtiVity by reason of any medically determinablggibal or mental impairment
which can be expected to result in death or caexpected to last for a continuous period of nat tean 12 months, or

(b) is, by reason of any medically determinablegitsl or mental impairment which can be expectesalt in death or can be
expected to last for a continuous period



of not less than 12 months, receiving income reptant benefits for a period of not less than 3 m®onder an accident and health plan
from the Non-Employee Director’'s employer.

“Excess Retainer” means with respect to a Non-eypgadirector the amount of the full annual cashinetr payable to such Non-
employee Director from time to time by the Compé#myservice as a director in excess of $25,008nyf; provided that in the event the
annual cash retainer is prorated to reflect thel $ton-employee Director did not serve as sucliferfull calendar year, the $25,000
shall be similarly prorated.

“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to a datea per share basis, with respect to phantom slsdi@ommon Stock or Spin-
Off Company Common Stock, the average of the highthe low price of a share of Common Stock or SpihCompany Common
Stock, as the case may be, as reported on thelwaied tape of the New York Stock Exchange on datl or if the New York Stock
Exchange is closed on such date, the next sucagddbe on which it is open.

“Gross Fair Market Value” means the value of asdetermined without regard to any liabilities asated with such assets.

“Group” means persons acting together for the purposequiiieg Olin stock and includes owners of a corgiorathat enters into
merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisitiont@tls or similar business transaction with Olinalperson owns stock in both Olin and
another corporation that enter into a merger, cidestion purchase or acquisition of stock, or santiransaction, such person is
considered to be part of a Group only with resp@ctwnership prior to the merger or other transectjiving rise to the change and not
with respect to the ownership interest in the otlmeporation. Persons will not be considered tadieng as a Group solely because they
purchase assets of the same corporation at thetsameor as a result of the same public offering.

“Interest Rate” effective as of January 1, 2005angethe rate of interest equal to the Federal Reget/P1 Composite rate for 90
day commercial paper plus 10 basis points, or stitlr specified, non-discretionary interest ratefdomula describing such rate)
established by the Committee on a prospective basis

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Adi9#4, as amended from time to time.
“Non-employee Director” means a member of the Baand is not an employee of the Company or any slignsi thereof.
“Olin Stock Account” means the Stock Account to efhphantom shares of Common Stock are credited fimmto time.
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“Plan” means this Olin Corporation 1997 Stock FianNon-employee Directors as amended from timinte.

“Prior Plans” means the 1994 Plan and all of thep@ration’s other directors’ compensation plansgpams, or arrangements
which provided for a deferred cash or stock account

“Retirement Date” means the date the Nonployee Director (i) ceases to be a member oBtad for any reason and (ii) effect
as of January 1, 2005, has experienced a “sepairfatinn service” as that term is used in Code Sacti@9A.

“Spin-Off Company” means Arch Chemicals, Inc., agiiia corporation and any successor.
“Spin-Off Company Common Stock” means shares ofroomstock of the Spin-Off Company, par value $Jp60share.

“Spin-Off Company Stock Account” means the Stoclkcéunt to which phantom shares of Spin-Off Compaoyn@on Stock are
credited.

“Stock Account” means an account established utigePlan for a Non-employee Director to which skarfeCommon Stock and
Spin-Off Company Common Stock have been or are@torédited in the form of phantom stock, which kimallude the Olin Stock
Account and the Spin-Off Company Stock Account.

3. Term. The Plan originally became effective Janda 1997, and was last amended and restatedieéfexs of December 9, 2005. The
Plan is Amended and Restated as of January 27, 2R06épt as otherwise provided for herein. Notw#&hding the foregoing, those provisions
required for compliance with Code Section 409A kbalgenerally effective as of January 1, 2005sootherwise specifically set forth herein.

4. Administration. Full power and authority to ctmg, interpret and administer the Plan shall stackin the Committee. Decisions of
the Committee shall be final, conclusive and bigdipon all parties.

5. Participation. All Non-employee Directors shadlrticipate in the Plan.
6. Grants and Deferrals.

(a) Annual Stock Grant. Subject to the terms amitltimns of the Plan, on the first Credit Date egehr, each Non-employee
Director shall be credited with a number of share§ommon Stock with an aggregate Fair Market Valnesuch Credit Date equal to $50,0
rounded to the nearest 100 shares. To be entitleddh credit in any calendar year, a Non-empld@jiesctor must be serving as such on
January 1 of such year; provided, however, th#tiénevent a person becomes a Non-employee Dirsgbmequent to January 1 of a

4



calendar year, such Non-employee Director, on ttegli€Date next following his or her becoming susimall be credited with that number of
shares of Common Stock equal to one-twelfth ofnilnber of shares issued to each other Non-empbireetor as the Annual Stock Grant
for such year, multiplied by the number of wholéeaaar months remaining in such calendar yearvioiig the date he or she becomes a Non-
employee Director (rounded up to the next wholeesirathe event of a fractional share). Actual ngicef shares shall be deferred and each
eligible Non-employee Director shall receive a d@r&alhis or her Olin Stock Account for such shaseghe date of such credit. A Non-
employee Director may elect in accordance with iSed@(f) to defer to his or her Olin Stock Accouateipt of all or any portion of such she
after such Non-employee Director’'s Retirement DBRtecept with respect to any shares the directosbadected to defer, certificates
representing such shares shall be delivered tblttmeemployee Director (or in the event of deathitoor her beneficiary designated pursuant
to Section 6(i)) as soon as practicable followingtsNon-employee Director’'s Retirement Date.

(b) Annual Retainer Stock Grant. Subject to thenteand conditions of the Plan, each Non-employeeciir who is such on
January 1 of that year shall receive that numbehafes (rounded up to the next whole share) off@@mStock having an aggregate Fair
Market Value of $25,000 on the first Credit Datesirch year. In the event a person becomes in adaigear a Non-employee Director
subsequent to January 1 and has not received thmkbstock retainer for such calendar year, suckope on the Credit Date next following his
or her becoming such, shall receive that numbshafes of Common Stock equal to one-twelfth ofnilnaber of shares issued to each other
Non-employee Director as the Annual Retainer Stock Gi@rsuch year, multiplied by the number of whoddendar months remaining in st
calendar year following the date he or she becardsn-employee Director (rounded up to the nextle/sbare in the event of a fractional
share). The annual cash retainer payable to thedigrioyee Director shall be payable on the firgditrDate of each year, and shall be
reduced by the aggregate Fair Market Value of ttages the Non-employee Director receives or defethe Annual Retainer Stock Grant
(excluding any rounding of fractional shares) om dlate such Fair Market Value is calculated. A iarployee Director may elect to defer
receipt of all or any portion of such shares inoadance with Section 6(f). Except with respectrg shares the director has so elected to defer,
certificates representing such shares shall beateli to such Non-employee Director (or in the ¢wémleath, to his or her beneficiary
designated pursuant to Section 6(i)) as soon adipable following the applicable Credit Date.

(c) One-time Stock Grant. Subject to the termsa@mitions of the Plan, receipt of all shares dh@tock credited under the one-
time grants to certain Non-employee Directors thatCompany made as of January 15, 1997, shakteerdd. Such Non-employee Directors
may elect in accordance with Section 6(f) to deéeeipt of all or any portion of such shares t@gedr dates following such Non-employee
Director’s Retirement Date. Except with respecany shares so deferred, certificates representicly shares shall be delivered to such Non-
employee Directors (or in the event of death, sdriher beneficiary designated pursuant to Seéfphas soon as practicable following his or
her Retirement Date.



(d) Payment of Meeting Fees, Chairman of the Béa&el, Lead Director Fees, Committee Chair Fee&aoelss Retainer and
Election to Receive Fees in Stock in Lieu of C&hsh payments of meeting fees shall be made dirsh€redit Date following the meeting
date, cash payments of Committee Chair fees shatidde on the second Credit Date of each yeamastdpayments of Chairman of the
Board fees and Lead Director fees shall be madi@uiinequal payments on the first four Credit Datésach year. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the Plan, a Nagmployee Director may elect to receive all or diparof the director meeting fees, fees as Chairofahe Board
fees as Lead Director, fees as a Committee ChéditlenExcess Retainer payable in cash by the Coyrpatis or her service as a director for
the calendar year in the form of shares of Commntooks Such election shall be made in accordande 8iction 6(f). A Non-employee
Director who so elects to receive all or a portdthe Excess Retainer or other fees in the forshafes for such year shall be paid on the
Credit Date on which the cash portion of the Exd¢@stainer or the other fees, as the case may hddwave been paid. The number of shares
(rounded up to the next whole share in the eveatfodictional share) payable to a Non-employeeddarevho so elects to receive the Excess
Retainer or meeting fees, Board Chairman fees, Deagttor fees or Committee Chair fees in the fafnshares shall be equal to the aggregate
Fair Market Value on the relevant Credit Date. Eptagith respect to any shares the director hagedlgo defer in accordance with Section 6
(f), certificates representing such shares shatldli@ered to the Non-employee Director as sooprasticable following the applicable Credit
Date.

(e) Deferral of Meeting Fees, Chairman of the Bd&eds, Lead Director Fees, Committee Chair Feeg€aoess Retainer. Subject
to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a Non-egg® Director may elect to defer all or a portiéthe shares payable under Section 6(d) and
all or a portion of the director meeting fees, faeChairman of the Board, fees as Lead Direates &s a Committee Chair and Excess
Retainer payable in cash by the Company for hiseorservice as a director for the calendar yearh ®lection shall be made in accordance
with Section 6(f). A Non-employee Director who dketo so defer shall have any deferred sharesréeféar the form of shares of Common
Stock and any deferred cash fees and retainerrddfar the form of cash.

(f) Elections.

(1) Deferrals. Effective as of January 1, 2005e#dttions to defer payment of compensation urfderRlan shall:

* be made in writing and delivered to the Secretéthe® Company
* Dbe irrevocable once the year to which the eleatéaites commence

* be made before January 1 of the year in which hlaees of Common Stock or director’s fees and retedne to be earned
(or, in the case of an individual who becomes a-Bmployee Director during a calendar year, priagthtdate of his or
her election as a direct

» specify the portions (in 25% increments) to be defik
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(2) Stock and Cash Account Payments. Effectivef dsuiouary 1, 2005, Stock and Cash Accounts shalbimkin a single lump sum
payment within 30 days of the Non-employee Dirést®etirement Date unless the Non-employee Direttakes an election as set forth
below:

* apayment election, if any, shall be made on oofieethe earlier of
» the time such individual makes any deferral electioder the Plan, (
» the end of the 30 day period following the datératividual first becomes a N-employee Directo

» apayment election may specify a payment date (mamdtl year), provided such date is after the-employee Directcs
Retirement Dat

* apayment election may specify the method of payrfilemp sum or annual installments (up to 1

» notwithstanding any election, Plan payments wilhieede (or annual installments will begin) upon a-employee
Director's deatt

» payments shall be made (or annual installments sbaimence) within 30 days of the prescribed payrdate
» any payment election shall be irrevocable excepessitted in Section 6(f)(4) belo

(3) Dividends and Interest on Stock and Cash Actouividends and interest on Stock and Cash Adsosimall be paid currently
unless the Non-employee Director makes an elettidvave such amounts credited back to the apptepa@count (and shall be payable
in accordance with Sections 6(f)(2) and (4) hergindvided that such election is made within theetiprescribed by Section 6(f)(2) ab
(including the transition payment elections of &&t6(f)(4).

(4) Change in Payment Election. Any change witlpeesto a Non-employee Director’'s payment electinder the Plan will not be
effective for one year, must be made at least dhgdar in advance of the first date payment idaked and must further defer all
payments by at least five (5) years from the psreduled payment date. Notwithstanding the foregdor the transition period
beginning January 1, 2005 and ending December(I/,2any Non-employee Director may make a paymlectien in accordance with
Code Section 409A (and applicable IRS transitidiefje in the time and manner prescribed by the @uttee and subject to the followil
provisions. As of December 31, 2007, any then &ffedransition payment elections shall be irrexmedor the duration of a Non-
employee Director’s participation in the Plan excepset forth in the first sentence of this Sec€f)(4). No election made in 2006
under this transition relief will apply to amounitst would otherwise be payable in 2006, nor maylection cause an amount to be
paid in 2006 that would not otherwise be payabl2d@6. No election made in 2007 under this tramisitelief will apply to amounts that
would otherwise be payable in 2007, nor may suebtigln cause an amount to be paid in 2007 thatdvoot otherwise be payable in
2007. No election under this transition relief nimymade retroactively, when Plan payments are imntjror after a Non-employee
Director has left the Board.”



(5) Olin Stock Account. On the Credit Date (orlie ttase of a proration, on the first day of therapate calendar month), a Non-
employee Director who has elected to defer sharderuSections 6(b) or 6(e) shall receive a crediti$ or her Olin Stock Account. The
amount of such credit shall be the number of shewedeferred (rounded to the next whole sharedrettent of a fractional share). A Non-
employee Director may elect to defer the cash divits paid on his or her Stock Account in accordavitte Section 6(f)(3).

(6) Cash Account. On the Credit Date or in the cdtbe Excess Retainer, on the day on which the-8laployee Director is
entitled to receive such Excess Retainer, a Nonlerap Director who has elected to defer cash fedfathe Excess Retainer under
Section 6(e) in the form of cash shall receiveedlitrito his or her Cash Account. The amount ofctteglit shall be the dollar amount of
such Director’'s meeting fees, Board Chairman feead Director fees or Committee Chair fees earngihd the immediately preceding
guarterly period or the amount of the Excess Retdimbe paid for the calendar year, as the cagebmaand in each case, specified for
deferral in cash. A Non-employee Director may eteadefer interest paid on his or her Cash Accauatcordance with Section 6(f)(3).

(7) Installment Payments. Installment payments fesmAccount shall be equal to the Account balaegpressed in shares in the
case of the Stock Account, otherwise the cash wvafitiee Account) at the time of the installment eyt times a fraction, the numerator
of which is one and the denominator of which isrbenber of installments not yet paid. Fractionalrsls to be paid in any installment
shall be rounded up to the next whole share. Iretlemt of an election under Section 6(d) for doeabeeting fees, Board Chairman fees,
Lead Director fees, Committee Chair fees or Exé&miner to be paid in shares of Common Stockekbetion shall specify the portion
(in 25% increments) to be so paid.

(8) Dividends and Interest. Each time a cash divids paid on Common Stock or Spin-Off Company Camr8tock, a Non-
employee Director who has shares of such stockterktb his or her Stock Account shall be paidlwadividend payment date such cash
dividend in an amount equal to the product of thmber of shares credited to the Non-employee QirexOlin Stock Account or Spin-
Off Company Stock Account, as the case may behemecord date for such dividend times the divideaid per applicable share unless
the director has elected to defer such dividertig®r her applicable Stock Account as providectimedf the Non-employee Director has
elected to defer such dividend, he or she shadliveca credit for such dividends on the dividengrpent date to his or her Olin Stock
Account or Spin-Off Company Stock Account, as tagsecmay be. The amount of the dividend credit dteathe number of shares
(rounded to the nearest one-thousandth of a sHate)mined by multiplying the dividend amount pleare by the number of shares
credited to such director’s applicable



Stock Account as of the record date for the dividand dividing the product by the Fair Market Vaper share of Common Stock or
Spin-Off Company Common Stock, as the case magrb#e dividend payment date. A Non-employee Dineatho has a Cash Account
shall be paid interest directly on such accourdlaubce at the end of each calendar quarter, pagableate equal to the Interest Rate in
effect for such quarter unless such N@mmployee Director has elected to defer such intéodsis or her Cash Account, in which case
interest shall be credited to such Cash Accoutiteaend of each calendar quarter.

(9) Payouts. Cash Accounts and the SpfhCompany Stock Account will be paid out in castd Olin Stock Accounts shall be p
out in shares of Common Stock unless the Non-enegl®jirector elects at the time the payment is duake the Olin Stock Account in
cash. Cash amounts and certificates representargsieredited to the Olin Stock Account shall bievdeed to the Non-employee
Director as soon as practicable following the texattion of the deferral and consistent therewith.

(9) No Stock Rights. Except as expressly provideetim, the deferral of shares of Common Stock an-§ff Company Common
Stock into a Stock Account shall confer no rightemni such Non-employee Director, as a shareholddgreo€ompany or of the Spin-Off
Company or otherwise, with respect to the sharsihesuch Stock Account, but shall confer only thght to receive such shares credited as
and when provided herein.

(h) Change in Control. Notwithstanding anythingtte contrary in this Plan or any election, in trerg a Change in Control occu
amounts and shares credited to Cash Accounts @iimgjunterest accrued to the date of payout) andkSfccounts shall be promptly
distributed to Non-employee Directors except thim Gtock Account shall be paid out in cash andim¢ihe form of shares of Common Stock.
For this purpose, the cash value of the amourtérStock Account shall be determined by multiplying number of shares held in the Olin
Stock Account or the Spin-Off Company Stock Accdoypthe higher of (i) the highest Fair Market VahfeCommon Stock or Spin-Off
Company Common Stock, as appropriate, on any digténvthe period commencing 30 days prior to sutlai@e in Control and ending on the
date of the Change in Control, or (ii) if the Charig Control occurs as a result of a tender or axgk offer or consummation of a corporate
transaction, then the highest price paid per sbB@mmon Stock or Spin-Off Company Common Stoskajgpropriate, pursuant thereto.

(i) Beneficiaries. A Non-employee Director may dgsite at any time and from time to time a benafiyciar his or her Stock and
Cash Accounts in the event his or her Stock or @astiount may be paid out following his or her de&hch designation shall be in writing
and must be received by the Company prior to tla¢hd® be effective.

(j) Prior Plan Accounts. Any transfers made to alCAccount or a Stock Account from Prior Plans ldb@lmaintained and
administered pursuant to the terms and conditidtisi® Plan; provided that prior annual 100- or Zare grant deferrals shall be treated as
deferrals of 204-share grants under this Plan$#%000 annual share grant under the 1994 Plahtshaieated as deferrals under Paragraph 6
(b) hereof and deferrals of meeting fees



under all Prior Plans and of the Excess Retaindeuthe 1994 Plan shall be treated as deferraleruparagraph 6(d) hereof. Prior elections
beneficiary designations under the 1994 Plan aisdPan shall govern this Plan unless changed suies¢ to October 2, 1997.

(k) Stock Account Transfers. A Non-Employee Direatay elect from time to time to transfer all gpartion (in 25% increments)
of his or her Spin-Off Company Stock Account to iisher Olin Stock Account. The amount of phantdrares of Common Stock to be
credited to a Non-Employee Director’s Olin StockcAant shall be equal to the number of shares ofrf@omStock that could be purchased if
the number of phantom shares of Spin-Off Company@on Stock in his or her Spidff Company Stock Account being transferred weild
and the proceeds reinvested in Common Stock baséted-air Market Value of each. Except as provide8ection 6(f)(8) with respect to
dividends or in Section 8, no additional contribas or additions may be made to a Non-EmployeecRirs Spin-Off Company Stock
Account after the Distribution Date.

7. Limitations and Conditions.

(a) Total Number of Shares. The total number ofehaf Common Stock that may be issued to Non-eyegl®irectors under the
Plan is 550,000, which may be increased or dectdapéhe events set forth in Section 8. Such totahber of shares may consist, in whole or
in part, of authorized but unissued shares. Ifstrres granted under this Plan are not deliveradNon-employee Director or a beneficiary
because the payout of the grant is settled in st shares shall not be deemed to have beergifor purposes of determining the
maximum number of shares available for deliveryarrttie Plan. No fractional shares shall be iss@edumnder. In the event a Non-employee
Director is entitled to a fractional share, sucarsramount shall be rounded upward to the nexteviiohre amount.

(b) No Additional Rights. Nothing contained hershmall be deemed to create a right in any Non-engadirector to remain a
member of the Board, to be hominated for reeleatioto be reelected as such or, after ceasing suble a member, to receive any cash or
shares of Common Stock under the Plan which aralresdy credited to his or her accounts.

8. Stock Adjustments. In the event of any mergensolidation, stock or other non-cash dividendraoddinary cash dividend, split-up,
spin-off, combination or exchange of shares orpiahzation or change in capitalization, or anfi@tsimilar corporate event, the Committee
may make such adjustments in (i) the aggregate auonftshares of Common Stock that may be issuednthd Plan as set forth in Section 7
(a) and the number of shares that may be issuad\tn-employee Director with respect to any yeasetdorth in Section 6(a) and the number
of shares of Olin Common Stock or Spin-Off Comp&ommon Stock, as the case may be, held in a Stockukt, (ii) the class of shares that
may be issued under the Plan and (iii) the amoundtype of payment that may be made in respechpéid dividends on shares of Spin-Off
Company Common Stock or Common Stock whose rebagpbeen deferred pursuant to Section 6(f), a€timemittee shall deem appropriate
in the circumstances. The determination by the Citteenas to the terms of any of the foregoing adjesits shall be final, conclusive and
binding for all purposes of the Plan.
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9. Amendment and Termination. This Plan may be aleénsuspended or terminated by action of the Baxakpt to the extent that
amendments are required to be approved by the Qoyispshareholders under applicable law or the rafabe New York Stock Exchange or
any other exchange or market system on which threr@an Stock is listed or traded. No terminationtef Plan shall adversely affect the rights
of any Non-employee Director with respect to anyants otherwise payable or credited to his or heshCAccount or Stock Account.

10. Nonassignability. No right to receive any pantsaunder the Plan or any amounts credited to aéfoployee Director’'s Cash or
Stock Account shall be assignable or transferaplguch Non-employee Director other than by wiltloe laws of descent and distribution or
pursuant to a domestic relations order. The detmmaf a beneficiary under Section 6(i) by a Nonpdoyee Director does not constitute a
transfer.

11. Unsecured Obligation. Benefits payable undisrRhan shall be an unsecured obligation of the @amyg.

12. Rule 16b-3 Compliance. It is the intentionled Company that all transactions under the Plaaxbenpt from liability imposed by
Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act. Therefore, if tlansaction under the Plan is found not to beoimpliance with an exemption from such
Section 16(b), the provision of the Plan goverrsogh transaction shall be deemed amended so thattisaction does so comply and is so
exempt, to the extent permitted by law and deendeisable by the Committee, and in all events tteBhall be construed in favor of its
meeting the requirements of an exemption. SchedRil@d payments will be delayed where the Commigasonably anticipates that the
making of the payment will violate Federal secastiaws or other applicable law; provided that queyment shall be made at the earliest date
at which the Committee reasonably anticipatesttimtmaking of the payment will not cause such viota

13. Code Section 409A Compliance. To the extentmayision of the Plan or action by the Board om@aittee would subject any
Employee to liability for interest or additionakes under Code Section 409A(a)(1)(B), it will beneed null and void, to the extent permitted
by law and deemed advisable by the Committee.iftténded that the Plan will comply with Code Sectt09A, and the Plan shall be
interpreted and construed on a basis consistehtswith intent. The Plan may be amended in any cedpemed necessary (including
retroactively) by the Committee in order to presecompliance with Code Section 409A. If, regardigfisthe foregoing, any Non-employee
Director is liable for interest or additional tax@sder Code Section 409A(a)(1)(B) with respectisodn her Account (or a portion thereof), st
Account (or applicable portion thereof) shall bédpa such time. The preceding shall not be coestias a guarantee of any particular tax e
for any benefits or amounts deferred or paid odteurthe Plan.
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Exhibit 12

OLIN CORPORATION AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(In millions)
(Unaudited)
Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Earnings:
Income (loss) before taxes and cumulative effeetogbunting chang $201.« $225.€ $79.2 $4C $(26.5)
Add (deduct).
Equity in income of na-consolidated affiliate (46.00 (38.5) (10.1) (7.8 —
Dividends received from ni-consolidated affiliate — (A5 — — —
Amortization of capitalized intere 0.2 0.2 0.3 — —
Capitalized interes — (0.3 — — —
Fixed charges as described be 30.8 29.€ 29.5 31.C 36.1
Total $185.¢ $217.1 $98.c $27.z $ 9.6
Fixed Charges
Interest expensed and capitali: $ 20 $20z $20.z $20.z $25.¢
Estimated interest factor in rent expense 10.C 9.4 9.3 10.¢ 10.t
Total $ 305 $29.€ $29.5 $31.C $36.1
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 6.1 7.3 3.4 — —

(1) Amounts represent those portions of rent experedeatie reasonable approximations of interest ¢
(2) Income (loss) before taxes and cumulative effeetocobunting change was insufficient to cover figbdrges by approximately $3.8 ¢
$26.5 for the years ended December 31, 2003 an#l, 28€pectively



SUBSIDIARIES OF OLIN CORPORATION 1

(as of December 31, 2006)

Exhibit 21

Company % Ownership Jurisdiction
(Direct/Indirect)

A.J. Oster Caribe, In 100 DE

A.J. Oster Co? 100 DE

A.J. Oster Foils, Inc 100 DE

A.J. Oster West, Inc 100 RI

Bridgeport Brass Corporaticn 100 IN

Bryan Metals, Inc? 100 OH

Chase Industries In 100 DE

Chase Brass & Copper Company, Ihc. 100 DE

Hunt Trading Co 100 MO

LTC Reserve Corp. 100 DE

Monarch Brass & Copper Cor 100 NY

Monarch Brass & Copper of New England Cdrp. 100 RI

New Haven Copper Compa® 100 CT

Olin Benefits Management, In 100 CA

Olin Engineered Systems, Ir 100 DE

Olin Environmental Management, Inc. 90 DE

Olin Far East, Limitec 100 DE

Olin Financial Services In 100 DE

Olin Sunbelt, Inc 100 DE

Ravenna Arsenal, In 100 OH

Sunbelt Chlor Alkali Partnersh 50 DE

Waterbury Rolling Mills, Inc® 100 CT

Nutmeg Insurance Limite 100 Bermuda

Olin Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd 100 Singapore

Olin Australia Limited 100 Australia

Olin Brass Japan, In 100 Japar

Olin Canada Inc 100 Canade

Olin Fabricated Products (GZ) Co., Lid. 100 Hong Kong

Olin Global Services Mexico S.A. de C. 100 Mexico

Olin Hunt Specialty Products S. 100 Italy

Olin Industrial (Hong Kong) Limitel 100 Hong Kong

Olin Luotong Metals (GZ) Co., Lt@. 80 China

Olin Mexico S.A. de C.V 100 Mexico

Olin (UK) Limited 100 United Kingdon

Reductone Brasil Ltd: 100 Brazil

Yamahi-Olin Metal Corporatior 50 Japar

1 Omitted from the following list are the names oftagn subsidiaries which, if considered in the aggte as a single subsidiary, would

constitute a significant subsidial

2 A Delaware partnership that Olin Corporation 08s19% and Olin’'s wholly-owned subsidiary, Olindgimeered Systems, Inc. owns

36.81%

d/b/a“Bryan Metals of Ohi” in NJ.

[o206) B S OV]

Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Olir's wholly-owned subsidiary, Chase Industries |
Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Olir's wholly-owned subsidiary, Monarch Brass & Copper Ci

d/b/a“QOlin Brass, Indianapol’” and“Olin Brass, Indianapolis Facil” in CA, IL, IN, NJ, NC, OH, PA, Rl and T>



Class A shares, all of which are held directlg ardirectly by Olin Corporation, have the rightefect 4 directors. Class B shares, none of
which are held directly or indirectly by Olin Comadion, have the right to elect 1 direct

Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Olir's wholly-owned subsidiary, Olin Industrial (Hong Kong) Lieni

Indirect subsidiary, 80% owned by C's wholly-owned subsidiary, Olin Industrial (Hong Kong) Lieutt



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountinfirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Olinpdaation:

We consent to incorporation by reference in theiftegion Statements No. 333-101027 and No. 33329bn Form S-3, No 333-138238 on
Form S-4, and Nos. 33-28593, 33-00159, 33-5268U0&316, 33-41202, 333-05097, 333-17629, 333-18829;39305, 333-39303, 333-
71693, 333-31098, 333-31096, 333-35818, 333-54388,56690, 333-72244, 333-97759, 333-98193, 333@88%933-110135, 333-110136,
333-124483, 333-127112, and 333-133731 on Fornmofadin Corporation of our reports dated February 2007 with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of Olin Corporationsadidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005thenklated consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flowgéah of the years in the three-year period efEmmber 31, 2006; management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting as of December 31, 2@08&] the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 200Bictv reports appear in the December 31, 2006 amapatt on Form 10-K of Olin
Corporation.

Our reports with respect to the consolidated fimgratatements refers to Olin Corporation’s adaptib the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (Re#i2004), “Share-Based Payment” in 2006, the pimvs of SFAS No. 158,
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensiand Other Postretirement Plans” in 2006, and tbeigions of Financial Accounting
Standards Board’s Interpretation No. 47, “Accougfior Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations’205.

/s KPMG LLP
St. Louis, MO
February 27, 2007



EXHIBIT 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statement Nos. 333-101027 and No:183®29 on Form S-3 of Olin
Corporation; Registration Statement No. 333-138@3%orm S-4 of Olin Corporation; and Registratidgat&ment Nos. 33-28593, 33-00159,
33-52681, 33-40346, 33-41202, 333-05097, 333-17829%;18619, 333-39305, 333-39303, 333-71693, 33®8,1333-31096, 333-35818,
333-54308, 333-56690, 333-72244, 333-97759, 33338333-88990, 333-110135, 333-110136, 333-124383,127112, and 33833731 ol
Form S-8 of Olin Corporation of our report datedimry 19, 2007, with respect to the financialestants of the SunBelt Chlor Alkali
Partnership included in the Annual Report (FormK)®f Olin Corporation for the year ended DecemB&r2006.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLFP

Cleveland, Ohio
February 26, 2007



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Joseph D. Rupp, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16£l0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglarting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggatite reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thamnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohwer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisisability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalwveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2007 /sl Joseph D. Rupp
Joseph D. Rup
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, John E. Fischer, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16£l0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglarting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggatite reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thamnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohwer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisisability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalwveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2007 /sl John E. Fischer
John E. Fische
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 13505ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Olin Coration (the “Company”) on Form 1R-for the period ended December 31, 2006 as filad
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “R&pdrloseph D. Rupp, Chairman, President and {Executive Officer and I, John E.
Fischer, Vice President and Chief Financial OfficEthe Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.tieacl350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, tieadur knowledge: (1) the Report fully complieghathe requirements of Section 13(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) tfiermation contained in the Report fairly presemtsall material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to the Compadydl be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts Staff upon request.

/s/ Joseph D. Rupp
Joseph D. Rup
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off

Dated: February 27, 20(

/s/ John E. Fische
John E. Fische
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic

Dated: February 27, 20(



